## POST-EXERCISE HYPOTENSION: CLINICAL APPLICATIONS AND POTENTIAL MECHANISMS

EDITED BY: Paulo Farinatti, Antonio Crisafulli, Linda Shannon Pescatello, Redha Taiar and Antonio Fernandez PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-077-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-077-0

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## POST-EXERCISE HYPOTENSION: CLINICAL APPLICATIONS AND POTENTIAL MECHANISMS

**Topic Editors:** 

Paulo Farinatti, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
 Antonio Crisafulli, University of Cagliari, Italy
 Linda Shannon Pescatello, University of Connecticut, United States
 Redha Taiar, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France
 Antonio Fernandez, Hartford HealthCare, United States

Disclosure statement: Topic Editor Linda Pescatello is a scientific consultant for Aytu BioScience. All other Topic Editors declare no competing interests with regards to the Research Topic subject.

**Citation:** Farinatti, P., Crisafulli, A., Pescatello, L. S., Taiar, R., Fernandez, A., eds. (2022). Post-Exercise Hypotension: Clinical Applications and Potential Mechanisms. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-077-0

# Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Post-Exercise Hypotension: Clinical Applications and Potential Mechanisms

Paulo Farinatti, Linda S. Pescatello, Antonio Crisafulli, Redha Taiar and Antonio B. Fernandez

07 Post-exercise Hypotension Following a Single Bout of High Intensity Interval Exercise vs. a Single Bout of Moderate Intensity Continuous Exercise in Adults With or Without Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials

Isabela Roque Marçal, Karla Fabiana Goessler, Roselien Buys, Juliano Casonatto, Emmanuel Gomes Ciolac and Véronique A. Cornelissen

- 20 The Effects of Acute Aerobic Exercise on Blood Pressure, Arterial Function, and Heart Rate Variability in Men Living With HIV Juliana Pereira Barros, Tainah de Paula, Mauro Felippe Felix Mediano, Marcus Vinicius dos Santos Rangel, Walace Monteiro, Felipe Amorim da Cunha, Paulo Farinatti and Juliana Pereira Borges
- 34 Sex Differences in Post-exercise Hypotension, Ambulatory Blood Pressure Variability, and Endothelial Function After a Power Training Session in Older Adults

Leandro de Oliveira Carpes, Lucas Betti Domingues, Renato Schimitt, Sandra C. Fuchs, Taha Alhalimi, Hirofumi Tanaka and Rodrigo Ferrari

45 Post-dynamic Resistance Exercise Hypotension: Exploring Individual Responses and Predictors

Rafael Y. Fecchio, Andreia C. C. Queiroz, Raphael Ritti-Dias, Eduardo Caldas Costa and Cláudia L. M. Forjaz

- 53 Post-exercise Hypotension in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease Ferdinando Iellamo, Marco Alfonso Perrone, Giuseppe Caminiti, Maurizio Volterrani and Jacopo M. Legramante
- 60 Effects of Aquatic Exercise in Post-exercise Hypotension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Cristina Oliveira Trindade, Emerson Cruz Oliveira, Daniel Barbosa Coelho, Juliano Casonatto and Lenice Kappes Becker

72 Skeletal Muscle Hyperemia: A Potential Bridge Between Post-exercise Hypotension and Glucose Regulation

Thomas K. Pellinger and Chi-An W. Emhoff

79 Postexercise Hypotension Is Delayed in Men With Obesity and Hypertension

Catherine L. Jarrett, Wesley J. Tucker, Siddhartha S. Angadi and Glenn A. Gaesser

88 Evaluating the Methodological Quality of Postexercise Hypotension Aerobic Exercise Interventions

Christina Day, Yin Wu and Linda S. Pescatello



## **Editorial: Post-Exercise Hypotension: Clinical Applications and Potential Mechanisms**

Paulo Farinatti<sup>1</sup>\*, Linda S. Pescatello<sup>2</sup>, Antonio Crisafulli<sup>3</sup>, Redha Taiar<sup>4</sup> and Antonio B. Fernandez<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Physical Activity and Health Promotion, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, <sup>2</sup>Department of Kinesiology, University of Connecticut, Mansfield, CT, United States, <sup>3</sup>Department of Medical Sciences and Public Health, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, <sup>4</sup>Department of Sport Science, Reims University, Reims, France, <sup>5</sup>Hartford HealthCare, Hartford, CT, United States

Keywords: exercise training, exercise physiology, hypertension, physical activity, health

Editorial on the Research Topic

#### Post-Exercise Hypotension: Clinical Applications and Potential Mechanisms

Professional organizations worldwide recommend exercise training as an essential lifestyle strategy to prevent, treat, and manage elevated blood pressure (BP) (Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee, 2018). Overall, BP reductions of 5–8 mmHg result from exercise training (Day et al.). Additionally, there is evidence that single bouts of exercise can reduce BP compared to control values. This physiological response is termed *postexercise hypotension* (PEH). The known clinical implications of PEH include:

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited and reviewed by: Giuseppe D'Antona, University of Pavia, Italy

\***Correspondence:** Paulo Farinatti paulofarinatti@labsau.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 18 March 2022 Accepted: 29 March 2022 Published: 12 April 2022

#### Citation:

Farinatti P, Pescatello LS, Crisafulli A, Taiar R and Fernandez AB (2022) Editorial: Post-Exercise Hypotension: Clinical Applications and Potential Mechanisms. Front. Physiol. 13:899497. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.899497

- 1) PEH occurs immediately in individuals across all levels of physical fitness (Brito et al., 2018);
- 2) PEH directly correlates with exercise intensity and probably volume (Eicher et al., 2010; Cunha et al., 2016; Fonseca et al., 2018; GjØvaag et al., 2020);
- 3) Those with the highest BP will experience the largest BP reductions (Pescatello et al., 2019);
- 4) PEH can persist for up to 24 h, particularly in individuals with elevated BP reducing the need for antihypertensive pharmacotherapy (Pescatello et al., 2019; Day et al.);
  - 5) PEH correlates with the magnitude of BP reductions resulting from exercise training (Hecksteden et al., 2013; Kleinnibbelink et al., 2020) suggesting chronic BP reductions are largely due to PEH. Moreover, PEH may be an easy-to-use predictor for those who respond to exercise training as antihypertensive lifestyle therapy (Wegmann et al., 2018);
  - 6) PEH can be used as a self-monitoring strategy to increase exercise adherence (Zaleski et al., 2019).

The purpose of this Research Topic is to expand upon the growing list of PEH benefits and to provide new evidence on the clinical applications and mechanisms underlying PEH, including the effects of different exercise modalities in different populations; mechanisms of PEH in individuals with normal/high BP; and factors optimizing the PEH response. Nine articles addressing those questions are included, four of them reviews and five original trials. We summarize their major contributions according to the subject categories.

- Methodological Quality of PEH studies

A potential source of bias in PEH studies is the inter-individual variability of the BP responses. Fecchio et al. addressed this question by investigating the inter-individual variation of BP after

4

acute dynamic resistance exercise. PEH showed considerable inter-individual variation and multivariate analyses revealed a greater importance of exercise volume than intensity to optimise the BP reductions.

Day et al. developed an evaluation checklist for PEH studies (PEH $\sqrt{list}$ ) based upon contemporary methodological quality standards. The PEH $\sqrt{list}$  contains 38 items divided by sample, study, and intervention characteristics. The authors then conducted a systematic review of aerobic exercise PEH studies and applied the PEH $\sqrt{list}$ . Overall, the items were not well satisfied; especially those with potential confounding effects on PEH. The instrument provides methodological guidance for researchers in future PEH studies.

- PEH response in different populations and associated mechanisms

Barros et al. investigated the effects of moderate intensity acute cycling on BP, arterial function, and heart rate variability in men living with HIV (MLHIV) under antiretroviral therapy. Acute exercise induced PEH in healthy controls, but not in MLHIV. The authors attributed the attenuated PEH in MLHIV to a vascular dysfunction limiting vasodilation.

Iellamo et al. investigated PEH along with hemodynamic and arterial baroreflex mechanisms in patients with coronary artery disease and normal BP. Exercise sessions were 30-min bouts of stationary cycling and calisthenics. Systolic BP was reduced for 12 h vs. the non-exercise day, concomitant with a decrease in total peripheral resistance as associated mechanism.

Jarret et al. and coworkers investigated whether obesity modulated PEH after cycling in men with obesity and hypertension. They found the onset of PEH was delayed by an hour or so, however, the magnitude of PEH from 2–4 h postexercise was similar to reports in men without obesity but with hypertension.

The mini-review by Pellinger and Emhoff presented an interesting theoretical approach linking PEH with glucose metabolism. According to the authors, the glucose regulation after exercise might benefit from the sustained postexercise vasodilation often observed in PEH, due to increased macrovascular and microvascular perfusion. This possibility highlights PEH as a desirable effect of regular exercise, particularly in patients with hypertension, diabetes, or metabolic syndrome.

- Effects of different exercise modalities on the PEH

Carpes et al. evaluated the effects of power training vs. a nonexercise control session on PEH, BP variability, and endothelial function among older adults with hypertension. BP reductions

## REFERENCES

Brito, L. C., Fecchio, R. Y., Peçanha, T., Andrade-Lima, A., Halliwill, J. R., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2018). Postexercise Hypotension as a Clinical Tool: a "single brick" in the wall. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 12 (12), e59–e64. doi:10.1016/j.jash. 2018.10.006 occurred in the first 60 min postexercise, particularly in men (-15/-7 mmHg vs. women), but not during the ambulatory assessment. There were no differences between sexes in BP-variability and endothelial function so the mechanism for these sex differences remain unclear.

Trindade et al. performed a meta-analysis comparing the BP changes after a session of water-based exercise *vs.* control conditions (land exercise or rest) in individuals with hypertension. PEH was most pronounced after aquatic exercise over the nighttime hours.

Marçal et al. performed a meta-analysis comparing the effects of high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and moderate-intensity continuous exercise (MICE) on PEH in individuals with normal and elevated BP. Both exercise protocols were effective in lowering office BP (1–2 mmHg; 30–60 min postexercise). PEH was greater after HIIT than MICE in the ambulatory monitoring over the daytime hours by 5.3/1.6 mmHg.

Overall, those studies reinforce the importance of the subject, expand upon current evidence, and indicate directions for future research:

- The quality of PEH studies remains a major concern. The standardization of procedures, the inclusion of control comparisons, and the disclosure of baseline BP levels and methods of BP assessment will allow findings to be more trustworthy;
- 2) Various exercise modalities/protocols elicit PEH. However, confirmation trials investigating these and other modalities/ protocols among a variety of populations (obesity, diabetes, heart disease, children, elderly, and paraplegic, etc.) are warranted;
- The transient effect of acute exercise on BP reinforces that it should be preferably performed daily, but an optimal combination of volume/intensity to induce PEH remains to be determined;
- 4) A reduction in peripheral resistance seems to be a major determinant of PEH. However, research is needed to determine the relative role of central and peripheral mechanisms, and to clarify the interrelationships between hemodynamic and metabolic responses to acute exercise.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

PF and LP drafted the Editorial. AC, RT, and AF critically revised the text and made substantial contributions to the final version.

- Cunha, F., Midgley, A., Pescatello, L., Soares, P., and Farinatti, P. (2016). Acute Hypotensive Response to Continuous and Accumulated Isocaloric Aerobic Bouts. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 37 (11), 855–862. doi:10.1055/s-0042-104197
- Eicher, J. D., Maresh, C. M., Tsongalis, G. J., Thompson, P. D., and Pescatello, L. S. (2010). The Additive Blood Pressure Lowering Effects of Exercise Intensity on post-exercise Hypotension. *Am. Heart J.* 160 (3), 513–520. doi:10.1016/j.ahj. 2010.06.005

- Fonseca, G. F., Farinatti, P. T. V., Midgley, A. W., Ferreira, A., de Paula, T., Monteiro, W. D., et al. (2018). Continuous and Accumulated Bouts of Cycling Matched by Intensity and Energy Expenditure Elicit Similar Acute Blood Pressure Reductions in Prehypertensive Men. J. Strength Cond Res. 32 (3), 857–866. doi:10.1519/JSC.00000000002317
- GjØvaag, T., Berge, H., Olsrud, M., and Welde, B. (2020). Acute Post-Exercise Blood Pressure Responses in Middle-Aged Persons with Elevated Blood Pressure/Stage 1 Hypertension Following Moderate and High-Intensity Isoenergetic Endurance Exercise. Int. J. Exerc. Sci. 13 (3), 1532–1548.
- Hecksteden, A., Grütters, T., and Meyer, T. (2013). Association between Postexercise Hypotension and Long-Term Training-Induced Blood Pressure Reduction. *Clin. J. Sport Med.* 23 (1), 58–63. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e31825b6974
- Kleinnibbelink, G., Stens, N. A., Fornasiero, A., Speretta, G. F., Van Dijk, A. P. J., Low, D. A., et al. (2020). The Acute and Chronic Effects of High-Intensity Exercise in Hypoxia on Blood Pressure and post-exercise Hypotension. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 99 (39), e22411. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000022411
- Pescatello, L. S., Buchner, D. M., Jakicic, J. M., Powell, K. E., Kraus, W. E., Bloodgood, B., et al. (2019). Physical Activity to Prevent and Treat Hypertension: A Systematic Review. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51 (6), 1314–1323. doi:10.1249/MSS. 000000000001943
- Pescatello, L. S., Wu, Y., Gao, S., Livingston, J., Sheppard, B. B., and Chen, M.-H. (2021). Do the Combined Blood Pressure Effects of Exercise and Antihypertensive Medications Add up to the Sum of Their Parts? A Systematic Meta-Review. BMJ Open Sport Exerc. Med. 7 (1), e000895. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000895
- Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee (2018). *Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

- Wegmann, M., Hecksteden, A., Poppendieck, W., Steffen, A., Kraushaar, J., Morsch, A., et al. (2018). Postexercise Hypotension as a Predictor for Long-Term Training-Induced Blood Pressure Reduction: A Large-Scale Randomized Controlled Trial. *Clin. J. Sport Med.* 28 (6), 509–515. doi:10.1097/JSM. 000000000000475
- Zaleski, A. L., Taylor, B. A., Park, C. L., Santos, L. P., Panza, G., Kramarz, M., et al. (2019). Using the Immediate Blood Pressure Benefits of Exercise to Improve Exercise Adherence Among Adults with Hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* 37 (9), 1877–1888. doi:10.1097/HJH.000000000002115

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Farinatti, Pescatello, Crisafulli, Taiar and Fernandez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Post-exercise Hypotension Following a Single Bout of High Intensity Interval Exercise vs. a Single Bout of Moderate Intensity Continuous Exercise in Adults With or Without Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Paulo Farinatti, Rio de Janeiro State University, Brazil

#### Reviewed by:

Zhaowei Kong, University of Macau, Macau Hamid Arazi, University of Guilan, Iran

#### \*Correspondence:

Véronique A. Cornelissen veronique.cornelissen@kuleuven.be

<sup>†</sup>These authors share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 02 March 2021 Accepted: 20 May 2021 Published: 28 June 2021

#### Citation:

Marçal IR, Goessler KF, Buys R, Casonatto J, Ciolac EG and Cornelissen VA (2021) Post-exercise Hypotension Following a Single Bout of High Intensity Interval Exercise vs. a Single Bout of Moderate Intensity Continuous Exercise in Adults With or Without Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. Front. Physiol. 12:675289. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.675289 Isabela Roque Marçal<sup>1,2†</sup>, Karla Fabiana Goessler<sup>3†</sup>, Roselien Buys<sup>2</sup>, Juliano Casonatto<sup>4</sup>, Emmanuel Gomes Ciolac<sup>1</sup> and Véronique A. Cornelissen<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Exercise and Chronic Disease Research Laboratory, Department of Physical Education, School of Sciences, São Paulo State University (UNESP), Bauru, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Research Group for Cardiovascular Rehabilitation, Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, University of Leuven, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, <sup>3</sup> Applied Physiology and Nutrition Research Group, School of Physical Education and Sport, Faculty of Medicine (FMUSP), University of Saõ Paulo, Saõ Paulo, Brazil, <sup>4</sup> Research Group in Physiology and Physical Activity, University of Northern Paraná, Londrina, Brazil

**Background:** Post-exercise hypotension (PEH) is an important tool in the daily management of patients with hypertension. Varying the exercise parameters is likely to change the blood pressure (BP) response following a bout of exercise. In recent years, high-intensity interval exercise (HIIE) has gained significant popularity in exercise-based prevention and rehabilitation of clinical populations. Yet, to date, it is not known whether a single session of HIIE maximizes PEH more than a bout of moderate-intensity continuous exercise (MICE).

**Objective:** To compare the effect of HIIE vs. MICE on PEH by means of a systematic review and meta-analysis.

**Methods:** A systematic search in the electronic databases MEDLINE, Embase, and SPORTDiscus was conducted from the earliest date available until February 24, 2020. Randomized clinical trials comparing the transient effect of a single bout of HIIE to MICE on office and/or ambulatory BP in humans (≥18 years) were included. Data were pooled using random effects models with summary data reported as weighted means and 95% confidence interval (CIs).

**Results:** Data from 14 trials were included, involving 18 comparisons between HIIE and MICE and 276 (193 males) participants. The immediate effects, measured as office BP at 30- and 60-min post-exercise, was similar for a bout of HIIE and MICE (p > 0.05 for systolic and diastolic BP). However, HIIE elicited a more pronounced BP reduction than MICE [(-5.3 mmHg (-7.3 to -3.3)/ -1.63 mmHg (-3.00 to -0.26)] during the

7

subsequent hours of ambulatory daytime monitoring. No differences were observed for ambulatory nighttime BP (p > 0.05).

**Conclusion:** HIIE promoted a larger PEH than MICE on ambulatory daytime BP. However, the number of studies was low, patients were mostly young to middle-aged individuals, and only a few studies included patients with hypertension. Therefore, there is a need for studies that involve older individuals with hypertension and use ambulatory BP monitoring to confirm HIIE's superiority as a safe BP lowering intervention in today's clinical practice.

**Systematic Review Registration:** PROSPERO (registration number: CRD42020171640).

Keywords: post-exercice, hypotension, high intensity interval exercise, systematic review & meta-analysis, office blood pressure, ambulatory blood pressure, moderate intensity aerobic exercise

## INTRODUCTION

Hypertension remains the most important modifiable risk factor for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Forouzanfar et al., 2016). In international studies, the rate of elevated systolic blood pressure (BP) ( $\geq$ 110–115 and  $\geq$ 140 mm Hg) increased substantially between 1990 and 2015, and disability-adjusted life years and deaths associated with elevated BP also increased (Forouzanfar et al., 2017). With the aging of the population, a further increase of 15–20% is expected worldwide (Williams et al., 2018).

To reduce the burden associated with hypertension, more emphasis on lifestyle changes is needed. Nowadays, all guidelines on BP management unequivocally recommend exercise as an important non-pharmacological therapy in the prevention, treatment, and control of high BP (Whelton et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2018; Hanssen et al., 2021). Preferably, exercise is performed on a daily basis, as it was previously shown that BP is significantly reduced following a single bout of exercise (Pescatello et al., 2004). If sustained and lasting long enough, this phenomenon-which is called post-exercise hypotension (PEH)-can play an important role in the daily management of hypertensive patients by transiently lowering their BP toward (more) normal values for a significant part of the day (MacDonald, 2002).

In line with pharmacokinetics of drug therapy, it might be expected that the occurrence and magnitude of PEH following a single bout or dose of exercise will depend on the exercise characteristics: i.e., type of exercise, volume, duration, or intensity of the session. Though, results on, for instance, the role of aerobic exercise intensity remains inconclusive. Pescatello and colleagues found PEH to be more pronounced in the first 5 h after a 40-min bout at moderate (60% of VO2max) vs. light intensity (40% of VO2max), though this difference disappeared when BP was measured over the full course of 9h (Pescatello et al., 2004). In contrast, others found PEH to be larger after higher vs. lower intensity exercise bouts when PEH was evaluated by means of 24 h ambulatory BP monitoring (Quinn, 2000; Eicher et al., 2010). In recent years, growing evidence has shown that high-intensity interval training provokes superior health benefits compared to moderate-intensity continuous training in both healthy individuals and patients with established cardiovascular disease (Pattyn et al., 2014; Ito, 2019; Liu et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2019).

Contrary to these overall superior results, studies investigating the effect of high intensity interval training on BP have been less conclusive. A recent meta-analysis pooling data from seven trials (164 participants) found comparable reductions in office BP in adults with pre- to established hypertension following chronic high intensity interval training and moderate intensity continuous training (Costa et al., 2018). In line with this, similar changes in 24 h ambulatory BP (three studies, 93 participants) and measures of central arterial stiffness (13 studies, 395 participants) following 4-16 weeks of high intensity interval training or moderate intensity continuous training was found in another meta-analysis (Way et al., 2019). On the other hand, larger reductions in office diastolic BP, but not systolic BP, were reported after high intensity interval training in a metaanalysis of 15 studies including only patients with hypertension (Leal et al., 2020). However, whether a single bout of high intensity interval exercise (HIIE) affects PEH more than a bout of moderate intensity continuous exercise (MICE) remains to be determined as individual studies have been small and reported contradictory results (Tordi et al., 2010; Pimenta et al., 2019).

Therefore, the aim of this systematic review and meta-analysis was to assess the effect of a bout of HIIE vs. a bout of moderate intensity continuous exercise (MICE) on PEH in individuals with normal BP, pre-hypertension or hypertension.

## **METHODS**

This systematic review was conducted and reported according to the Preferred Reporting Items of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (Liberati et al., 2009). The study protocol was prospectively registered with PROSPERO (registration number: CRD42020171640).

### **Search Strategy**

A systematic search was performed in three electronic databases (MEDLINE [OvidSP], Embase [OvidSP], and SPORTDiscus [EBSCOhost]) from their inception to February 24, 2020. The

search strategy included a combination of free text terms for the key concepts "blood pressure," "high intensity interval exercise," and "moderate intensity continuous exercise." The full search strategy for each database search is shown in **Supplementary File 1** in Supplementary Material. No language restrictions were imposed on the search.

## **Study Eligibility Criteria**

Studies were included if they applied a randomized clinical trial design and were performed in humans ( $\geq$ 18 years) with an optimal BP, normal BP, high normal BP, or hypertension, and with no other concomitant disease. Trials should compare the effect of one single session of land-based HIIE vs. one single session of land-based MICE and report on office and/or ambulatory BP measured at least 30 min following the exercise bouts. Only data from full-text peer-reviewed publications were considered for inclusion. Exclusion criteria included any study not meeting all the criteria above.

## **Study Selection**

Citations were imported into Rayyan, a specific electronic application for systematic review and meta-analysis (https:// rayyan.qcri.org/welcome), and duplicates were identified and subsequently removed using the duplicate function. Then, two reviewers (I.R.M., K.F.G.) independently screened the titles and abstracts of all studies for eligibility. Then the full texts of all studies that met the inclusion criteria, or if there was uncertainty, were retrieved and reviewed by both reviewers. Disagreements between both reviewers were discussed with a third researcher (V.A.C) to obtain consensus. Reviewers were not blinded to the journal or authors. The rationale for excluding full-text articles was documented.

## **Data Extraction**

A specific developed data extraction file was used by both authors (I.R.M., K.F.G.) to extract data on study source (authors, publication year, country of origin), study design, sample size, participant characteristics (mean age, sex distribution, hypertension status), exercise intervention characteristics (intensity, duration, mode), BP assessment method, BP outcomes, and outcomes related to BP regulating mechanisms. Discrepancies were resolved by consensus. Authors of 13 studies were contacted twice by e-mail over a 1-month period asking to provide missing data in cases of incomplete reporting. After 1 month, five authors provided more detailed information (Mourot et al., 2004; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Pimenta et al., 2019), two authors reported no access to the data (Scott et al., 2008; Lacombe et al., 2011), one author reported the lack of these data (Klein et al., 2019), and five authors did not reply.

## Assessment of Study Quality

Two reviewers (I.R.M., K.F.G.) independently assessed the methodological quality by using the Cochrane Collaboration "risk of bias" tool (Review Manager 5.3). The Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool was slightly adapted to the study design and consisted of the following items: (i) random sequence generation,

(ii) blinding of outcome assessment, (iii) incomplete outcome data for BP, (iv) eligibility criteria clearly described, (v) exercise intervention reproducible, (vi) point and variability measure reported for all BP measurements, and (vii) BP measured by automated device. Each criterion was rated by I.R.M. and K.F.G. as either "high risk," "low risk," or "unclear" risk of bias. In case of disagreement of rating, agreement was solved by mutual consensus. Studies were not excluded based on their quality.

## **Statistical Analyses**

Statistical analyses were performed with Comprehensive Meta-Analysis software (CMA, version 2.2.064, Biostat, NJ, USA). The primary outcome measures were responses in office (30 and 60 min post-exercise) and ambulatory systolic and diastolic BP. Data expressed using the standard error of the mean (SEM) were first converted to standard deviation (SD) by the formula: SD = SEM x  $\sqrt{n}$ . To compare the effects of single bouts of HIIE vs. MICE on office BP, we first calculated delta-score between post-exercise BP (at 30 or 60 min) and pre-exercise BP. Imputed study-level correlation coefficient for change from pre-intervention SD was set at a conservative estimate of 0.5 across all studies. For studies that compared two different HIIE study groups to a single MICE group, separate effect sizes were calculated for each comparison. To compare the effect of both exercise interventions on ambulatory BP we used the post intervention mean BP's following HIIE and MICE. Individual study results were then pooled using random-effect models with significance set at p < 0.05 (two-tailed). In addition, we also computed standardized mean difference (SMD), i.e., mean difference between the interventions divided by the pooled standard deviation. Descriptive data for each of the individual studies are reported as means  $\pm$  standard deviations (SD); pooled effects are reported as mean weighted difference and its 95% confidence intervals (CI).  $I^2$  statistics were calculated to provide an estimation of the degree of heterogeneity in effect among the studies.  $I^2$  between 25 and 50% represents small amounts of inconsistency, whereas between 50 and 75% and above 75% represents medium to large amounts of inconsistency, respectively (Higgins and Thompson, 2002). Publication bias was examined by visual inspection of the different funnel plots' asymmetry. Duval and Tweedie's Trim and Fill procedure was applied to estimate the effect of publication bias on the results (Duval and Tweedie, 2000). In addition, small-study effect was investigated by regression of effect sizes and standard error of effect sizes as proposed by Egger et al. (1997). Finally, sensitivity analysis excluding selected trials which differed on a specific characteristic from the overall trials included in the analyses were performed to explore the robustness of results.

## RESULTS

## **Study Selection**

A PRISMA flow diagram of the literature search and selection is presented in **Figure 1**. The initial search identified 1994 potentially relevant studies of which 37 full text articles were assessed for eligibility. After screening of the full-text, 14 papers could be included



in the final meta-analysis. Three studies (Angadi et al., 2015; Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017) included multiple HIIE interventions or more than one patient group (i.e., a normotensive and hypertensive group). As a result, 18 comparisons were included in the final analysis.

## **Risk of Bias Within and Across Studies**

The risk of bias is depicted in **Figure 2**. The kappa correlation showed a good overall agreement between both reviewers (k = 0.656; 95% CI 0.680–0.852; p < 0.001). Two studies did not report on the randomization sequence (Mourot et al., 2004; Tordi et al., 2010) and one study lacked a proper description of the eligibility criteria (Angadi et al., 2015). None of the studies explicitly stated that researchers were blinded, and all studies were thus classified as unclear for the risk "blinding of outcome assessment." Seven studies reported that office BP measurements were performed by an automated device (Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; Angadi et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2016; Graham et al., 2016; Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2018), and all four studies measuring ambulatory BP used an automated device

(Ciolac et al., 2009; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Sosner et al., 2016; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017). The remaining two studies used a manual device to measure office BP (Seeger et al., 2014; Pimenta et al., 2019) and one did not specify the device (de Carvalho et al., 2014). The intervention protocol of one study (Pimenta et al., 2019) was not sufficiently detailed to allow replication and was unclear in another study (Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017). All studies reported point and variability measures for BP and presented all BP data. As shown in **Supplementary File 2** in Supplementary Material, visual inspection of the funnel plots did not reveal any publication bias. Duval and Tweedie's correction model were applied to the overall sample for both systolic and diastolic office BP; no trimmed studies were observed.

## **Study and Participant Characteristics**

Table 1 shows an overview of the study and participant characteristics. All studies were published between 2004 and 2019 and conducted in Brazil (n = 5) (Ciolac et al., 2009; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Costa et al., 2016; Silva et al., 2018; Pimenta et al., 2019), France (n = 3) (Mourot et al., 2004; Tordi et al., 2010; Sosner et al., 2016), Spain (n = 2) (Morales-palomo et al.,



2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017), the United States (n = 2)(Rossow et al., 2009; Angadi et al., 2015), the United Kingdom (n = 1) (Seeger et al., 2014), and New Zealand (n = 1) (Graham et al., 2016). Twelve studies used a randomized cross-over design (Mourot et al., 2004; Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Seeger et al., 2014; Angadi et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2016; Graham et al., 2016; Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2018; Pimenta et al., 2019) while the remaining two applied a randomized parallel design (Ciolac et al., 2009; Sosner et al., 2016). A total sample of 276 individuals (193 males; 83 females) was included in this meta-analysis. Five studies included only men (Mourot et al., 2004; Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; Costa et al., 2016; Graham et al., 2016), and nine studies included both men and women (Ciolac et al., 2009; Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Angadi et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2016; Sosner et al., 2016; Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017). Mean age of participants ranged from 22.5 to 69.5 years. Based on resting office BP, 10 study groups involved normotensive individuals (Mourot et al., 2004; Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; Seeger et al., 2014; Angadi et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2016; Graham et al., 2016; Silva et al., 2018), four study groups included hypertensive patients (Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; Costa et al., 2016; Pimenta et al., 2019), and four study groups included both normotensive and hypertensive participants (Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017).

Ten studies (Mourot et al., 2004; Ciolac et al., 2009; Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; Seeger et al., 2014; Angadi et al., 2015; Graham et al., 2016; Sosner et al., 2016; Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017) performed the exercise protocol on a cycle ergometer whereas the remaining four used a treadmill (de Carvalho et al., 2014; Costa et al., 2016; Silva et al., 2018; Pimenta et al., 2019). The exercise intensity was set as % of heart rate reserve (Ciolac et al., 2009), % of maximum heart rate (Tordi et al., 2010; Angadi et al., 2015; Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017), % of maximum load (Seeger et al., 2014; Costa et al., 2016), % of peak VO2 (de Carvalho et al., 2014; Silva et al., 2018), % of reserve VO2 (Pimenta et al., 2019), and power output (Sosner et al., 2016) or watts

(Mourot et al., 2004; Rossow et al., 2009; Graham et al., 2016). MICE sessions lasted 18–65 min and HIIE lasted 15–45 min. Two studies reported that the HIIE and MICE bouts were isocaloric ( $\sim$ 460 kcal) (Morales-palomo et al., 2017; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017). The exercise intensity for MICE sessions ranged between 40 and 77.5% of heart rate (reserve and/or maximum). Within the HIIE sessions, the number of bouts ranged from 4 to 40, with 15 to 240 s of high-intensity activity interspaced with 15–270 s of active or passive recovery. The high-intensity bouts during HIIE ranged between 80 and 100%, while the intensity during active recovery was 70% of heart rate (reserve and/or maximum). Warm-up and cool-down time were excluded from the total duration of the sessions.

As shown in Table 1, office BP was measured pre-exercise and then 30 (n = 5 studies) (Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Seeger et al., 2014; Morales-palomo et al., 2017) and 60 min (n = 8 studies) (Mourot et al., 2004; Angadi et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2016; Graham et al., 2016; Moralespalomo et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2018; Pimenta et al., 2019) postexercise by means of an automated device (n = 6) (Rossow et al., 2009; Tordi et al., 2010; Costa et al., 2016; Graham et al., 2016; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2018), manual auscultatory method (n = 2) (Seeger et al., 2014; Pimenta et al., 2019) or by means of the Finapress (n = 1) (Graham et al., 2016). Four (Ciolac et al., 2009; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Sosner et al., 2016; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017) studies used automatic ambulatory BP monitors of which three studies (Mourot et al., 2004; Ciolac et al., 2009; Sosner et al., 2016) reported 24 h ambulatory BP after exercise, four studies reported only day-time BP (Ciolac et al., 2009; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Sosner et al., 2016; Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017), and three studies (Ciolac et al., 2009; de Carvalho et al., 2014; Sosner et al., 2016) presented night-time BP.

## Office Blood Pressure

Pooling data from five studies (n = six study groups) evaluating systolic BP and diastolic BP 30 min following completion of the exercise sessions showed no difference between HIIE and MICE [-0.24 mmHg (-3.9 to +3.4;  $I^2 = 52.3$ ; p = 0.89)/-1.07 mmHg (-2.98 to +0.84);  $I^2 = 0$ ; p = 0.27] (Figures 3A,B).

Study (author, year, country)	Design	Subjects analyzed [(N) M + (N) F]	BP category	Age	Office SBP/DBP	Modality	HIIE characteristics	MICE characteristics	BP measurement (device)	Time point BP measurements
Ambulatory Bloo	d Pressure									
Carvalho et al. 2014, Brazil (de Carvalho et al., 2014)	Crossover	8M/12F	Medicated Hypertensives	≥60 yrs	143.45 ± 10.18/88.50 ± 7.11 mmHg	Treadmill	Time: 42 min Work-bout: 4 min at the RCP Recovery: 2 min at 40%VO2peak	Time: 42 min Intensity: VAT	Ambulatory BP (Spacelabs <sup>®</sup> 90207)	20 h post-exercise
Ciolac et al. 2009, Brazil (Ciolac et al., 2009)	Parallel	HIIE: 18M/8F MICE: 16M/10F	Medicated Hypertensives	HIIE:44 $\pm$ 9 yrs MICE:48 $\pm$ 7 yrs	HIIE: 129.3 ± 0.8/84.8 ± 6 mmHg MICE:129.9 ± 10/85.8 ± 10.4 mmHg	Cycle	Time: 30 min Work-bout: 2 min at 50% HRreserve Recovery: 1 min at 80%HRreserve	Time: 30 min Intensity: 60% HRres	Ambulatory BP (Spacelabs 90207)	24 h post-exercise
Sosner et al. 2016, France (Sosner et al., 2016)	Parallel	HIIE: 9M/5F MICE: 8M/6F	High Normal/ Hypertensive	HIE: $65 \pm 8$ yrs MICE: $65 \pm 6$ yrs	HIE:144.2 $\pm$ 17.3/87.6 $\pm$ 11.6 mmHg MICE:142.4 $\pm$ 11.4/81.9 $\pm$ 6.2 mmHg	Cycle	Time: 20 min Work-bout: 2 sets (10 min) of 15s at 100% Power Output Recovery: 15s of passive recovery (4 min passive recovery between the sets)	Time: 24 min Intensity: 50% Peak Power Output	Ambulatory BP (Mobil-O-Graph PWA)	24 h post-exercise
Ramirez-Jimenez et al. 2017, Spain (Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017)	Crossover	G1:5M/3F G2:8M/3F	( )	G1: 53.3 $\pm$ 9.5yrs G2: 56.5 $\pm$ 6.2yrs	G1:116 $\pm$ 7/65 $\pm$ 7 mmHg G2:135 $\pm$ 17/86 $\pm$ 7mmHg	Cycle	Total Time: 28 min Work-bout: 4 × 4min at 90%HRpeak Recovery: 3 min at 70%HRpeak	<b>Time:</b> 53 ± 6 min <b>Intensity:</b> 60%HRpeak	Ambulatory BP (Oscar2, SunTech, Morrisville, NC, USA)	14h post- exercise
Office Blood Pres	ssure									
Angadi et al. 2015, USA (Angadi et al., 2015)	Crossover	10M/1F	Normotensive	$24.0 \pm 3.7$ yrs	$122 \pm 11/68 \pm 7$ mmHg	Cycle	Total Time: G1:28 min (HIIE near maximal) G2:15 min (HIIE supra-maximal) Work bout:4 × 4min at G1: 90–95%HRmax or G2: 6 × 30 s "all out" Recovery: G1: 3 min at 50%Hrmax or G2:4 min active recovery	<b>Intensity:</b> 75–80% HRmax	Automatic Dinamap oscillometric BP monitor (GE Healthcare, Waukesha, WI, USA)	Every 15 min post-exercise for 3 h
Costa et al. 2016, Brazil (Costa et al., 2016)	Crossover )	14M	Normotensive	$24.9\pm4.1~\mathrm{yrs}$	$120.5 \pm 8.1/69.5 \pm 6 \text{ mmHg}$	Treadmill	Total Time: 20 min           Work-bout: 10 × 60 s at           90% MTV           Recovery: 60 s at 30%           of MTV	Time: 20 min Intensity: 60% MTV	Automatic - Oscillometric device (Omron <sup>®</sup> HEM-780-E Kyoto,Japan)	Every 10 min for 60 min post- , exercise
Graham et al. 2016, New Zealand (Graham et al., 2016)	Crossover	12M	Normotensive	$23 \pm 3 \text{ yrs}$	116.3 ± 11.6/62.4 ± 9.4 mmHg	Cycle	<b>Total Time:</b> 20.3 min: 5 × 60 s ( <i>all out</i> ) <b>Recovery:</b> 4.5 min at 30W (legs) - 15W(arms)	Intensity: 65%	Finometer (Finapress Medical Systems, The Netherlands)	30, 60, and 180 min post-exercise

(Continued)

Post-exercise Hypotension Following HIIE and MICE

Marçal et al.

TABLE 1	Continued
---------	-----------

Study (author, year, country)	Design	Subjects analyzed [(N) M + (N) F]	BP category	Age	Office SBP/DBP	Modality	HIIE characteristics	MICE characteristics	BP measurement (device)	Time point BP measurements
Mourot et al. 2004, France (Mourot et al., 2004)	Crossover	10M	Normotensive	$24.6\pm0.6~\text{yrs}$	130.6 ± 7.1/71.7 ± 6.1 mmHg	Cycle	Total Time: 45 min Work-bout: 1 min peak work-rate Recovery: 4 min at base work-rate	<b>Time:</b> 45 min <b>Intensity:</b> power at 1st ventilatory threshold	Automatic- Office (BP-8800, Colin Electronics, Japan)	20 and 60 min post-exercise
Palomo et al. 2017, Spain (Morales-palomo et al., 2017)	Crossover	11M/3F	G1 ( $n = 7$ ): Hypertensive; G2( $n = 7$ ): Normotensive	Hypertensive: 59 $\pm$ 6 yrs Normotensive: 55 $\pm$ 9 yrs	Hypertensive: 135 $\pm$ 18.2/81 $\pm$ 7.9 Normotensive: 122.1 $\pm$ 9/75.2 $\pm$ 6	Cycle	Time: ~460 kcal Work-bout: 5 × 4 min at 90%HRpeak Recovery: 3 min at 70%HRpeak	Time: $\sim$ 460 kcal Intensity: 60% HRpeak for 70 $\pm$ 5 min	Automatic – Office (Tango <sup>TM</sup> SunTech Medical, Inc., Morrisville, NC, USA)	Pre-exercise and post-exercise
Pimenta et al. 2019, Brazil (Pimenta et al., 2019)	Crossover	5M/15F	Medicated Hypertensive	$51 \pm 8 \text{ yrs}$	HIIE:127 ± 09/83 ± 08 mmHg MCE: 128 ± 15/83 ± 10 mmHg		Time: 30 min Work-bout: 5 × 3 min 85–95% of VO2reserve Recovery: 2 min active recovery at 50–60% VO2reserve	Time: 35 min Intensity: 60–70% VO2reserve	Manual	Every 10 min one single measure fo 60 min post-exercise
Rossow et al. 2010, USA (Rossow et al., 2009)	Crossover	15M/10F	Normotensive	25.5 ± 1.1	$117 \pm 8/63.4 \pm 7$ mmHg	Cycle	Total Time: 25 min Work-bout: 4 × 30 s "all-out" cycle sprint (~500W) Recovery: 4.5 min (<50rpm/30W)	Time: 60 min Intensity: 60% HRreserve	Automatic Oscillometric cuff (HEM-907 XL;Omrom, Shimane, Japan)	Post 30 min; Post 60 min
Seeger et al. 2014, United Kingdom (Seeger et al., 2014)	Crossover	10M/7F	Normotensive	$23 \pm 4 \text{ yrs}$	$121 \pm 9/73 \pm 8$ mmHg	Cycle	Total time: 28 min Work-bout: 10 × 1 min at 100% Maximum workload Recovery: 2 min at 25% maximum workload	Time: 28 min Intensity: 50% of maximum workload	Manual	At 30 min post-exercise
Silva et al. 2018, Brazil (Silva et al., 2018)	Crossover	23M	Normotensive	$24.2 \pm 2.8$ yrs	$118.2 \pm 9.1/70.3 \pm 7.0$ mmHg	Treadmill	<b>Total Time:</b> 18 min <b>Work-bout:</b> 6 × 90 s at 80% VO2peak <b>Recovery:</b> 90 s at 40% Vo2peak	<b>Time:</b> 18 min <b>Intensity:</b> 40% VO2peak	Automatic – Sphygmomanometric device (OMROM – HEM 7200, Kyoto, Japan)	Every 10 min for 1 h post-exercise
Tordi et al. 2010, France (Tordi et al., 2010)	Crossover	11M	Normotensive	$22.5\pm0.7$ yrs	$118.1 \pm 4.8/65.5 \pm 4.1$ mmHg	Cycle	Total Time: 30 min Work-bout: 6 × 5 min 4 min at 65% HRmax Recovery: 1 min at 85% HRmax	Time: 30 min Intensity: the average HR achieved during HIIE	Automatic -Dinamap <sup>®</sup> GE Medical Systems, Bc, France	At 30 min post-exercise

Data are reported as mean ± SD. BP, blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; F, female; HIIE, high-intensity interval exercise; HR, heart rate; HRmax, maximal heart rate; M, male; MCE, moderate-intensity continuous exercise; Min, minutes; MVT, maximal treadmill velocity; N, number of participants; RCT, respiratory compensation threshold; s, seconds; SBP, systolic blood pressure; VAT, ventilatory anaerobic threshold; VO2, uptake oxygen.

Marçal et al.

An  $I^2$  of 52.3% suggested high heterogeneity for systolic BP. Though, leave one out sensitivity analysis for systolic BP did not change the results (systolic BP ranged between +0.08 and -1.6; p > 0.30 for all). Similarly, pooled data from eight studies (11 study groups) found no differences in PEH between both exercise modalities 60 min after ending the session [-1.5 mmHg] $(-3.91 \text{ to } +0.85); I^2 = 12.77; p = 0.20/-0.76 (-2.47 \text{ to } +0.95);$  $I^2 = 7.47\%$ ; p = 0.38] (Figures 3C,D). A sensitivity analysis omitting the two hypertensive subgroups did not change the results  $[-1.14 \text{ mmHg} (-3.64 \text{ to} +1.36); I^2 = 13.1; p = 0.21/-0.43$ mmHg (-2.3 to + 1.47);  $I^2 = 10.3\%$ ; p = 0.22].  $I^2 < 15\%$ suggested low heterogeneity. An overview of the BP changes at the individual study level is presented in Supplementary File 3 in Supplementary Material. Effect sizes calculated as SMD were small with pooled values of -0.037 and -0.12 for systolic and diastolic BP after 30 min recovery and -0.18 and -0.10 for systolic and diastolic BP after 60 min of recovery.

## **Ambulatory Blood Pressure**

Compared with MICE, HIIE reduced daytime systolic and diastolic ambulatory BP by -5.3 mmHg (-7.3 to -3.3;  $I^2 = 0\%$ ; p = < 0.001) (Figure 4A) and -1.63 mmHg (-3.00 to -0.26;  $I^2 = 0\%$ ; p = 0.02), respectively (Figure 4B). However, nighttime ambulatory BP after HIIE was not significantly lower than MICE for both systolic [-2.4 mmHg (-5.7 to +0.87);  $I^2 = 14.6$ ; p = 0.1] (Figure 4C) and diastolic BP [-1.6 mmHg (-3.9 to +0.55;  $I^2 = 0$ ; p = 0.14] (Figure 4D). Heterogeneity was low for both daytime and nighttime BP. Three studies reported 24 h ambulatory BP and found no differences in systolic [-2.2mmHg (-5.9 to +1.48), p = 0.23 and diastolic BP  $[-0.76 (-4.0 \text{ to } -4.0 \text{ to$ +2.51), p = 0.64] between HIIE and MICE, yet heterogeneity was high with  $I^2 = 42\%$  and  $I^2 = 53\%$ , respectively. An overview of the ambulatory BP changes at the individual study level is presented in Table 1. Pooled SMD showed a medium effect (-0.60) for daytime SBP whereas effect sizes for daytime DBP (-0.31) and nighttime SBP/DBP (-0.2/-0.185) were small.

## DISCUSSION

The main aim of this systematic review and meta-analysis was to examine whether BP changes following a session of HIIE are more pronounced compared to a session of MICE. Findings of this meta-analysis suggest that a single session of HIIE is associated with a statistically significant and clinically meaningful larger reduction in daytime ambulatory BP compared to a single session of MICE.

Previous research suggested that exercise intensity had little impact on the manifestation of PEH when BP is measured for a short time period after exercise (Cornelissen and Fagard, 2004). Our results are in line with these older studies showing that office BP responses, measured in a quiet sitting or supine position, are not substantially different during the first 30 and 60 min after completion of a session of HIIE or MICE. Concordant to our results, a recent systematic review investigating acute cardiovascular response to HIIE also found that cardiovascular responses were quite similar within 1 h of completion of a session of HIIE or MICE (Price et al., 2020). In addition, meta-analytic research investigating the effect of a single session of dynamic resistance exercise on PEH (Casonatto et al., 2016) found no major impact of intensity on systolic and diastolic PEH after 60–90 min of exercise completion.

On the other hand, when PEH was analyzed by means of ambulatory BP monitoring during the daytime and/or nighttime hours following the exercise sessions, the present meta-analysis suggests that a single session of HIIE has a more pronounced and most likely longer lasting effect than a single session of MICE. Our findings are consistent with a previous study evaluating PEH over 9 h after single sessions of low, moderate, or vigorous exercise in 45 men (age 18-55 years) with elevated awake ambulatory BP, which found that although all exercise sessions (low, moderate, or vigorous) reduced the BP when compared to a non-exercise control session, the PEH occurred in a doseresponse way with higher intensity exercise inducing a larger and more sustained BP reduction (Eicher et al., 2010). Previously, it was found that PEH following exercise has a strong correlation with BP lowering effect of chronic exercise training (Hecksteden et al., 2013). In that sense, our results are in contrast to the meta-analysis in adults of any health status performed by Way et al. (2019) who compared chronic effects ( $\geq 4$  weeks) of both exercise interventions documenting a significant blood pressure reduction in favor of HIIE at night-time diastolic BP (-0.826 to -0.086 mmHg), and near significant difference for systolic BP day-time (-0.740 to 0.041 mmHg) and diastolic BP day-time (-0.717 to 0.020 mmHg).

Regarding the mechanisms associated with PEH, insufficient data did not permit us to quantitatively summarize potential differences in underlying mechanisms. In summary, Lacombe et al. (2011) showed that HIIE promoted greater changes in baroreflex sensitivity and HR variability compared to MICE. A single session of HIIE also promoted a larger reduction in stroke volume and a more pronounced increase in HR compared to MICE (Morales-palomo et al., 2017). Additionally, greater reductions on systematic vascular resistance and cutaneous vascular resistance have been observed following a single session of HIIE (Morales-palomo et al., 2017). In line, Costa et al. (2020) showed a significant decrease in systemic vascular resistance following HIIE compared to a control condition. The same authors (Costa et al., 2020) also found a lower vascular impedance after both MICE and HIIE sessions compared to the control session. The reduction in systematic vascular resistance, total vascular impedance, and pulse pressure, mainly after HIIE, might be explained by a sustained post-exercise vasodilation in the vascular beds of the lower limbs in treadmill exercise protocols (Costa et al., 2020). A complex interaction between neural and local vasodilatory mechanisms (e.g., sympathoinhibition due to baroreflex resetting, blunted transduction of sympathetic outflow to vasoconstriction, and histamine receptors activation) mediates the sustained post-exercise vasodilation (Halliwill et al., 2013; Hecksteden et al., 2013). During exercise, the likely higher increase of blood flow toward the active muscle following HIIE vs. MICE promotes increased shear stress (mechanical stimulus) on the endothelium, which mediates the release of vasodilatory substances, such as histamines, promoting a





sustained vasodilatory response and reducing systemic vascular resistance (Halliwill et al., 2013; Hecksteden et al., 2013). Further studies should address these vasodilatory responses after different exercise intensities, as these mechanisms might explain in part a more sustained PEH following HIIE.

Further, the studies analyzing autonomic function reported higher heart rate post 30 min (Tordi et al., 2010), post the first hours (Morales-palomo et al., 2017), and post 20 h (de Carvalho et al., 2014) after HIIE than MICE sessions. This is in accordance with Abreu et al. (2019) in a systematic review (n = 193) who showed an improvement in parasympathetic and/or sympathetic modulation after HIIE ( $\geq 2$  weeks) when evaluated by linear and non-linear indexes of heart rate variability (Abreu et al., 2019). Along with the improvement in endothelium responses as mentioned above (i.e., stimulating nitric oxide syntheses), the authors found HIIE superiority vs. MICE in cardiac autonomic variables due to greater degrees of distensibility of carotid artery which seems to be associated with improvements in baroreflex sensitivity, improving mitochondrial function and, consequently, capacity of skeletal muscle as well as improving maximal volume uptake, which may be correlated to the predominance of rest vagal modulation after HIIE (Abreu et al., 2019). On the other hand, Mourot et al. (2004) demonstrated that mean R-R interval measured by heart rate variability were lower 1 h after HIIE compared to MICE, but not post 24 or 48 h, suggesting that shortterm heart rate variability depend on the type of exercise (i.e., intensity), contrary to the long-term recovery (i.e., total physical work performed during exercise) (Mourot et al., 2004).

## Limitations

This systematic review with meta-analysis has some limitations that need to be acknowledged. First, the number of randomized trials and their sample sizes was low. Moreover, studies evaluating office PEH shortly after exercise mainly involved normotensive individuals, whereas the four trials that assessed ambulatory BP included patients with hypertension under pharmacological treatment (two studies) or included only untreated individuals with stage 1 hypertension (two studies). Moreover, except for two trials, recruited participants were all younger than 60 years. In this context, one should be careful with generalizing present results to all hypertensive patients. We also observed a large variety of HIIE protocols, which ranged from the wellknown Norwegian protocol of 4 × 4 min (Ramirez-Jimenez et al., 2017) to  $10 \times 1 \text{ min}$  at 100% of maximal load (Seeger et al., 2014). Unfortunately, given the small number of studies, no subgroup analysis could be performed on the type of HIIE protocol. As only two trials reported that their exercise interventions were isocaloric, we cannot be 100% confident that the observed difference is due to a difference in intensity or a

## REFERENCES

Abreu, R. M., de, Rehder-Santos, P., Simões, R. P., and Catai, A. M. (2019). Can high-intensity interval training change cardiac autonomic

difference in volume. Therefore, this study emphasizes the need for more research investigating the role of HIIE on PEH and its mechanisms across all BP and age categories to maximize personalization of BP management for the growing group of older hypertensive patients.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, HIIE and MICE were similarly effective for promoting short-time PEH measured by office BP. On the other hand, HIIE showed larger PEH than MICE during daytime ambulatory BP monitoring. These findings suggest that HIIE may be a more time-efficient and beneficial antihypertensive tool compared to MICE. However, the number of studies assessing PEH by ambulatory BP was low and the office BP data were mainly derived from young normotensive/prehypertensive populations. Thus, future studies incorporating ambulatory BP monitoring, as well as including more hypertensive and older individuals, are needed to confirm HIIE's superiority as a safe BP lowering intervention in daily clinical practice.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

VC, IM, KG, and RB contributed to conception and design of the manuscript. KG and IM performed data search and data extraction. JC, KG, and IM performed data-analysis. VC, IM, and KG drafted the manuscript. JC, EC, RB, VC, IM, and KG critically revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was in part supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP #2019/19596-7, #2019/18039-7), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq #303399/2018-0), and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior -Brasil (CAPES)-Finance Code 001.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2021.675289/full#supplementary-material

control? A systematic review. Braz. J. Phys. Ther. 23, 279–289. doi: 10.1016/j.bjpt.2018.09.010

Angadi, S. I. S. A., Hammar, D. H. M. B., and Aesser, G. L. A. G. (2015). Postexercise hypotension after continuous, aerobic interval, and sprint interval exercise. J. Strength Cond. Res. 29, 2888–2893. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0000000000 00939

- Casonatto, J., Goessler, K. F., Cornelissen, V. A., Cardoso, J. R., and Polito, M. D. (2016). The blood pressure-lowering effect of a single bout of resistance exercise: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 23, 1700–1714. doi: 10.1177/2047487316664147
- Ciolac, E. G., Guimarães, G. V., Àvila, V. M. D., Bortolotto, L. A., Doria, E. L., and Bocchi, E. A. (2009). Acute effects of continuous and interval aerobic exercise on 24-h ambulatory blood pressure in long-term treated hypertensive patients. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 133, 381–387. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.02.005
- Cornelissen, A., and Fagard, R. H. (2004). Exercise intensity and postexercise hypotension. J. Hypertens. 22, 1859–1861. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200410000-00004
- Costa, E. C., Dantas, T. C. B., de Farias Junior, L. F., Frazão, T. D., Prestes, J., Moreira, S. R., et al. (2016). Inter- and intra-individual analysis of postexercise hypotension following a single bout of high-intensity interval exercise and continuous exercise : a pilot study. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 37, 1038–1043. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-112029
- Costa, E. C., Hay, J. L., Kehler, D. S., Boreskie, K. F., Arora, R. C., Umpierre, D., et al. (2018). Effects of high-intensity interval training versus moderate- intensity continuous training on blood pressure in adults with pre- to established hypertension : a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Sport Med.* 48, 2127–2142. doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-09 44-y
- Costa, E. C., Kent, D. E., Boreskie, K. F., Hay, J. L., Kehler, D. S., Edye-mazowita, A., et al. (2020). Acute effect of high-intensity interval versus moderate-intensity continuous exercise on blood pressure and arterial compliance in middleaged and older hypertensive women with increased arterial stiffness. J. Strength Cond. Res. 34, 1307–1316. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003552
- de Carvalho, R. S. T., Pires, C. M. R., Junqueira, G. C., Freitas, D., and Marchi-alves, L. M. (2014). Hypotensive response magnitude and duration in hypertensives : continuous and interval exercise. *Arq. Bras. Cardiol.* 104, 234–241. doi: 10.5935/abc.20140193
- Duval, S., and Tweedie, R. (2000). Trim and fill: a simple funnel-plot-based method. *Biometrics* 56, 455–463. doi: 10.1111/j.0006-341X.2000.00455.x
- Egger, M., Smith, G. D., Schneider, M., and Minder, C. (1997). Bias in metaanalysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *Br. Med. J.* 315, 629–634. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629
- Eicher, J. D., Maresh, C. M., Tsongalis, G. J., Thompson, P. D., and Pescatello, L. S. (2010). The additive blood pressure lowering effects of exercise intensity on post-exercise hypotension. *Am. Heart J.* 160, 513–520. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010.06.005
- Forouzanfar, M. H., Afshin, A., Alexander, L. T., Biryukov, S., Brauer, M., Cercy, K., et al. (2016). Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet 388, 1659–1724. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31679-8
- Forouzanfar, M. H., Liu, P., Roth, G. A., Ng, M., Biryukov, S., Marczak, L., et al. (2017). Global burden of hypertension and systolic blood pressure of at least 110 to 115mmHg, 1990-2015. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 317, 165–182. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.19043
- Graham, M. J., Lucas, S. J. E., Francois, M. E., Stavrianeas, S., Parr, E. B., Thomas, K. N., et al. (2016). Low-volume intense exercise elicits post-exercise hypotension and subsequent hypervolemia, irrespective of which limbs are exercised. *Front. Physiol.* 7:199. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00199
- Halliwill, J. R., Buck, T. M., Lacewell, A. N., and Romero, S. A. (2013). Postexercise hypotension and sustained postexercise vasodilatation: what happens after we exercise? *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 7–18. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2011.058065
- Hanssen, H., Boardman, H., Deiseroth, A., Moholdt, T., Simonenko, M., Kränkel, N., et al. (2021). Personalized exercise prescription in the prevention and treatment of arterial hypertension: a Consensus Document from the European Association of Preventive Cardiology (EAPC) and the ESC Council on Hypertension. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* zwaa141, 1–11. doi: 10.1093/eurjpc/zwaa141
- Hecksteden, A., Grütters, T., and Meyer, T. (2013). Association between postexercise hypotension and long-term training-induced blood pressure reduction: a pilot study. *Clin. J. Sport Med.* 23, 58–63. doi: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e31825b6974

- Higgins, J. P. T., and Thompson, S. G. (2002). Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat. Med. 21, 1539–1558. doi: 10.1002/sim.1186
- Ito, S. (2019). High-intensity interval training for health benefits and care of cardiac diseases - The key to an efficient exercise protocol. *World J.Cardiol.* 11, 171–188. doi: 10.4330/wjc.v11.i7.171
- Klein, T., Bailey, G. T., Abeln, V., Schneider, S., and Askew, D. C. (2019). Cerebral blood flow during interval and continuous exercise in young and old men. J. Am. Coll. Sport Med. 51, 1523–1531. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001924
- Lacombe, S. P., Goodman, J. M., Spragg, C. M., Liu, S., and Thomas, S. G. (2011). Interval and continuous exercise elicit equivalent postexercise hypotension in prehypertensive men, despite differences in regulation. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 36, 881–891. doi: 10.1139/h11-113
- Leal, J. M., Galliano, L. M., Boscolo, F., and Vecchio, D. (2020). Effectiveness of high-intensity interval training versus moderate-intensity continuous training in hypertensive patients : a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 22, 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s11906-020-1030-z
- Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gøtzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P. A., et al. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. Br. J. Med. 339:2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700
- Liu, J. X., Zhu, L., Li, P. J., Li, N., and Xu, Y. B. (2019). Effectiveness of highintensity interval training on glycemic control and cardiorespiratory fitness in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 31, 575–593. doi: 10.1007/s40520-018-1012-z
- MacDonald, J. (2002). Potential causes, mechanisms, and implications of post exercise hypotension. J. Hum. Hypertens. 16, 225–236. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1001377
- Morales-palomo, F., Ramirez-jimenez, M., Ortega, J. F., Mora-rodriguez, R., and Sciences, S. (2017). Acute hypotension after high-intensity interval exercise in metabolic syndrome patients. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 38, 560–567. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-101911
- Mourot, L., Bouhaddi, M., and Tordi, N. (2004). Short- and long-term effects of a single bout of exercise on heart rate variability : comparison between constant and interval training exercises. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 92, 508–517. doi: 10.1007/s00421-004-1119-0
- Pattyn, N., Coeckelberghs, E., Buys, R., Cornelissen, V. A., and Vanhees, L. (2014). Aerobic interval training vs. moderate continuous training in coronary artery disease patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sport Med.* 44, 687–700. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0158-x
- Pescatello, L. S., Franklin, B. A., Fagard, R., Farquhar, W. B., and Kelley, G. A. R. C. (2004). Exercise and Hypertension. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 36, 533–553. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000115224.88514.3A
- Pimenta, F. C., Tanil, F., Victor, M., Dourado, Z., Fernando, L., Alves, G., et al. (2019). High-intensity interval exercise promotes post-exercise hypotension of greater magnitude compared to moderate-intensity continuous exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 1235–1243. doi: 10.1007/s00421-019-04114-9
- Price, K. J., Gordon, B. A., Bird, S. R., and Benson, A. C. (2020). Acute cardiovascular responses to interval exercise: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Sports Sci. 38, 970–984. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2020. 1737395
- Quinn, T. J. (2000). Twenty-four hour, ambulatory blood pressure responses following acute exercise: impact of exercise intensity. J. Hum. Hypertens. 14, 547–553. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1001106
- Ramirez-Jimenez, M., Morales-Palomo, F., Pallares, J., Mora-Rodriguez, R., and Ortea, J. (2017). Ambulatory blood pressure response to a bout of HIIT in metabolic syndrome patients. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 1403–1411. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3631-z
- Rossow, L., Yan, H., Fahs, C. A., Ranadive, S. M., Agiovlasitis, S., Wilund, K. R., et al. (2009). Postexercise hypotension in an endurance-trained population of men and women following high- intensity interval and steady-state cycling. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 23, 358–367. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2009.269
- Scott, J. M., Esch, B. T. A., Lusina, S. C., Mckenzie, D. C., Koehle, M. S., Sheel, A. W., et al. (2008). Post-exercise hypotension and cardiovascular responses to moderate orthostatic stress in endurance-trained males. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 33, 246–253. doi: 10.1139/H07-173
- Seeger, J. P. H., Lenting, C. J., Schreuder, T. H. A., Landman, T. R. J., Cable, N. T., Hopman, M. T. E., et al. (2014). Interval exercise, but not endurance exercise, prevents endothelial ischemia-reperfusion injury in healthy subjects.

Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol. 308, 351–357. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.006 47.2014

- Silva, J. C. G., Neto, E. A., Bittar, S. T., Domingos-Gomes, J. R., Neto, G. R., and Souza-Cirilo, M. S. (2018). Effect of interval and continuous aerobic exercise with and without restriction of blood flow on post-exercise blood pressure. *Motricidade* 14, 89–96.
- Sosner, P., Gayda, M., Dupuy, O., Garzon, M., Lemasson, C., Gremeaux, V., et al. (2016). Ambulatory blood pressure reduction following high-intensity interval exercise performed in water or dryland condition. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 10, 420–428. doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2016.02.011
- Tordi, N., Mourot, L., Colin, E., and Regnard, J. (2010). Intermittent versus constant aerobic exercise : effects on arterial stiffness. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 108, 801–809. doi: 10.1007/s00421-009-1285-1
- Way, K. L., Sultana, R. N., Sabag, A., Baker, M. K., and Johnson, N. A. (2019). The effect of high Intensity interval training versus moderate intensity continuous training on arterial stiffness and 24 h blood pressure responses: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Sci. Med. Sport 22, 385–391. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.09.228
- Whelton, P. K., Carey, R. M., Aronow, W. S., Casey, D. E., Collins, K. J., Himmelfarb, C. D., et al. (2018). ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: executive summary: a report of the american college of cardiology/american heart association task force. *Circulation* 138, e426–e83. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000000597

- Williams, B., Mancia, G., Spiering, W., Rosei, A., Azizi, M., Burnier, M., et al. (2018). 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the Management of Arterial Hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Society of Hypertension (ESH). J. Hypertens. (2018) 36:1953-2041. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0000000000001 940
- Williams, C. J., Gurd, B. J., Bonafiglia, J. T., Voisin, S., Li, Z., Harvey, N., et al. (2019). A multi-center comparison of VO2peak trainability between interval training and moderate intensity continuous training. *Front. Physiol.* 10:19. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00019

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Marçal, Goessler, Buys, Casonatto, Ciolac and Cornelissen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Effects of Acute Aerobic Exercise on Blood Pressure, Arterial Function, and Heart Rate Variability in Men Living With HIV

Juliana Pereira Barros<sup>1</sup>, Tainah de Paula<sup>2</sup>, Mauro Felippe Felix Mediano<sup>3,4</sup>, Marcus Vinicius dos Santos Rangel<sup>1</sup>, Walace Monteiro<sup>1,5</sup>, Felipe Amorim da Cunha<sup>1</sup>, Paulo Farinatti<sup>1,5</sup> and Juliana Pereira Borges<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Graduate Program in Exercise and Sports Sciences, Rio de Janeiro State University, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Department of Clinical Medicine, Rio de Janeiro State University, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Evandro Chagas National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Oswaldo Cruz Foundation, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, <sup>4</sup> Department of Research and Education, National Institute of Cardiology, Ministry of Health, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, <sup>5</sup> Graduate Program in Physical Activity Sciences, Salgado de Oliveira University, Niteroi, Brazil

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Hamdi Chtourou, University of Sfax, Tunisia

#### Reviewed by:

David Cristóbal Andrade, University of Antofagasta, Chile Cyrine H'Mida, University of Sfax, Tunisia Aletta Millen, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa

#### \*Correspondence:

Juliana Pereira Borges julipborges@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 24 March 2021 Accepted: 26 May 2021 Published: 15 July 2021

#### Citation:

Barros JP, de Paula T, Mediano MFF, Rangel MVdS, Monteiro W, Cunha FA, Farinatti P and Borges JP (2021) The Effects of Acute Aerobic Exercise on Blood Pressure, Arterial Function, and Heart Rate Variability in Men Living With HIV. Front. Physiol. 12:685306. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.685306 **Purpose:** This study aims to investigate the effects of acute cycling on blood pressure (BP), arterial function, and heart rate variability (HRV) in men living with HIV (MLHIV) using combined antiretroviral therapy (cART).

**Methods:** Twelve MLHIV (48.7 ± 9.2 years;  $25.2 \pm 2.8$  kg m<sup>-2</sup>) and 13 healthy controls (41.2 ± 9.9 years;  $26.3 \pm 2.9$  kg m<sup>-2</sup>) performed a cycling bout (ES) (intensity: 50% oxygen uptake reserve; duration: time to achieve 150 kcal—MLHIV: 24.1 ± 5.5 vs. controls:  $23.1 \pm 3.0$  min; p = 0.45), and a 20-min non-exercise session (NES).

**Results:** At rest (p < 0.05), MLHIV presented higher brachial systolic/diastolic BP (SBP/DBP: 123.2 ± 14.2/76.8 ± 6.3 vs. 114.3 ± 5.1/71.6 ± 2.6 mmHg) and central BP (cSBP/cDBP: 108.3 ± 9.3/76.5 ± 6.5 vs. 101.6 ± 4.9/71.3 ± 4.4 mmHg) vs. controls but lower absolute maximal oxygen uptake (2.1 ± 0.5 vs. 2.5 ± 0.3 L min<sup>-1</sup>) and HRV indices reflecting overall/vagal modulation (SDNN: 24.8 ± 7.1 vs. 42.9 ± 21.3 ms; rMSSD: 20.5 ± 8.5 vs. 38.1 ± 22.8 ms; pNN50: 3.6 ± 4.2 vs. 13.6 ± 11.3%). DBP postexercise lowered in controls vs. MLHIV (~4 mmHg, p < 0.001; ES: 0.6). Moreover, controls vs. MLHIV had greater reductions (p < 0.05) in augmentation index ( $-13.6 \pm 13.7$  vs.  $-3.1 \pm 7.2\%$  min<sup>-1</sup>; ES: 2.4), and HRV indices up to 5 min (rMSSD:  $-111.8 \pm 32.1$  vs.  $-75.9 \pm 22.2$  ms min<sup>-1</sup>; ES: 3.8; pNN50:  $-76.3 \pm 28.3$  vs.  $-19.0 \pm 13.7\%$  min<sup>-1</sup>; ES: 4.4). Within-group (ES vs. NES; p < 0.05) reductions occurred in controls for SBP (~10 mmHg, 2 h), DBP (~6 mmHg, 20, 30, and 70 min), cSBP (~9 mmHg, 30 min), cDBP (~7 mmHg, 30 and 70 min), augmentation index (~10%, 30 min), and pNN50 (~20%; up to 2 h), while in MLHIV only cSBP (~6 mmHg, 70 min) and cDBP (~4 mmHg, 30 min) decreased. Similar increases (up to 5 min)

20

in heart rate (~22 bpm) and decreases in SDNN (~18 ms) and rMSSD (~20 ms) occurred in both groups.

**Conclusion:** MLHIV under cART exhibited attenuated postexercise hypotension vs. healthy controls, which seemed to relate with impairments in vascular function.

Keywords: post-exercise hypotension, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM), heart rate variability (HRV), autonomic nervous system (ANS), health

## INTRODUCTION

The acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) caused by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a major public health issue. Up to 2020, 35 million people have died because of AIDS and 1.7 million were newly infected in 2019 (UNAIDS, 2020; World Health Organization, 2020). Although AIDS mortality has dramatically decreased since the introduction of combined antirretroviral therapy (cART), there is compelling evidence demonstrating that the HIV infection associated to prolonged cART increases the cardiovascular risk in people living with HIV (Feinstein et al., 2019).

On the other hand, it is well documented that regular physical exercise is capable of reducing cardiovascular risk and blood pressure levels (Pescatello et al., 2004a; Cornelissen and Fagard, 2005). The potential mechanisms of blood pressure decline due to exercise training seem to be linked to repeated reductions following single exercise bouts (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016), which is referred to as postexercise hypotension (PEH) (Kenney and Seals, 1993). Although the mechanisms underlying PEH are not fully understood, it is accepted that this phenomenon results from a persistent drop in systemic vascular resistance induced by neural and vascular factors, which is not completely offset by increases in cardiac output (Halliwill et al., 2013).

People living with HIV usually present impaired autonomic modulation at rest (Glück et al., 2000; Neild et al., 2000; Correia et al., 2006; Lebech et al., 2007; Compostella et al., 2008) and after exercise (Borges et al., 2012). In addition, endothelial dysfunction has been described in this population (Lopes et al., 2019), even in early stages of HIV infection (Bush et al., 2019), which predisposes to increased arterial stiffness (Ferraioli et al., 2011; Anand et al., 2018). It is therefore feasible to suppose that blood pressure responses to acute exercise might be altered in those patients. We could find a single trial investigating this issue (Domingues et al., 2018), which failed to identify PEH after resistance exercise in women living with HIV. However, in what extent a single bout of aerobic exercise might induce blood pressure reduction among these patients is uncertain. A better understanding on this matter would be relevant to provide insights into supporting therapies counteracting cardiovascular damages induced by HIV infection and cART.

Given this gap in the literature, we aimed to investigate the effects of acute aerobic cycling exercise on blood pressure, arterial function, and cardiac autonomic modulation in men living with HIV (MLHIV) vs. age-matched non-infected counterparts. We hypothesized that PEH would be more likely to occur in healthy controls than among MLHIV.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Ethical Approval**

All volunteers provided informed written consent before participation in the study, which complied with the recommendations laid on the Helsinki Declaration and gained approval from the Ethics Review Board of the Pedro Ernesto University Hospital (Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil, CCAE 87616418.2.0000.5259).

## Subjects

Twelve MLHIV [age:  $48.7 \pm 9.2$  years; body mass index (BMI):  $25.3 \pm 2.7$  kg m<sup>-2</sup>] followed up at a tertiary-care university hospital, and 13 men without HIV/AIDS (controls) (age:  $41.2 \pm 9.9$  years; BMI:  $26.3 \pm 2.9$  kg m<sup>-2</sup>) were randomly recruited from the staff of the same institution to participate in this study. Eligible MLHIV should have been diagnosed with HIV/AIDS (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1993) but should be asymptomatic and free from opportunist infections. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (a) use of cART for less than 6 months; (b) resting blood pressure  $\geq 140/90$  mmHg; (c) history of hypertension, coronary artery disease, ischemic disease, pulmonary disease, diabetes mellitus, Chagas disease, tuberculosis, or heart failure; (d) malnutrition; and (e) use of antidepressant or antihypertensive medication. Controls were screened for items b, c, d, and e.

## **Experimental Design**

The study was conducted during three visits to the laboratory, interspersed with 72-h intervals. Participants were instructed to avoid physical exercise in the 48 h and caffeine or alcohol in the 12 h prior to experimental sessions. All procedures took place at the same time of the day (7–8 a.m.) to minimize potential circadian effects on the outcomes, in a quiet temperature-controlled environment  $(21-22^{\circ}C)$ .

On the first visit, subjects underwent blood collection after 8 h fasting. After a light standardized breakfast, they were connected in supine position to an oxygen uptake  $(VO_2)$  analyzer. The cuff for blood pressure measurement and belt for heart rate monitoring were positioned on the participant's arm and chest, respectively. Brachial and central (aortic) blood pressure rates were measured after 30 min of rest, during which the heart rate variability (HRV) was assessed. Subsequently, a maximal cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) was performed.



On second and third visits, non-exercise and aerobic exercise sessions were performed in a random counterbalanced order. Initially, the experimental setup of the first visit was mounted, with participants remaining at rest for 10 min. HRV, brachial, and central blood pressure assessments were repeated. Aerobic exercise sessions consisted of pedaling on cycle ergometer at intensity corresponding to 50% of oxygen uptake reserve ( $VO_2R$ ). The exercise went until energy expenditure of 150 kcal. In the non-exercise sessions, participants remained seated for 20 min mimicking the duration of the aerobic bout. Immediately after the experimental sessions, brachial blood pressure (10, 20, 30, and 70 min), central blood pressure, augmentation index (AIx) (30 and 70 min), and HRV (each 60 s up to 5 min) were assessed in supine position throughout 70-min recovery. The ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM) and Holter ECG System devices were placed 2 h after the end of the experimental sessions and returned 16 h later (next morning). Figure 1 summarizes the timeline of assessments during exercise and non-exercise sessions.

# Resting VO<sub>2</sub> Assessment and Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing

Breath-by-breath pulmonary gas exchanges were determined using a VO2000 analyzer (Medical Graphics<sup>TM</sup>, Saint Louis, MO, United States). Data were 30-s stationary time averaged, which provided a good compromise between removing noise while maintaining the underlying trend (Midgley et al., 2007). Prior to each test, the gas analyzers were calibrated according to the manufacturer's instructions, using a certified standard mixture of oxygen (17.01%) and carbon dioxide (5.00%), balanced with nitrogen (AGA<sup>TM</sup>, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil). Ambient temperature and relative humidity ranged from 20 to 24°C and 50-70%, respectively. Resting and maximal VO2 were determined to calculate the percentage of VO<sub>2</sub>R, as described elsewhere (Fonseca et al., 2018; Cunha et al., 2020). The VO<sub>2</sub> at rest was assessed following strict recommendations (Compher et al., 2006). Maximal CPET was performed on an electronic braked cycle ergometer (Cateye EC-1600, Cateye<sup>TM</sup>, Tokyo, Japan), using a ramp protocol designed to elicit maximal volitional effort within 8-12 min (Cunha et al., 2015a). Tests were considered maximal in the presence of at least three of the five

following criteria (Howley et al., 1995): (a) maximum voluntary exhaustion; (b)  $\geq$ 95% predicted maximal heart rate (HR) (220 age) or presence of heart rate (HR) plateau ( $\Delta$ HR between two consecutive work rates  $\leq$  4 beats min<sup>-1</sup>); (c) presence of VO<sub>2</sub> plateau ( $\Delta$ VO<sub>2</sub> between two consecutive work rates < 2.1 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>); (d) respiratory exchange ratio > 1.1; and (e) score of 10 on the Borg CR -10 scale.

## Submaximal Exercise Bout

Cycling bouts were performed at an intensity corresponding to 50% VO<sub>2</sub>R. The absolute VO<sub>2</sub> corresponding to a given%VO<sub>2</sub>R was used to calculate the associated cycling power by applying the equation: VO<sub>2</sub> cycling =  $3.5 + 12.24 \times \text{power} \times \text{body}$ weight, where VO<sub>2</sub> is in milliliters per kilogram per minute, power is in Watts, and body weight is in kilograms (American College of Sports Medicine, 2018). Cycling cadence was kept at 65 rpm, and the power output was adjusted whenever necessary to maintain the target intensity. The energy expenditure was calculated individually from the VO<sub>2</sub> and VCO<sub>2</sub> in liters per minute, using the Weir equation: Energy expenditure in kcal =  $[(3.941 \times \text{average})]$  $VO_2$ ) + (1.106 × average  $VCO_2$ )] × exercise time in minutes (Weir, 1949). The exercise bouts were terminated when participants achieved a total energy expenditure of 150 kcal, which represents the minimum threshold per session recommended by the ACSM to promote health (American College of Sports Medicine, 2018).

## Outcomes

## Brachial Blood Pressure

At-office measurements of brachial blood pressure were performed in triplicate with 1-min intervals by the same trained professional, using a digital sphygmomanometer (Omron<sup>TM</sup>, HEM 7200, Matsusaka, Japan). ABPM was assessed on the non-dominant arm to obtain records from 2- to 18-h postinterventions (Welch Allyn model 6100, Poznań, Poland), every 20 min during daytime and every 30 min at night. Participants were instructed not to shower, perform physical exercise, or change their daily activities during the test, which was considered satisfactory when at least 70% of blood pressure readings were valid.

All participants were given a standardized activity diary to register any unusual physical or emotional events. Patients were also asked to record the sleep and wake times during the recording.

# Central (Aortic) Blood Pressure and Augmentation Index

Central blood pressure and AIx were assessed non-invasively by applanation tonometry, using the SphygmoCor System (AtCor Medical<sup>TM</sup>, Sydney, NSW, Australia). Radial artery waveforms were recorded from the radial artery at the wrist, and the sensor transmitting the pulse of the radial artery was placed over the radial artery for 10 s. The corresponding aortic waveforms were automatically generated from the radial artery waveform by a validated transfer function. The central blood pressure was computed from the radial artery pressure curve and calibrated with brachial blood pressure, as previously reported (Miyashita, 2012). Briefly, central augmentation pressure (AP) was calculated as the difference between the first and second systolic peaks on the central pressure waveform. The AIx-a measure of composite vascular function (Wilkinson et al., 1998, 2000; Ring et al., 2014)was calculated as AP divided by central pulse pressure  $\times$  100 to give a percentage. The quality of the recordings was assured by discarding all SphygmoCor recordings with an operator index below 90.

### Autonomic Modulation

Beat-to-beat HR was continuously recorded using a Polar RS800CX monitor (Polar Electro<sup>TM</sup>, Kempele, Finland), and signals were transferred to the Polar Precision Performance Software (Polar Electro, Kempele, Finland). After replacing the non-sinus beats by interpolated data derived from adjacent normal RR intervals, times series data were exported to a HRV analysis software (Kubios<sup>TM</sup> HRV software, Biosignal Analysis and Medical Imaging Group, University of Kuopio, Kuopio, Finland). A Holter ECG system (CardioLight Digital<sup>TM</sup>, Cardio Sistema Ltda, São Paulo, SP, Brazil) was used to obtain HRV between 2- and 18-h postinterventions, through the CardioSmart<sup>TM</sup> Institutional CS 550 software (Cardio Sistema Ltda, São Paulo, SP, Brazil).

In the present study, the following indices in time domain were assessed: standard deviation of the NN intervals (SDNN), square root of the mean squared successive differences from adjacent RR intervals (rMSSD), and percent number of pairs of adjacent RR intervals differing by more than 50 ms (pNN50). The SDNN reflects total variability, while rMSSD and pNN50 are estimates of short-term components of HRV reflecting the parasympathetic modulation (Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology, 1996). HR recording and HRV analysis were performed as previously recommended (Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology, 1996; Bourdillon et al., 2017; Shaffer and Ginsberg, 2017). All devices were installed by the same trained professional, and data were analyzed on a single computer.

## **Statistical Analysis**

A total of eight individuals in each group was estimated as necessary, according to sample size *a priori* calculations performed using the G\*Power<sup>TM</sup> 3.0.10 software (Kiel University, Kiel, Germany) considering 80% power, 5% significance level, and effect size of 0.44 based on acute exercise-induced change in blood pressure of -3.1 mmHg (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016). Data normality was ratified by Shapiro–Wilk statistics, and therefore data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

Differences between MLHIV and controls at baseline were tested by unpaired t-tests. Linear mixed models adjusted for baseline values were fitted to evaluate the effects of exercise on changes from baseline in MLHIV and controls. The following approaches were adopted: (a) withinbetween group analysis, with models including group, time, session (non-exercise or aerobic exercise) as fixed effects and group  $\times$  time  $\times$  session interaction (power: 60%); (b) within-group analysis, with models including time and session (non-exercise or aerobic exercise) as fixed effects, and time  $\times$  session interaction (power: 76%). The adjustment of models were evaluated based on Bosker/Snijders R-squared values (Recchia, 2010), and rate of changes between sessions was expressed by  $\beta$  coefficients. Additionally, Cohen's d effect sizes (ES) were calculated for significant differences between sessions.

Due to the probable insufficient statistical power of the three-way interaction model, between-group analysis was complemented by comparing the areas under the curves (AUCs) of exercise net effects [(post-pre-exercise session) - (post-pre-non-exercise session)] on outcomes in MLHIV and controls, using unpaired *t*-tests. In all cases, statistical analyses were performed using the Stata 13.0 software (StataCorp, College Station, TX, United States), and significance level was fixed at  $p \leq 0.05$ .

## RESULTS

# Baseline Sample Characteristics and Submaximal Exercise Bouts

Clinical, cardiovascular, and autonomic variables at rest are presented in **Table 1**. No difference was detected between groups for age, height, body mass, body mass index, abdominal circumference, LDL cholesterol, triglycerides, relative maximal VO<sub>2</sub>, HR at rest, and AIx. However, MLHIV presented higher glucose and lower absolute maximum VO<sub>2</sub>, total cholesterol, and HDL cholesterol than controls. As for cardiovascular and autonomic outcomes, MLHIV exhibited higher brachial and central blood pressure and lower SDNN, rMSSD, and pNN50 than controls. Moreover, 66% of patients were using nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, 66% non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, 41% protease inhibitors, and 25% integrase inhibitors.

**Table 2** depicts data for total duration, HR, and VO<sub>2</sub> elicited by the acute exercise bouts, which were similar between groups.

TABLE 1   Clinical, cardiovascular, and autonomic parameters at rest in controls	3
and men living with HIV (MLHIV).	

	Controls (n = 13)	MLHIV (n = 12)	p-value*
Clinical parameters			-
Age (years)	41.2 (9.9)	48.7 (9.2)	0.07
Height (cm)	177.9 (4.9)	178.6 (5.4)	0.75
Body mass (kg)	83.4 (11.9)	80.9 (11.2)	0.59
Body mass index (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	26.3 (2.9)	25.2 (2.8)	0.39
Abdominal circumference (cm)	90.1 (9.1)	92.3 (9.3)	0.60
Glucose (mg dl <sup>-1</sup> )	89.4 (9.8)	97.2 (6.2)	0.05
Total cholesterol (mg dl <sup>-1</sup> )	205.2 (34.7)	170.6 (28.7)	<0.01
LDL cholesterol (mg dl <sup>-1</sup> )	126.2 (29.1)	107.5 (28.9)	0.12
HDL cholesterol (mg dl <sup>_1</sup> )	52.5 (10.8)	37.5 (7.9)	<0.01
Triglycerides (mg dl <sup>-1</sup> )	132.6 (81.8)	180.5 (86.7)	0.17
Maximal oxygen uptake (L min <sup>-1</sup> )	2.5 (0.3)	2.1 (0.5)	0.03
Maximal oxygen uptake (ml kg <sup>-1</sup> min <sup>-1</sup> )	30.4 (6.1)	26.4 (4.3)	0.07
Years diagnosed with HIV	-	17.3 (6.6)	-
Years taking cART	-	17.1 (7.4)	-
T CD4 (cell mm <sup>-3</sup> )	-	683.6 (271.7)	-
T CD8 (cell mm <sup>-3</sup> )	-	857.2 (419.8)	-
Undetectable viral load (n, %)	_	12 (100)	-
Cardiovascular and	d autonomic parame	ters	
Heart rate (bpm)	64.9 (8.8)	71.2 (12.5)	0.15
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	114.3 (5.1)	123.2 (14.2)	0.04
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	71.6 (2.6)	76.8 (6.3)	0.01
Central systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	101.6 (4.9)	108.3 (9.3)	0.03
Central diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	71.3 (4.4)	76.5 (6.5)	0.03
Augmentation index (%)	14.3 (10.7)	15.2 (12.3)	0.85
SDNN (ms)	42.9 (21.3)	24.8 (7.1)	0.01
rMSSD (ms)	38.1 (22.8)	20.5 (8.5)	0.02
pNN50 (%)	13.6 (11.3)	3.6 (4.2)	0.01

\*Student t-test. Data expressed as mean (SD). cART, combined antiretroviral therapy; SDNN, standard deviation of normal to normal intervals; rMSSD, root mean square of successive differences between normal intervals; pNN50, percentage of differences between adjacent normal intervals. p-values in bold denote statistical significant differences.

# Acute Effects of Submaximal Aerobic Exercise

Residual plots for all models were visually examined and did not demonstrate deviations from the regression assumptions. As 
 TABLE 2 | Characteristics of submaximal exercise session in controls and men

 living with HIV (MLHIV).

	Controls (n = 13)	MLHIV (n = 12)	p-value*
Duration (min)	23.2 (3.1)	24.9 (5.6)	0.45
Heart rate (bpm)	122.7 (10.2)	125.3 (14.4)	0.61
Oxygen uptake (% reserve)	53.2 (3.9)	55.7 (4.9)	0.19

\*Student t-test. Data expressed as mean (SD).

expected, the linear model including group as fixed effect (threeway interaction) lacked significance for all outcomes ( $p \ge 0.08$ ), while the approach including time and session proved to be significant ( $p \le 0.03$ ). Bosker/Snijders *R*-squared for withingroup models discriminated by outcome were always nonnegative (controls: 0.13–0.85; MLHIV: 0.45–0.96), indicating low chances of misspecification giving the explanatory variables added to the models. Detailed *R*-squared data per outcome and group are presented in **Supplementary Table 1**.

#### **Brachial Blood Pressure**

Resting blood pressure measured on the first visit and before the experimental conditions (exercise and non-exercise) was similar in controls (114.3/71.6 vs. 112.3/69.9 vs. 112.9/71.4 mmHg, respectively; p > 0.38) and MLHIV (123.2/76.8 vs. 121.2/75.5 vs. 121.1/76.0 mmHg, respectively; p > 0.59). Figure 2 presents absolute values of at-office and ambulatory brachial blood pressure after the experimental sessions in controls (Figure 2A) and MLHIV (Figure 2B), and exercise net effects on systolic blood pressure (SBP, Figure 2C) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP, Figure 2D). In both groups, no difference between sessions was detected for SBP, except for controls that presented lower values 2 h postexercise vs. non-exercise sessions (123.6  $\pm$  9.3 vs.  $132.7 \pm 8.7$  mmHg;  $\beta = -9.73$ ; 95% CI = -18.6 to -0.8; p = 0.03; ES: 1.5). Controls showed lower DBP after 20 min (115.2  $\pm$  4.0 vs. 118.3  $\pm$  8.0 mmHg;  $\beta = -6.69$ ; 95% CI = -11.4 to -1.9; p < 0.01; ES: 0.55), 30 min (115.4  $\pm$  5.0 vs. 118.0  $\pm$  8.6 mmHg;  $\beta = -5.84$ ; 95% CI = -10.5 to -1.1; *p* = 0.01; ES: 0.80), and 70 min  $(115.6 \pm 9.5 \text{ vs.} 118.6 \pm 10.1 \text{ mmHg}; \beta = -6.53; 95\% \text{ CI} = -11.2$ to -1.7; p < 0.01; ES: 1.3) after exercise vs. non-exercise sessions, while no difference was detected for MLHIV.

There was no difference between controls and MLHIV with regard to AUCs of exercise net effects on SBP (**Figure 2C**) (overall:  $-11.3 \pm 23.0$  vs.  $-4.5 \pm 12.8$  mmHg min<sup>-1</sup>; p = 0.37). On the other hand, greater reductions in DBP (**Figure 2D**) were found in controls vs. MLHIV along the first 70 min of recovery ( $-19.6 \pm 12.5$  vs.  $-5.0 \pm 7.0$  mmHg min<sup>-1</sup>; p < 0.01; ES: 0.7), ABPM ( $-16.0 \pm 18.1$  vs.  $7.6 \pm 6.8$  mmHg min<sup>-1</sup>; p < 0.001; ES: 0.4), and total follow-up ( $-42.8 \pm 22.8$  vs.  $0.9 \pm 11.3$  mmHg min<sup>-1</sup>; p < 0.0001; ES: 0.6). This corresponded to an overall average difference of -4 mmHg between groups.

#### **Central Blood Pressure and Augmentation Index**

**Figure 3** depicts absolute values and exercise net effects on central (aortic) blood pressure (**Figures 3A–F**) and AIx (**Figures 3G–I**) in controls and MLHIV. In the within-group analysis, controls had lower cSBP at 30 min (100.8  $\pm$  4.3 vs. 108.4  $\pm$  13.6 mmHg;  $\beta$  = -8.21; 95% CI = -15.6 to -0.7; *p* = 0.03; ES: 0.7), and lower



**FIGURE 2** Blood pressure after submaximal exercise or non-exercise sessions in controls (A) and men living with HIV (B) and exercise net effects on systolic (C) and diastolic (D) blood pressure. SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure. \*p < 0.05 for changes from baseline (exercise vs. non-exercise session) using linear mixed models. #p < 0.05 for differences between areas under the curves of controls vs. MLHIV.

cDBP at 30 min (72.5 ± 3.3 vs. 78, 8 ± 9.0 mmHg;  $\beta = -7.58$ ; 95% CI = -12.6 to -2.4; p < 0.01; ES: 0.8), and 70 min (72.6 ± 6.8 vs. 77.5 ± 6.3 mmHg;  $\beta = -6.18$ ; 95% CI = -11.2 to -1.0; p = 0.01; ES: 2.0) after exercise vs. non-exercise sessions. In MLHIV, reductions in postexercise vs. non-exercise sessions were detected for cSBP at 70 min (116.7 ± 11.1 vs. 113.9 ± 9.4 mmHg;  $\beta = -6.53$ ; 95% CI = -12.6 to -0.3; p = 0.03; ES: 0.3) and cDBP at 30 min (78.3 ± 8.1 vs. 82.5 ± 7.7 mmHg;  $\beta = -4.20$ ; 95% CI = -7.6 to -0.7; p = 0.01; ES: 0.95). Lower AIx was found for controls at 30 min postexercise vs. non-exercise sessions (4.7 ± 14.7 vs. 15.7 ± 13.1%;  $\beta = -10.53$ ; 95% CI = -18.9 to -2.0; p = 0.01; ES: 1.0), while no difference between sessions occurred for MLHIV.

No statistical difference between controls and MLHIV occurred for AUCs of exercise net effects on cSBP ( $-12.5 \pm 15.7$  vs.  $-6.5 \pm 7.8$  mmHg min<sup>-1</sup>; p = 0.24) and cDBP ( $-10.7 \pm 9.0$  vs.  $-5.0 \pm 4.9$  mmHg min<sup>-1</sup>; p = 0.06). On the other hand, the AIx reduction was greater in controls vs. MLHIV ( $-13.6 \pm 13.7$  vs.  $-3.1 \pm 7.2\%$  min<sup>-1</sup>; p = 0.02; ES: 2.4).

#### Heart Rate and Heart Rate Variability

**Figure 4** shows HR and HRV data from baseline up to 5 min (300 s) following the experimental sessions. Both groups presented higher HR and lower SDNN and rMSSD in all time

points after exercise vs. non-exercise sessions, but only controls exhibited lower pNN50. **Figure 5** presents absolute values for HR and HRV between 2 and 18 h after the experimental conditions. In both groups, HR, SDNN, and rMSSD were similar in exercise and non-exercise sessions. The only exception was the lower pNN50 in controls vs. MLHIV after 2 h postexercise vs. non-exercise sessions (14.5  $\pm$  7.2 vs. 17.9  $\pm$  9.4%;  $\beta$  = -11.27; 95% CI = -20.5 to -1.9; *p* = 0.01; ES: 0.4).

Exercise net effects for HR and HRV are presented in **Figure 6**. Comparisons of AUCs in the first 300 s revealed that controls had greater reductions vs. MLHIV in rMSSD (-111.8  $\pm$  32.1 vs. -75.9  $\pm$  22.2 ms min<sup>-1</sup>; p < 0.01; ES: 3.8) and pNN50 (-76.3  $\pm$  28.3 vs. -19.0  $\pm$  13.7% min<sup>-1</sup>; p < 0.0001; ES: 4.4). On the other hand, the Holter analysis showed greater rMSDD reduction postexercise in MLHIV than controls (-45.7  $\pm$  26.1 vs. -13.6  $\pm$  24.5 ms min<sup>-1</sup>; p < 0.01; ES: 0.7).

## DISCUSSION

The present study compared the blood pressure, vascular function, and cardiac autonomic modulation after exercise and non-exercise sessions in MLHIV and non-infected controls. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first controlled trial



controls vs. MLHIV.

describing cardiovascular responses to acute aerobic exercise in MLHIV, since prior studies addressing vascular function in these patients reported only data at rest (Leite et al., 2017). The major finding was that PEH was attenuated in MLHIV vs. healthy controls—while reductions after exercise have been detected in brachial diastolic blood pressure in controls, changes did not occur in MLHIV. Postexercise decreases in AIx and HRV markers reflecting vagal modulation were also greater in controls vs. MLHIV.

Our data concur with a prior study (Domingues et al., 2018) that failed to identify PEH after resistance exercise in women living with HIV. In that study, five responders out of 12 patients (decreases in SBP > 4 mmHg) had lower CD4/CD8 ratio and used cART for shorter periods. This suggests that the attenuated PEH presently observed in MLHIV might have been influenced by the prolonged use of cART. The average blood pressure reduction in the first 2 h of postexercise recovery was approximately 3.0/4.5 mmHg (SBP/DBP) in controls, which is consistent with values reported for individuals with normal

blood pressure (~4.5/2.6 mmHg) (Perrier-Melo et al., 2020) and higher than decreases in MLHIV (~0/1 mmHg). Prior research has suggested that the length and magnitude of postexercise hypotension may be influenced by exercise session characteristics, such as duration, intensity, or volume (Brito et al., 2018; Fonseca et al., 2018). Therefore, at least in theory, longer (>25 min) and more intense (>50% of VO<sub>2</sub>R) exercise would elicit greater hypotensive responses (de Brito et al., 2019). Our exercise protocol was defined based on recommendations from the ACSM for minimum energy expenditure during healthoriented exercise sessions (American College of Sports Medicine, 2018). Nevertheless, from a clinical perspective, epidemiological studies indicate that a decrease of 2 to 5 mmHg in SBP could reduce the mortality due to cardiovascular causes by 6–14% (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016).

An important aspect of our study is the inclusion of a nonexercise session to control time effects on blood pressure (de Brito et al., 2019). Due to the circadian variation, blood pressure increases progressively in the morning before showing a decrease











(Hermida et al., 2007). This is consistent with our data from nonexercise sessions in both groups. Apparently, the exercise session lowered this circadian effect on blood pressure in controls, as previously reported (Cucato et al., 2015; de Brito et al., 2015; Queiroz et al., 2017). It is also worth mentioning that the exercise bouts have been matched for the overall energy expenditure, therefore negating the influence of exercise volume on the magnitude and duration of acute blood pressure reduction (Jones et al., 2007; Fonseca et al., 2018). This strategy resulted from the premise that central baroreflex plays an important role in eliciting PEH. During exercise, vascular smooth muscle (myogenic tone) (Phan et al., 2021) and muscle afferent fibers (exercise pressor reflex) contribute to reset the blood pressure to a higher level (Halliwill et al., 2013). When exercise is terminated, a decrease in sympathetic activity resets the baroreflex to a lower level, contributing to the acute blood pressure reduction (Chen and Bonham, 2010; Halliwill et al., 2013). A greater amount of muscle work-in other words, exercise volume-increases the exercise pressor response (Halliwill et al., 2013). Thus, it is feasible to speculate that the exercise volume would be a major determinant of the PEH phenomenon.

Several studies investigating PEH did not match exercise sessions performed with different intensity for the total amount of work (Forjaz et al., 2004; Pescatello et al., 2004b; Eicher et al., 2010; Casonatto et al., 2011), and this helps on explaining why one of them failed to detect hypotensive responses (Casonatto et al., 2011), while others claimed that intensity would be more determinant than duration to produce PEH (Forjaz et al., 2004; Pescatello et al., 2004b; Eicher et al., 2010). Trials assessing the blood pressure after acute aerobic exercise bouts performed with different intensities, but similar volume (energy expenditure, time  $\times$  intensity, etc.) have consistently reported similar hypotensive effects (Jones et al., 2007; Fonseca et al., 2018; Cunha et al., 2020).

It is well accepted that PEH is more likely to occur in individuals with high than normal blood pressure (Brito et al., 2014). However, although MLHIV presented higher brachial and central blood pressure at rest than controls, in both groups, those outcomes felt within the normal range (Reboussin et al., 2018). According to the American Heart Association, studies are inconsistent on whether the prevalence of hypertension is higher in patients with treated HIV vs. uninfected individuals (Feinstein et al., 2019). However, less controversial is the association between HIV infection and autonomic dysfunction—the accumulated evidence suggests a shift toward sympathetic dominance (McIntosh, 2016), which concurs with our data.

Besides predisposing patients to higher cardiovascular risk (McIntosh, 2016), autonomic dysfunction also seem to influence parasympathetic reactivation after exercise (Cunha et al., 2015b). In this sense, Cunha et al. (2015b) reported that individuals with lower vagal modulation at rest tend to exhibit slower postexercise parasympathetic reactivation. We could not confirm a delayed vagal reactivation and sympathetic withdrawal within 5 min of recovery after the exercise performed by MLHIV, but rather an attenuated vagal withdrawal. Borges et al. (2012) observed that people living with HIV exhibited lower vagal modulation during the first 30 min of postexercise recovery in comparison with healthy controls. However, since

the vagal modulation at rest was already different between groups, and no data have been provided demonstrating in what extent vagal modulation was reactivated in comparison with baseline, assumptions on how fast vagal reactivation and sympathetic withdrawal occurred after exercise could not be made. Our results indicate that the time course of autonomic responses during recovery did not affect the effects of acute exercise on blood pressure. However, the contribution of autonomic dysfunction in precluding the occurrence of PEH among MLHIV cannot be discarded, since only the parasympathetic modulation has been indirectly assessed. Further research is warranted to confirm these findings, including direct assessments of both sympathetic and parasympathetic activities.

The role of changes in cardiac autonomic control to produce PEH remains controversial even among uninfected individuals. While some studies reported a reduction in sympathetic activity associated with increased vagal activity (Park et al., 2006), others reported no changes (Park et al., 2008; Anunciacao et al., 2016) or observed increased sympathetic activity (Teixeira et al., 2011; Cunha et al., 2016). It has been suggested that an increase in sympathetic outflow concomitant to PEH would be a reflex response to counteract the reduction in blood pressure and the baroreflex resetting (MacDonald, 2002). Our findings partially concur with this premise, since during postexercise recovery the HR was higher and indices reflecting vagal modulation were lower vs. pre-exercise in both MLHIV and controls. Moreover, the greater decrease in DBP was concomitant with lower RMSSD and pNN50 in controls vs. MLHIV. It is therefore feasible to speculate that PEH among controls was not mediated by increased vagal activity (or by opposition, lowered sympathetic activity). In this case, the hypotensive response to exercise would rely on the ability of local vasodilator mechanisms to override the effects of sympathetic activation (Fonseca et al., 2018). This is again in agreement with our results in regards to AIx. Acute reductions in sympathetic vasoconstrictor activity have been reported in exercising muscles (i.e., functional sympatholysis) (Moynes et al., 2013). This phenomenon is thought to be mediated by locally released substances that modulate the effect of noradrenaline on  $\alpha$ -receptors, such as histamine, opioids, nitric oxide, prostaglandins, or ATP (Halliwill, 2001), which are yet to be properly assessed in MLHIV.

There is strong accumulated evidence indicating a decrease in arterial stiffness following acute aerobic exercise (Mutter et al., 2017; Pierce et al., 2018). Arterial stiffness depends on several factors, such as endothelial function, smooth muscular vascular tone, and structural features (Martinez-Ayala et al., 2020). It has been proposed that a relaxation of vascular smooth muscle transfers stress from the less extensive collagen fibers to elastin, which could partially account for decreases in arterial stiffness after exercise (Mutter et al., 2017). Evidence demonstrates that changes in immune activity due to HIV infection may increase the pulse wave velocity (Boccara et al., 2006; Rider et al., 2014), disrupting the activity of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMPs) (Misse et al., 2001) and degrading collagen, elastin, laminin, and fibrillin within the arterial wall (Martinez-Ayala et al., 2020). The consequent increasing in vascular resistance limits the

vasodilation response during exercise. Accordingly, in the present study, greater postexercise reduction in AIx was found in controls vs. MLHIV. This is suggestive that vascular mechanisms could partially explain the PEH detected in controls, but not in MLHIV.

The major limitation of the present study was the lack of data regarding additional hemodynamic outcomes (e.g., stroke volume, cardiac output, and peripheral resistance), which precluded further analysis on whether the attenuated PEH in MLHIV resulted from central or peripheral mechanisms. Second, despite being compatible with health-oriented exercise prescription (American College of Sports Medicine, 2018), the exercise bout was of relatively short duration and moderate intensity, which limits the generalization of our findings to exercise settings with greater volume (vigorous intensity and/or longer duration). Another important feature refers to the relatively small sample of men only. The small sample probably contributed to the lack of significance of the linear mixed model including "group" as fixed effect, which would be the optimal approach. The exclusive participation of men in the study limits its external validity. However, the inclusion of women might introduce a confounding factor due to differences in sex hormones affecting the autonomic nervous system and blood pressure responses to acute exercise (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016).

## CONCLUSION

An aerobic cycling bout performed with moderate intensity and relatively short duration seemed to be capable to induce PEH in non-infected controls, but not in MLHIV using cART. Although MLHIV presented autonomic dysfunction at rest, no evidence was found of delayed vagal reactivation and sympathetic withdrawal within 5 min after exercise in this group. The acute reduction in DBP among controls was concomitant with greater postexercise decreases in HRV indices reflecting vagal modulation vs. MLHIV. Although no changes between groups were detected for central blood pressure, controls exhibited greater reductions in AIx after exercise than MLHIV.

Overall, these data are indicative of the role of vascular responses to produce PEH, and that the attenuated postexercise blood pressure reduction in MLHIV may have resulted from vascular dysfunction limiting vasodilation. In practical terms, our findings suggest that aerobic exercise sessions with appropriate volume may contribute to reduce blood pressure and cardiovascular risk in MLHIV. However, further studies investigating the effects of acute exercise performed with different intensities and durations on cardiovascular responses in people living with HIV under cART are warranted, to provide information to optimize exercise prescription aiming to reduce blood pressure, improve autonomic control, and prevent vascular dysfunction in those patients.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Review Board of the Pedro Ernesto University Hospital/Rio de Janeiro State University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JBa, TP, WM, FC, PF, and JBo were involved in the conception and design of the research. JBa, TP, and MR collected the data. JBo and MM analyzed the data. JBa, JBo, and PF drafted the manuscript. All authors revised, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- American College of Sports Medicine (2018). ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer.
- Anand, A. R., Rachel, G., and Parthasarathy, D. (2018). HIV Proteins and Endothelial Dysfunction: Implications in Cardiovascular Disease. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:185. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00185
- Anunciacao, P. G., Farinatti, P. T., Goessler, K. F., Casonatto, J., and Polito, M. D. (2016). Blood pressure and autonomic responses following isolated and combined aerobic and resistance exercise in hypertensive older women. *Clin. Exp. Hypertens.* 38, 710–714. doi: 10.1080/10641963.2016.1200601
- Boccara, F., Simon, T., Lacombe, K., Cohen, A., Laloux, B., Bozec, E., et al. (2006). Influence of pravastatin on carotid artery structure and function in dyslipidemic HIV-infected patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS* 20, 2395–2398. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32801120e3
- Borges, J., Soares, P., and Farinatti, P. (2012). Autonomic modulation following exercise is impaired in HIV patients. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 33, 320–324. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1297954
- Bourdillon, N., Schmitt, L., Yazdani, S., Vesin, J. M., and Millet, G. P. (2017). Minimal Window Duration for Accurate HRV Recording in Athletes. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:456. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00456
- Brito, L. C., Fecchio, R. Y., Pecanha, T., Andrade-Lima, A., Halliwill, J. R., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2018). Postexercise hypotension as a clinical tool: a "single brick" in the wall. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens 12, e59–e64. doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2018. 10.006
- Brito, L. C., Queiroz, A. C., and Forjaz, C. L. (2014). Influence of population and exercise protocol characteristics on hemodynamic determinants of post-aerobic exercise hypotension. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 47, 626–636. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20143832
- Bush, K. N. V., Teel, J. L., Watts, J. A., Gore, R. S., Alvarado, G., Harper, N. L., et al. (2019). Association of Endothelial Dysfunction and Antiretroviral Therapy in Early HIV Infection. *JAMA Netw. Open* 2:e1913615. doi: 10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2019.13615
- Carpio-Rivera, E., Moncada-Jimenez, J., Salazar-Rojas, W., and Solera-Herrera, A. (2016). Acute Effects of Exercise on Blood Pressure: A Meta-Analytic Investigation. Arq. Bras. Cardiol. 106, 422–433. doi: 10.5935/abc.201 60064
- Casonatto, J., Tinucci, T., Dourado, A. C., and Polito, M. (2011). Cardiovascular and autonomic responses after exercise sessions with different intensities and durations. *Clinics* 66, 453–458. doi: 10.1590/s1807-59322011000300016
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (1993). 1993 revised classification system for HIV infection and expanded surveillance case definition for AIDS among adolescents and adults. *JAMA* 269:460.
- Chen, C. Y., and Bonham, A. C. (2010). Postexercise hypotension: central mechanisms. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 38, 122–127. doi: 10.1097/JES. 0b013e3181e372b5

## **FUNDING**

This work was partially supported by the Brazilian Council for Technological and Scientific Development (CNPq) under Grant 303629/2019-3 (recipient PF) and Carlos Chagas Filho Foundation for Research Support in the State of Rio de Janeiro (FAPERJ) under grants E-26/202.880/2017 (recipient PF), E-26/202.720/2019, E-26/010.001791/2016, and E-26/010.100935/2018 (recipient JBo).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2021.685306/full#supplementary-material

- Compher, C., Frankenfield, D., Keim, N., Roth-Yousey, L., Evidence Analysis, and Working, G. (2006). Best practice methods to apply to measurement of resting metabolic rate in adults: a systematic review. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 106, 881–903. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2006.02.009
- Compostella, C., Compostella, L., and D'Elia, R. (2008). The symptoms of autonomic dysfunction in HIV-positive Africans. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 18, 6–12. doi: 10.1007/s10286-007-0451-y
- Cornelissen, V. A., and Fagard, R. H. (2005). Effects of endurance training on blood pressure, blood pressure-regulating mechanisms, and cardiovascular risk factors. *Hypertension* 46, 667–675.
- Correia, D., Rodrigues, De Resende, L. A., Molina, R. J., Ferreira, B. D., Colombari, F., et al. (2006). Power spectral analysis of heart rate variability in HIV-infected and AIDS patients. *Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol.* 29, 53–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8159.2006.00297.x
- Cucato, G. G., Chehuen Mda, R., Ritti-Dias, R. M., Carvalho, C. R., Wolosker, N., Saxton, J. M., et al. (2015). Post-walking exercise hypotension in patients with intermittent claudication. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 47, 460–467. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.000000000000450
- Cunha, F., Midgley, A. W., Pescatello, L., Soares, P. P., and Farinatti, P. (2016). Acute Hypotensive Response to Continuous and Accumulated Isocaloric Aerobic Bouts. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 37, 855–862. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-1 04197
- Cunha, F. A., Farinatti, P., Jones, H., and Midgley, A. W. (2020). Postexercise hypotension and related hemodynamic responses to cycling under heat stress in untrained men with elevated blood pressure. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 120, 1001–1013. doi: 10.1007/s00421-020-04340-6
- Cunha, F. A., Midgley, A., Montenegro, R., Vasconcellos, F., and Farinatti, P. (2015a). Utility of a Non-Exercise VO2max Prediction Model for Designing Ramp Test Protocols. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 36, 796–802. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1395590
- Cunha, F. A., Midgley, A. W., Goncalves, T., Soares, P. P., and Farinatti, P. (2015b). Parasympathetic reactivation after maximal CPET depends on exercise modality and resting vagal activity in healthy men. *Springerplus* 4:100. doi: 10.1186/s40064-015-0882-1
- de Brito, L. C., Fecchio, R. Y., Pecanha, T., Lima, A., Halliwill, J., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2019). Recommendations in Post-exercise Hypotension: Concerns. *Best Pract. Interpret. Int. J. Sports Med.* 40, 487–497. doi: 10.1055/a-0938-4415
- de Brito, L. C., Rezende, R. A., da Silva, Junior, N. D., Tinucci, T., Casarini, D. E., et al. (2015). Post-Exercise Hypotension and Its Mechanisms Differ after Morning and Evening Exercise: A Randomized Crossover Study. *PLoS One* 10:e0132458. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132458
- Domingues, W. J. R., Nogueira, V. C., de Souza, D. C., Germano-Soares, A. H., Ritti-Dias, R., and Avelar, A. (2018). Blood pressure responses after resistance exercise session in women living with human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *J. Exerc. Rehabil.* 14, 688–693. doi: 10.12965/jer. 1836212.106

- Eicher, J. D., Maresh, C. M., Tsongalis, G. J., Thompson, P. D., and Pescatello, L. S. (2010). The additive blood pressure lowering effects of exercise intensity on post-exercise hypotension. *Am. Heart J.* 160, 513–520. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010. 06.005
- Feinstein, M. J., Hsue, P. Y., Benjamin, L. A., Bloomfield, G. S., Currier, J. S., Freiberg, M. S., et al. (2019). Characteristics, Prevention, and Management of Cardiovascular Disease in People Living With HIV: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 140, e98–e124. doi: 10.1161/CIR. 000000000000695
- Ferraioli, G., Tinelli, C., Maggi, P., Gervasoni, C., Grima, P., Viskovic, K., et al. (2011). Arterial stiffness evaluation in HIV-positive patients: a multicenter matched control study. AJR Am. J. Roentgenol. 197, 1258–1262. doi: 10.2214/ ajr.11.6712
- Fonseca, G. F., Farinatti, P. T. V., Midgley, A. W., Ferreira, A., de Paula, T., Monteiro, W. D., et al. (2018). Continuous and Accumulated Bouts of Cycling Matched by Intensity and Energy Expenditure Elicit Similar Acute Blood Pressure Reductions in Prehypertensive Men. J. Strength Cond. Res. 32, 857– 866. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002317
- Forjaz, C. L., Cardoso, C. G. Jr., Rezk, C. C., Santaella, D. F., and Tinucci, T. (2004). Postexercise hypotension and hemodynamics: the role of exercise intensity. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 44, 54–62.
- Glück, T., Degenhardt, E., Schölmerich, J., Lang, B., Grossmann, J., and Straub, R. H. (2000). Autonomic neuropathy in patients with HIV: course, impact of disease stage, and medication. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 10, 17–22. doi: 10.1007/ bf02291385
- Halliwill, J. R. (2001). Mechanisms and clinical implications of post-exercise hypotension in humans. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 29, 65–70. doi: 10.1097/00003677-200104000-00005
- Halliwill, J. R., Buck, T. M., Lacewell, A. N., and Romero, S. A. (2013). Postexercise hypotension and sustained postexercise vasodilatation: what happens after we exercise? *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 7–18. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2011.058065
- Hermida, R. C., Ayala, D. E., and Portaluppi, F. (2007). Circadian variation of blood pressure: the basis for the chronotherapy of hypertension. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 59, 904–922. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2006.08.003
- Howley, E. T., Bassett, D. R. Jr., and Welch, H. G. (1995). Criteria for maximal oxygen uptake: review and commentary. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 27, 1292–1301.
- Jones, H., George, K., Edwards, B., and Atkinson, G. (2007). Is the magnitude of acute post-exercise hypotension mediated by exercise intensity or total work done? *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 102, 33–40. doi: 10.1007/s00421-007-0562-0
- Kenney, M. J., and Seals, D. R. (1993). Postexercise hypotension. Key features, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *Hypertension* 22, 653–664. doi: 10.1161/ 01.hyp.22.5.653
- Lebech, A. M., Kristoffersen, U. S., Mehlsen, J., Wiinberg, N., Petersen, C. L., Hesse, B., et al. (2007). Autonomic dysfunction in HIV patients on antiretroviral therapy: studies of heart rate variability. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 27, 363–367. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-097X.2007.00760.x
- Leite, L. H. M., Cohen, A., and Boccara, F. (2017). HIV infection and aortic stiffness. Arch. Cardiovasc. Dis. 110, 495–502. doi: 10.1016/j.acvd.2017.03.001
- Lopes, G. O., Farinatti, P., Lopes, K. G., Medeiros-Lima, D. J., Matsuura, C., Oliveira, R. B., et al. (2019). Increased vascular function and superoxide dismutase activity in physically active vs inactive adults living with HIV. Scand J Med Sci Sports 29, 25–33. doi: 10.1111/sms.13312
- MacDonald, J. R. (2002). Potential causes, mechanisms, and implications of post exercise hypotension. J. Hum. Hypertens 16, 225–236. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh. 1001377
- Martinez-Ayala, P., Alanis-Sanchez, G. A., Gonzalez-Hernandez, L. A., Alvarez-Zavala, M., Cabrera-Silva, R. I., Andrade-Villanueva, J. F., et al. (2020). Aortic stiffness and central hemodynamics in treatment-naive HIV infection: a crosssectional study. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord* 20:440. doi: 10.1186/s12872-020-01722-8
- McIntosh, R. C. (2016). A meta-analysis of HIV and heart rate variability in the era of antiretroviral therapy. *Clin Auton Res* 26, 287–294. doi: 10.1007/s10286-016-0366-6
- Midgley, A. W., McNaughton, L. R., and Carroll, S. (2007). Effect of the VO2 time-averaging interval on the reproducibility of VO2max in healthy athletic subjects. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 27, 122–125. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-097X. 2007.00725.x

- Misse, D., Esteve, P. O., Renneboog, B., Vidal, M., Cerutti, M., St Pierre, Y., et al. (2001). HIV-1 glycoprotein 120 induces the MMP-9 cytopathogenic factor production that is abolished by inhibition of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *Blood* 98, 541–547. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.3.541
- Miyashita, H. (2012). Clinical Assessment of Central Blood Pressure. Curr. Hypertens Rev. 8, 80–90. doi: 10.2174/157340212800840708
- Moynes, J., Bentley, R. F., Bravo, M., Kellawan, J. M., and Tschakovsky, M. E. (2013). Persistence of functional sympatholysis post-exercise in human skeletal muscle. *Front. Physiol.* 4:131. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00131
- Mutter, A. F., Cooke, A. B., Saleh, O., Gomez, Y. H., and Daskalopoulou, S. S. (2017). A systematic review on the effect of acute aerobic exercise on arterial stiffness reveals a differential response in the upper and lower arterial segments. *Hypertens Res.* 40, 146–172. doi: 10.1038/hr.2016.111
- Neild, P. J., Amadi, A., Ponikowski, P., Coats, A. J., and Gazzard, B. G. (2000). Cardiac autonomic dysfunction in AIDS is not secondary to heart failure. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 74, 133–137. doi: 10.1016/s0167-5273(00)00232-1
- Park, S., Rink, L., and Wallace, J. (2008). Accumulation of physical activity: blood pressure reduction between 10-min walking sessions. J. Hum. Hypertens 22, 475–482. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2008.29
- Park, S., Rink, L. D., and Wallace, J. P. (2006). Accumulation of physical activity leads to a greater blood pressure reduction than a single continuous session, in prehypertension. *J. Hypertens* 24, 1761–1770. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000242400. 37967.54
- Perrier-Melo, R. J., Costa, E. C., Farah, B. Q., and Costa, M. D. C. (2020). Acute Effect of Interval vs. Continuous Exercise on Blood Pressure: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arq. Bras. Cardiol. 115, 5–14. doi: 10.36660/abc.201 90107
- Pescatello, L. S., Franklin, B. A., Fagard, R., Farquhar, W. B., Kelley, G. A., and Ray, C. A. (2004a). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and hypertension. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 36, 533–553. doi: 10.1249/01.mss. 0000115224.88514.3a
- Pescatello, L. S., Guidry, M. A., Blanchard, B. E., Kerr, A., Taylor, A. L., Johnson, A. N., et al. (2004b). Exercise intensity alters postexercise hypotension. *J. Hypertens* 22, 1881–1888. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200410000-00009
- Phan, T. X., Ton, H. T., Gulyás, H., Pórszász, R., Tóth, A., Russo, R., et al. (2021). TRPV1 in arteries enables a rapid myogenic tone. *BioRxiv* 2021:432719. doi: 10.1101/2021.02.25.432719
- Pierce, D. R., Doma, K., and Leicht, A. S. (2018). Acute Effects of Exercise Mode on Arterial Stiffness and Wave Reflection in Healthy Young Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front. Physiol.* 9:73. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018. 00073
- Queiroz, A. C., Sousa, J. C. Jr., Silva, N. D. Jr., Tobaldini, E., Ortega, K. C., de Oliveira, E. M., et al. (2017). Captopril does not Potentiate Post-Exercise Hypotension: A Randomized Crossover Study. *Int J Sports Med* 38, 270–277. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-123044
- Reboussin, D. M., Allen, N. B., Griswold, M. E., Guallar, E., Hong, Y., Lackland, D. T., et al. (2018). Systematic Review for the 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA
- Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Circulation* 138, e595–e616. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000 00601
- Recchia, A. (2010). R-Squared Measures for Two-Level Hierarchical Linear Models Using SAS. J. Stat. Softw. 32, 1–9.
- Rider, O. J., Asaad, M., Ntusi, N., Wainwright, E., Clutton, G., Hancock, G., et al. (2014). HIV is an independent predictor of aortic stiffness. J. Cardiovasc. Magn. Reson. 16:57. doi: 10.1186/s12968-014-0057-1
- Ring, M., Eriksson, M. J., Zierath, J. R., and Caidahl, K. (2014). Arterial stiffness estimation in healthy subjects: a validation of oscillometric (Arteriograph) and tonometric (SphygmoCor) techniques. *Hypertens Res.* 37, 999–1007. doi: 10. 1038/hr.2014.115
- Shaffer, F., and Ginsberg, J. P. (2017). An Overview of Heart Rate Variability Metrics and Norms. *Front Public Health* 5:258. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017. 00258
- Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. (1996). Heart rate variability. Standards of

measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. Eur. Heart J. 17, 354–381.

- Teixeira, L., Ritti-Dias, R. M., Tinucci, T., Mion Junior, D., and Forjaz, C. L. (2011). Post-concurrent exercise hemodynamics and cardiac autonomic modulation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 111, 2069–2078. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1811-1
- UNAIDS (2020). Global HIV & AIDS statistics 2019 fact sheet. Available: https: //www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet (accessed date June 17 2020).
- Weir, J. B. (1949). New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J. Physiol. 109, 1–9. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1949. sp004363
- Wilkinson, I. B., Fuchs, S. A., Jansen, I. M., Spratt, J. C., Murray, G. D., Cockcroft, J. R., et al. (1998). Reproducibility of pulse wave velocity and augmentation index measured by pulse wave analysis. J. Hypertens 16(12 Pt 2), 2079–2084. doi: 10.1097/00004872-199816121-00033
- Wilkinson, I. B., MacCallum, H., Flint, L., Cockcroft, J. R., Newby, D. E., and Webb, D. J. (2000). The influence of heart rate on augmentation index and central

arterial pressure in humans. J. Physiol. 525(Pt 1), 263–270. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00263.x

World Health Organization (2020). *Number of deaths due to HIV/AIDS*. Available: https://www.who.int/gho/hiv/epidemic\_status/deaths\_text/en/ (accessed date June 17 2020).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Barros, de Paula, Mediano, Rangel, Monteiro, Cunha, Farinatti and Borges. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Sex Differences in Post-exercise Hypotension, Ambulatory Blood Pressure Variability, and Endothelial Function After a Power Training Session in Older Adults

Leandro de Oliveira Carpes<sup>1,2</sup>, Lucas Betti Domingues<sup>1,2</sup>, Renato Schimitt<sup>1,2</sup>, Sandra C. Fuchs<sup>1,2</sup>, Taha Alhalimi<sup>3</sup>, Hirofumi Tanaka<sup>3</sup> and Rodrigo Ferrari<sup>1,2\*</sup>

Kinesiology and Health Education, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Linda Shannon Pescatello, University of Connecticut, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Caio Victor Sousa, Northeastern University, United States Alberto Alves, Instituto Universitário da Maia (ISMAI), Portugal

\*Correspondence:

Rodrigo Ferrari rod.ferrari84@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 22 January 2021 Accepted: 11 June 2021 Published: 16 July 2021

#### Citation:

de Oliveira Carpes L, Domingues LB, Schimitt R, Fuchs SC, Alhalimi T, Tanaka H and Ferrari R (2021) Sex Differences in Post-exercise Hypotension, Ambulatory Blood Pressure Variability, and Endothelial Function After a Power Training Session in Older Adults. Front. Physiol. 12:657373. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.657373 **Background:** The efficacy of power training (PT) to acutely reduce blood pressure (BP) in participants with hypertension is controversial, and no studies have assessed the influence of sex on post-exercise hypotension and its mechanisms in older adults.

<sup>1</sup>Postgraduate Program in Cardiology, School of Medicine, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil, <sup>2</sup>Sports and Exercise Training Study Group, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, Brazil, <sup>3</sup>Department of

**Purpose:** The aims of this secondary, exploratory analysis were to compare the effects of a single bout of PT on post-exercise hypotension, BP variability, and endothelial function between older men and women with hypertension.

**Methods:** Twenty-four participants with hypertension (12 men and 12 women aged to >60 years old) took part in this crossover study and randomly performed two experimental sessions: power exercise training (PT) and non-exercising control session (Con). The PT protocol was composed of 3 sets of 8–10 repetitions of five exercises performed in the following order: leg press, bench press, knee extension, upright row, and knee flexion, using an intensity corresponding to 50% of one repetition maximal test (1RM) and 2-min intervals between sets and exercises. The concentric phase of exercises during each repetition was performed "as fast as possible," while the eccentric phase lasted 1 to 2 s. During Con, the participants remained at seated rest on the same exercise machines, but without any exercise. Each protocol lasted 40 min. Office BP, flow-mediated dilatation (FMD), 24-h ambulatory BP, and the average real variability (ARV) of systolic and diastolic BP were assessed before and after experimental sessions.

**Results:** Comparing PT with Con, a reduced office BP after exercise was found in men (systolic BP—average post 1 h: -14 mmHg, p < 0.001; diastolic BP—average post 1 h: -8 mmHg, p < 0.001) and only a reduced systolic BP in women (average post 1 h: -7 mmHg, p = 0.04). Comparing men and women, a reduced systolic BP (post 60': -15 mmHg, p = 0.048; average post 1 h: -7 mmHg, p = 0.046) and diastolic BP (post 60': -9 mmHg, p = 0.049) after the first hour were found in men. In relation to 24-h

34

ambulatory BP, ARV, and FMD, no statistically significant differences were found between men and women.

**Conclusion:** In older adults with hypertension, the office BP response after the experimental sessions was different in men and women, showing that the PT protocol is more effective to acutely reduce BP in men. Additionally, the mechanisms behind this reduction remain unclear. This finding suggests that sex cannot be combined to analyze post-exercise hypotension.

Clinical Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov, Identifier: NCT03615625.

Keywords: aging, high blood pressure, blood pressure variability, post exercise hypotension, flow-mediated dilatation, high-velocity resistance training

## INTRODUCTION

Resistance training is a cornerstone intervention to counteract age-related declines in physical function (Peterson et al., 2010), improving independence, and reducing the risk of chronic diseases such as hypertension (Mcleod et al., 2019). In particular, power training (PT) has been recommended to improve muscular strength, power and functionality in older adults as it could achieve a greater improvement in functional performance when compared to traditional resistance training (Bottaro et al., 2007). Good levels of functional capacity in older adults are related to a better quality of life, reducing the increase risk of falling, fractures, and hospitalization (Cadore et al., 2013). The characteristics of PT exercises (i.e., low volume and low intensity per set; Chodzko-Zajko et al., 2009) could also attenuate blood pressure (BP) and rate-pressure product responses during exercise (Schimitt et al., 2020), reducing the risk of acute adverse events among individuals with hypertension.

Arterial blood pressure increases during exercise but is depressed after the completion of exercise (Ferrari et al., 2020). This so-called post-exercise hypotension (PEH) is believed to play a major role in BP management as the magnitude of PEH is associated with chronic reductions in BP induced by regular exercise programs (Wegmann et al., 2018). The initial BP level, as well as intensity/volume/type of exercises, can influence both the magnitude and duration of PEH (Pescatello et al., 2004; Domingues et al., 2020). Physiological mechanisms underlying PEH have been under the investigation. The majority of the available studies indicate that the primary factor driving PEH is the reduction in systemic vascular resistance, but a decrease in cardiac output is pointed out as a contributing factor to PEH in older adults (Brito et al., 2014).

Traditional resistance exercises and high-velocity resistance exercise (i.e., PT) are effective strategies to induce PEH under laboratory conditions (Casonatto et al., 2016; Coelho-Júnior et al., 2017; Domingues et al., 2020; Machado Filho et al., 2020). However, few data have demonstrated that this hypotensive effect is not sustained when BP is assessed throughout long periods and under usual conditions in patients with essential hypertension (Queiroz et al., 2015; Oliveira-Dantas et al., 2020; Schimitt et al., 2020). Additionally, a PT session seems to increase the bioavailability of nitric oxide in older women (Coelho-Júnior et al., 2017; Orsano et al., 2018), but studies assessing mechanisms related to PEH after PT in older men are lacking and warrant further investigation. In fact, sex differences exist in the prevalence, awareness, therapy, and prognosis of hypertension and underlying mechanisms responsible for hypertension (Song et al., 2020). The sex influence on PEH was recently described in half-marathon runners (Mourot et al., 2020), attributed to different hemodynamic mechanisms associated with PEH. More specifically, PEH appears to be induced by a reduction in cardiac output in men (Huxley, 2007) whereas a decrease in systemic vascular resistance seems to be a driving factor in women (Parker et al., 2007). TKO

Currently, studies evaluating PT exercise on PEH are scarce and its efficacy remains controversial (Oliveira-Dantas et al., 2020; Schimitt et al., 2020). We have reported no statistically significant differences between PT and Con on ambulatory BP, but a trend toward reduction in daytime (p = 0.063) and nighttime (p = 0.062) diastolic BP was found after the PT session (Schimitt et al., 2020). Based on this result and considering the potential biological differences between men and women that seems to impact BP responses (Maranon and Reckelhoff, 2013), we decided to run an exploratory analysis, assessing the office and ambulatory BP data separated by sex, and comparing possible differences between older men and women. Additionally, studies comparing acute BP between older men and women are absent, and important sex differences in hemodynamic responses after a single bout of resistance exercise were found in middle-aged adults with normal BP (Mariano et al., 2019). Accordingly, the aims of this secondary, exploratory analysis were to compare the effects of a single bout of PT on PEH, BP variability, and endothelial function between older men and women with hypertension.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Design and Participants**

This is an exploratory sub-study of a previously published randomized clinical trial with crossover design (Schimitt et al., 2020) and was conducted in order to compare the sex differences in PEH and its mechanisms after a PT session in older adults. Men and women aged 60 to 75 years with previously diagnosed hypertension by a physician were recruited. Exclusion criteria included previous diagnosis of ischemic heart disease, heart failure, current smokers or ex-smokers for less than 6 months,
body mass index over 39.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, musculoskeletal problems that restrained them from exercising, changes in antihypertensive medications throughout the trial, diabetes with retinopathy, and participation in structured exercise programs in the last 3 months.

The study was conducted from June 12, 2018, to July 20, 2019, at a tertiary referral hospital in southern Brazil. All participants read and signed an informed consent form before beginning the study. Participation was voluntary, and all ethical principles of confidentiality and data protection were followed. The study protocol was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and in compliance with the Brazilian legal and regulatory framework for research involving human beings (NR 466/12). The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Brazil, and registered on clinicaltrials.gov under identifier number NCT03615625. The protocol followed the CONSORT guidelines for non-pharmacological treatment (Boutron et al., 2017).

### **Preliminary Sessions**

Each participant completed a clinical screening and underwent electrocardiogram, BP and heart rate measurements with oscillometric monitor, and anthropometric evaluation in the research laboratory as previously described (Schimitt et al., 2020). The rate-pressure product was calculated using the systolic BP and heart rate values (systolic blood pressure × heart rate). Since most participants included in the study had no previous experience with power exercise training, we implemented two familiarization sessions to ensure that participants perform the prescribed exercises properly. Participants were familiarized with power exercises involved in PT and maximal strength testing during the first two sessions. During the third preliminary session, participant's maximal strength was evaluated using one repetition maximal strength test (1-RM) in 5 resistance exercises: leg press, bench press, knee extension, upright row, and knee flexion. A specific warm-up composed of 2 sets of 10 and 5 repetitions, using 50 and 75% of estimated 1-RM load was performed prior to the test. After the first attempt, the load was adjusted through Lombardi coefficients, if necessary. Each participant's 1RM was determined with no more than three attempts with a five-minute recovery between attempts and a two-minute recovery between exercises. These results were used to determine the intensity or load of the experimental sessions. The same trained investigator conducted the tests. Before the test, resting BP was assessed after 20 min of rest in supine position, and these values were used to describe the baseline characteristics of participants.

### **Experimental Sessions**

The participants performed two experimental sessions in a random order: a power training session (PT) and a non-exercising control session (Con). An epidemiologist generated the randomization list composed of random block sizes of four participants using a computer software. This epidemiologist did not participate in the recruitment or assignment to the experimental sessions. The participants and the research team were blinded to the randomization list until the moment of assignment. Participants were instructed to avoid physical exercise for 24 h before the experimental sessions, keep their usual dietary intake, avoid drinking alcohol and coffee before the experimental sessions, and have the same meal 4 h before each session.

Both experimental sessions started between 2 and 3 PM (at the same time of the day to account for potential diurnal variation in BP and residual effects of antihypertensive medications) and lasted approximately 2 h. A washout period of 5–10 days was implemented between the sessions. Each session was composed of 20 min of rest in the supine position, 40 min of PT or Con protocols followed by 60 min of rest in supine position. Standardized office BP and endothelium-dependent brachial vascular function were assessed before and during the first hour (in intervals of 15 min: post 15', post 30', post 45', and post 60') after exercise and control sessions. Afterwards, participants underwent 24 h ambulatory BP monitoring.

The PT protocol was composed of 3 sets of 10 repetitions of five exercises performed in the following order: leg press, bench press, knee extension, upright row, and knee flexion, using an intensity corresponding to 50% of 1-RM and 2-min intervals between sets and exercises. The concentric phase of exercises during each repetition was performed "as fast as possible," while the eccentric phase lasted 1 to 2 s. During Con, the participants remained at seated rest on the same exercise equipment, but without any exercise.

### Assessments

Office systolic and diastolic BP was assessed under laboratory conditions using an automatic oscillometric device (Dinamap 1846 SX/P; Critikon, FL, United States; Whincup et al., 1992) according to the Brazilian Guideline of Arterial Hypertension (Malachias et al., 2016). Participants were instructed to remain in supine position and in silence without using any electronic device (i.e., smartphones, notebooks). The use of a supine position to data collection is because BP assessment was performed simultaneously to the flow-mediated dilation (FMD) measurement. A properly-sized cuff was placed on the arm about 2 cm above the antecubital fossa. BP was measured on both arms with a 1-min interval between measures. The arm with the highest Bp value was used in the characterization, as well as in the pre-and post-intervention evaluation, and the mean BP was calculated automatically by Dinamap.

The 24-h systolic and diastolic BP was assessed through ambulatory BP monitoring (90,702, Spacelabs Medical, WA, United States) after each experiment session in men and women. BP measurements were taken every 15 min at daytime and every 20 min at nighttime. The first daytime period started between 4 and 5 PM (immediately after laboratory session), nighttime between 11 PM and 7 AM, and the second daytime finished at 5 PM on the day after the experimental session. Participants filled a diary about physical activities, symptoms, sleep, and wake-up time. Each examination was considered valid when at least 70% of the expected readings were available and recorded (O'Brien et al., 2013), and the mean BP was calculated automatically by Spacelabs.

Consecutive reading-to-reading BP measurements assessed during ambulatory monitoring were included in a computer



software to calculate the average real variability (ARV) (Farrag et al., 2019). ARV weighted for the time interval between consecutive readings was also calculated for both systolic and diastolic BP within the daytime, nighttime, and 24-h periods (Coccina et al., 2019).

The endothelium-dependent brachial vascular function was evaluated using the FMD technique according to guideline (Corretti et al., 2002). Participants were instructed to remain in supine position, and then a BP cuff was placed on the proximal third of the arm (5 cm from the cubital fossa). Baseline longitudinal brachial artery diameters were measured along with pulsed doppler signals for flow velocity analysis. After baseline recordings were completed, reactive hyperemia was induced by inflation of a BP cuff to 50mmHg above previously measured systolic BP, and cuff inflation was maintained for 5 min. Two-dimensional images of the brachial artery were acquired using a linear-array multifrequency transducer (7-12MHz) connected to a high-resolution ultrasound system (HD7XE, Phillips, United States). The time of each image acquisition during the cardiac cycle was determined from simultaneous ECG recording. During image acquisition, anatomical landmarks such as veins and fascial planes were observed to help maintain the same image of the artery throughout the study. The longitudinal image of the brachial artery was recorded continuously for 30 s before (baseline image) to 2 min after cuff deflation (peak diameter). FMD was expressed as the percentage change in arterial diameter from baseline: FMD (%) = (peak diameter

- baseline diameter)/baseline diameter  $\times$  100. All image analyses were performed offline using the computer software (Brachial Analyzer, Vascular Tools, Medical Imaging Applications, Coralville, IA United States) by an expert evaluator blinded to the sequence of interventions (DeVan et al., 2011).

### **Sample Size and Statistical Analyses**

This article presents a secondary exploratory analyses, and the original sample size was estimated based on the original hypothesis, considering an initial sample size of 24 individuals with hypertension (12 women and 12 men), able to detect a difference of 5 mmHg in 24-h systolic BP among protocols with 80% of statistical power and a type I error rate of 5%, allowing a dropout rate of up to 10% (Schimitt et al., 2020). Data were entered in duplicate by three different researchers. The statistician did not participate in the recruitment or assignment to the experimental sessions and was blinded to the interventions. The assumption of normality was evaluated through the use of the Shapiro-Wilk test. Results were expressed as means and standard deviation (Table 1) or standard error (Tables 2, 3, and 4) for variables with normal distribution. In office BP data, average total 1 h was calculated using the average of the 4 values measured after the sessions ((post 15' + post 30' + post 45' + post 60')/4). The post-FMD values were calculated using the average of 2 consecutive values measured after the sessions (post media 30' = (post 15' + post 30')/2; post media 60' = (post 45' + post 60')/2). Delta office

	Men ( <i>n</i> = 12)	Woman ( <i>n</i> = 12)	p value
Age, years (±SD) Race/Ethnicity, n (%)	67 (5)	67 (4)	0.785 0.237
White	12 (100)	9 (75)	
Black	0 (0.0)	2 (17)	
Asian	0 (0.0)	1 (8)	
Anthropometric meas	ures		
Body weight, kg (range)	92 (79–100)	70 (66–74)	0.001
Height, cm (range)	171 (164–174)	157 (155–159)	<0.001
BMI, kg/m² (SD)	31 (4)	28.2 (3)	0.047
Waist circumference, cm (SD)	107 (13)	92 (9)	0.003
Anti-hypertensive medications, n (range)	2 (1–4)	2 (1-4)	
Diuretics, n (%)	9 (75)	10 (83)	0.721
β blockers, n (%)	3 (25)	4 (33)	0.423
ACE inhibitors, n (%)	4 (33)	4 (33)	0.833
Angiotensin receptor antagonists, n (%)	9 (75)	5 (42)	0.374
Calcium channel blockers, n (%)	1 (8)	4 (33)	0.174
Hemodynamic measu	res (± SD)		
Systolic BP, (mmHg)	133 (12)	133 (14)	0.964
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	76 (9)	76 (8)	0.846
Mean BP, (mmHg)	96 (8)	98 (8)	0.567
Heart rate, (bpm)	65 (12)	68 (11)	0.634
RPP, (mmHg*bpm)	8,661 (1721)	8,987 (1796)	0.654
1-RM muscle strength	tests, Kg (± SD)		
Leg Press	170.2 (61)	105.0 (27)	0.003
Knee Extension	103.3 (29)	69.8 (14)	0.003
Knee Flexion	65.9 (17)	41.1 (10)	0.001
Bench Press	50.0 (11)	25.9 (6)	<0.001
Upright row	38.2 (17)	21.4 (5)	<0.001
Total load lifted (kg)	427.6 (121)	263.3 (53)	<0.001
Total load/body weight	4.6 (0.9)	3.8 (0.7)	0.011

Values are means ± standard derivation (SD) for parametric data, and medians ± interquartile interval (range) for nonparametric data; BMI, body mass index; ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme; BP, blood pressure; RPP, rate-pressure product; 1-RM, repetition maximal strength. Total load lifted: sum of the 1RM test values.

BP was calculated through the difference between PT and Con sessions in each time-point after intervention (i.e., post 15', post 30', post 45', post 60, and average post 1 h), adjusted for baseline (pre) BP values [(post-exercise BP–pre-exercise BP)–(post-control BP–pre-control BP)] in men and women.

Generalized estimating equations (GEE) analyses were used to assess main effects between experimental sessions (2 sessions: PT and Con) by time in men and women (session\*time). To compare the sex differences, we run an additional GEE analysis including a new factor (sex: men *vs.* women), adjusted for BMI, since we found a difference in BMI between men (31 kg.m<sup>-2</sup>) and women (28 kg.m<sup>-2</sup>) that can affect BP values (session\* time\*sex). Post-hoc comparisons were performed using Bonferroni tests. Statistical significance was set *a priori* at p < 0.05, and a borderline significance was detected for *p*-values ranging from 0.05 to 0.10. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics for Windows version 22.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY, United States).

### RESULTS

A flowchart of the experiments is presented in **Figure 1**. Participants' characteristics at baseline, assessed during the preliminary sessions, are shown in **Table 1**. There were no reported adverse events during the PT or Con session. All participants performed the same amount of exercise during the PT protocol (i.e.,  $3 \times 10$  at 50%1RM in 5 resistance exercises). The quality of the ambulatory BP recorded was considered satisfactory in all patients. Additionally, the participants reported no adverse symptoms or difficulties to sleep throughout the study.

Office BP data are presented in Table 2. Time\*session\*sex interaction was found in office BP for systolic BP (p < 0.001) and diastolic BP (p < 0.001). The BP values before the PT and Con sessions were similar, and no difference between men and women was found at baseline (p > 0.05). Comparing the BP values in the first hour after each experimental session with the corresponding baseline BP, no significant change was found after PT, while an increased BP after Con was found (p < 0.05). Comparing PT with Con, a reduced systolic BP was found at post 30' (p = 0.001), post 45' (p = 0.031), post 60' (p < 0.001), and average total 1 h (p < 0.001) in men, and at post 15' (p < 0.001) and average total 1 h (p = 0.046) in women. Additionally, a reduced diastolic BP was found after PT when compared with Con at post 15' (p = 0.043), post 30' (p = 0.003), post 45' (p = 0.004), post 60' (p = 0.001), and average total 1 h (p < 0.001)only in men. Comparing BP response after the first hour between men and women, a reduced systolic BP at post 60' (p = 0.048) and average total 1 h (p = 0.046), and a reduced diastolic BP at post 60' (p = 0.049) were found in men.

Ambulatory BP data are presented in **Tables 3** and **4**. No time\*session\*sex interaction was found in systolic (p = 0.335) and diastolic (p = 0.208) ambulatory BP (**Table 3**). Additionally, we run an exploratory analysis to assess the main effects between PT and Con in men and women separately. Time\*session interaction was found in ambulatory BP for systolic (p = 0.041), and a borderline time\*session interaction was found for diastolic BP (p = 0.050) in men but not in women. Compared with Con, 24-h diastolic BP decreased after PT in men. Nighttime systolic and diastolic BP also decreased after PT in men. In women, no statistically significant differences were found between PT and Con sessions for daytime, nighttime, and 24-h systolic/diastolic BP (**Table 3**).

BP variability and FMD data are presented in **Table 5**. No time\*session\*sex interaction was found for BP variability and FMD data.

### DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, no previous studies have evaluated sex differences in acute blood pressure and hemodynamic responses after the PT session in older adults with essential hypertension. A salient finding of this exploratory study was a reduced office BP values after exercise in men than women, highlighting important differences between older men and women on PEH after the PT protocol. Additionally, no significant

Variables	Control	Denne tusining	Intervention		Sex	
	Control	Power training	∆BP (mmHg)	p value	∆BP (mmHg)	p value
Systolic Pre						
Men Women	130.4 ± 4.0 134.5 ± 3.5	129.0 ± 3.5 129.5 ± 4.4	-1.4 ± 2.9 -5.0 ± 3.8	0.622 0.191	3.6 ± 5.3	0.191
Post 15'						
Men Women	136.6 ± 4.6 142.4 ± 5.9	131.7 ± 5.1 132.1 ± 5.2	-4.9 ± 3.4 -10.3 ± 2.5	0.151 <b>&lt;0.001</b>	5.4 ± 7.3	0.437
Post 30'						
Men Women	141.5 ± 5.4 143.6 ± 5.1	132.2 ± 4.6 137.6 ± 4.5	-9.3 ± 2.9 -6.0 ± 3.4	<b>0.001</b> 0.074	$-3.3 \pm 6.4$	0.400
Post 45						
Men Women	145.1 ± 5.5 148.9 ± 4.9	122.1 ± 11.3 142.8 ± 5.7	-23.0 ± 10.7 -6.1 ± 4.5	<b>0.031</b> 0.178	$-16.9 \pm 12.7$	0.103
Post 60'						
Men Women	150.0 ± 5.4 149.1 ± 4.8	131.3 ± 4.5 145.5 ± 5.6	-18.7 ± 3.6 -3.7 ± 3.3	<b>&lt;0.001</b> 0.260	$-15.0 \pm 7.2$	0.048
Average post 1 h						
Men Women	143.3 ± 4.9 146.0 ± 5.0	129.3 ± 5.7 139.5 ± 4.9	-13.9 ± 4.4 -6.5 ± 2.8	<0.001 0.046	$-7.4 \pm 4.9$	0.046
Diastolic						
<b>Pre</b> Men Women	76.4 ± 3.1 74.6 ± 2.9	75.3 ± 2.1 72.8 ± 2.9	-1.1 ± 1.7 -1.8 ± 2.9	0.516 0.554	0.7 ± 3.5	0.491
Post 15						
Men Women	80.2 ± 3.5 77.3 ± 3.1	74.7 ± 3.0 74.4 ± 3.1	-5.5 ± 2.7 -2.9 ± 2.3	<b>0.043</b> 0.202	$-2.6 \pm 4.3$	0.537
Post 30'						
Men Women	81.8 ± 3.4 77.8 ± 3.3	74.7 ± 2.9 77.3 ± 2.8	-7.1 ± 2.4 -0.5 ± 2.4	<b>0.003</b> 0.861	$-6.6 \pm 4.7$	0.079
Post 45						
Men Women	82.6 ± 3.4 78.4 ± 3.0	76.2 ± 3.3 76.9 ± 3.1	-6.5 ± 2.3 -1.5 ± 2.9	<b>0.004</b> 0.601	$-5.0 \pm 4.5$	0.352
Post 60'						
Men Women	87.0 ± 3.5 78.4 ± 3.4	76.0 ± 2.8 79.2 ± 3.1	-11.0 ± 1.7 1.8 ± 2.9	<b>0.001</b> 0.752	$-9.2 \pm 4.9$	0.049
Average post 1 h						
Men Women	82.9 ± 3.3 77.9 ± 3.0	75.4 ± 2.8 76.9 ± 2.9	-7.5 ± 2.2 -1.0 ± 2.2	<b>&lt;0.001</b> 0.638	$-6.0 \pm 2.2$	0.052

#### TABLE 2 | Office blood pressure measures before (pre) and after (for 1 h) the power training and control sessions in men and women.

Values: mean  $\pm$  SE; BP, blood pressure. p-value in the intervention is comparing the interventions separately in men and women (power training vs control). p-value in the sex is comparing the results of the sexes in the interventions (men vs women).

difference between men and women was found in ambulatory BP, endothelial function as assessed by FMD, and short-term BP variability. Given the limited sample size of the present study, further studies are necessary to understand how PEH is mediated in older hypertensive individuals. The differences in BP responses to PT between older men and women are highlighted and deserve further studies to deepen the physiological mechanisms associated with PEH.

Scarcity data have suggested that men and women presented similar BP responses after a single bout of resistance training (Senitko et al., 2002; Queiroz et al., 2013). Controversially, a recent study assessing PEH after a traditional resistance exercise protocol in middle-aged men and women with normal BP found BP reduction in men but not in women (Mariano et al., 2019). In the present study, we specifically explore differences between older men and women using office and ambulatory BP data. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to compare older men and women with hypertension in PEH induced by PT. We found differences between older men and women on PEH after PT in office BP. Systolic and diastolic BP was lower in men than women after the first hour (post 60' systolic BP: -15 mmHg, p = 0.048; Post 60' diastolic BP: -9 mmHg, p = 0,049).

Variables	Original	D	Intervention		Sex	
	Control Power training	∆BP (mmHg)	p value	ΔBP (mmHg)	p value	
Systolic BP						
24-h						
Men Women	130.8 ± 4.2 130.9 ± 3.6	130.7 ± 3.4 131.1 ± 3.4	-0.1 ± 2.7 0.2 ± 1.6	0.973 0.915	$-0.3 \pm 4.8$	0.835
Daytime						
Men Women	134.2 ± 4.3 133.2 ± 4.0	136.1 ± 3.7 134.2 ± 3.4	1.2 ± 2.5 1.0 ± 1.3	0.447 0.451	$-0.2 \pm 5.0$	0.511
Nighttime						
Men Women	122.2 ± 4.9 125.4 ± 3.7	119.0 ± 4.9 123.5 ± 3.6	-3.2 ± 2.9 -1.9 ± 3.2	0.272 0.543	$-1.3 \pm 5.4$	0.401
Diastolic BP						
24-h						
Men Women	77.6 ± 3.2 76.0 ± 2.6	75.4 ± 3.1 76.2 ± 2.7	$-2.2 \pm 1.6$ $0.2 \pm 0.8$	0.178 0.833	$-2.4 \pm 4.1$	0.709
Daytime						
Men Women	80.3 ± 3.4 78.7 ± 2.9	79.3 ± 3.0 79.4 ± 2.7	-1.0 ± 1.3 0.8 ± 0.7	0.427 0.309	-1.8 ± 4.1	0.366
Nighttime						
Men Women	69.8 ± 2.9 70.6 ± 2.2	67.0 ± 3.2 69.2 ± 2.7	-2.8 ± 2.1 -1.4 ± 1.9	0.180 0.457	$-1.4 \pm 4.2$	0.608

TABLE 3 | Ambulatory blood pressure measures after the power training and control sessions in men and women.

Values: mean ± SE; BP, blood pressure (mmHg);  $\Delta$ : net effect. Intervention:  $\Delta$  BP and p-value corresponding to the individual differences between control and power training sessions in each sex. Sex:  $\Delta$  BP and P value corresponding to the differences between men and women.

**TABLE 4** | Exploratory analyses of ambulatory blood pressure, separated by sex, after the power training and control sessions.

		_	Intervention		
Variables	Control	Power training	∆BP (mmHg)	p value	
Systolic 24-h					
Men Women	132.5 ± 6.6 129.7 ± 3.0	129.8 ± 4.5 129.6 ± 2.3	-2.8 ± 2.9 -0.1 ± 1.6	0.336 0.943	
Daytime					
Men Women	135.5 ± 6.7 131.8 ± 3.4	135.1 ± 5.2 132.7 ± 2.4	-0.4 ± 2.6 0.9 ± 1.4	0.891 0.505	
Nighttime					
Men Women	123.7 ± 7.5 124.7 ± 3.7	117.4 ± 4.9 122.1 ± 2.6	-6.3 ± 3.1 -2.6 ± 3.1	<b>0.042</b> 0.398	
Diastolic 24-h					
Men Women	78.1 ± 4.1 75.1 ± 1.9	74.2 ± 3.1 75.1 ± 2.0	-3.9 ± 1.9 0.0 ± 0.8	<b>0.036</b> 0.973	
Daytime					
Men Women	80.3 ± 4.2 77.6 ± 2.3	78.1 ± 3.2 78.4 ± 2.0	-2.2 ± 1.3 0.8 ± 0.7	0.109 0.244	
Nighttime					
Men Women	70.7 ± 3.7 69.9 ± 2.1	65.5 ± 3.0 68.1 ± 2.1	-5.2 ± 2.5 -1.9 ± 1.9	<b>0.036</b> 0.319	

Values: mean  $\pm$  SE; BP, blood pressure. p-value in the intervention is comparing the interventions separately in men and women (power training vs control).

The magnitude and duration of PEH seem to be influenced by intensity/volume of exercise (Pescatello et al., 2004; Domingues et al., 2020), and differences in total overload (sets × repetitions  $\times$  total load lifted  $\times$  number of exercises x time under tension) can be a key component in predicting the magnitude and duration of PEH after different resistance exercise protocols. In our study, the relative amount of exercise performed during the PT protocol was identical between men and women (3  $\times$  8-10 - 50%1RM -5 exercises). However, men performed higher total overload than women due to their greater values of maximal strength (i.e., 1RM tests; Table 1). We believe that the total overload performed during the PT session (i.e., sets  $\times$  repetitions  $\times$  number of exercises × total load lifted × time under tension) seems to be the main factor that helps to explain the above-mentioned differences between men and women, influencing the magnitude and duration of PEH after PT in older adults.

Ambulatory BP monitoring is the best strategy to observe and understand the BP behavior throughout daily living activities and sleeping periods (Grossman, 2013). Only two studies have evaluated ambulatory BP after a single bout of PT in older adults with hypertension (Oliveira-Dantas et al., 2020; Schimitt et al., 2020). In the study of Oliveira-Dantas et al. (2020), a PT protocol (i.e., three sets of six repetitions in eight exercises using elastic bands) was performed by 14 hypertensive older women and no significant difference between PT and Con in 24-h, daytime, and nighttime BP was found. In the present study, no statistical differences in men and women were found in daytime, nighttime, and 24-h BP when

Variables	Control	Control Power training	Interve	ntion	Sex	
	Control		∆BP (mmHg)	p value	∆BP (mmHg)	p value
Systolic BP variabi	lity					
24-h						
Men	8.6 ± 0.4	8.4 ± 0.4	$0.2 \pm 0.4$	0.240		0.054
Women	8.8 ± 0.3	8.9 ± 0.4	0.2 ± 0.4	0.618	0.4 ± 0.6	0.351
Daytime						
Men	$9.2 \pm 0.6$	8.6 ± 0.4	$0.7 \pm 0.6$	0.077		
Women	9.2 ± 0.4	$9.5 \pm 0.4$	0.3 ± 0.5	0.589	$-1.0 \pm 0.6$	0.106
Nighttime						
Men	$7.7 \pm 0.4$	$7.9 \pm 0.5$	0.2 ± 0.3	0.839	0.00.0	0.710
Women	8.2 ± 0.6	8.1 ± 0.6	0.1 ± 1.0	0.928	0.3 ± 0.8	0.718
Diastolic BP variab	ility					
24-h	inty					
Men	$6.9 \pm 0.3$	6.6 ± 0.3	$0.3 \pm 0.4$	0.457		
Women	$6.9 \pm 0.5$	$6.9 \pm 0.5$	$0.1 \pm 0.5$	0.827	0.2 ± 0.6	0.667
Daytime						
Men	$7.1 \pm 0.3$	$6.5 \pm 0.4$	$0.6 \pm 0.3$	0.062		
Women	$7.4 \pm 0.5$	$7.1 \pm 0.6$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$	0.478	0.3 ± 0.7	0.409
Nighttime						
Men	$6.9 \pm 0.4$	$7.1 \pm 0.6$	$0.3 \pm 0.7$	0.591		0.004
Women	6.1 ± 0.7	$6.8 \pm 0.5$	0.7 ± 0.7	0.398	0.4 ± 0.8	0.681
Flow-mediated dila	tation (%)					
Pre	. ,					
Men	$4.8 \pm 0.3$	$4.9 \pm 0.3$	0.1 ± 0.2	0.564		
Women	$6.8 \pm 0.8$	$6.1 \pm 1.4$	0.7 ± 1.1	0.515	0.8 ± 1.2	0.575
Post media 30'						
Men	4.6 ± 0.5	5.1 ± 0.3	$0.5 \pm 0.6$	0.374		0.515
Women	6.3 ± 0.7	6.5 ± 0.7	0.2 ± 0.8	0.778	0.3 ± 1.1	0.517
Post media 60'						
Men	$5.7 \pm 0.3$	$5.0 \pm 0.3$	$0.7 \pm 0.5$	0.153	1.7 ± 1.7	0.825
Women	$5.8 \pm 0.5$	$6.8 \pm 1.5$	$1.0 \pm 1.0$	0.354	1.1 ± 1.1	0.020

 TABLE 5 |
 Short-term blood pressure variability and endothelial function measures after the power training and control sessions in men and women.

Values: mean ± SE; BP, blood pressure (mmHg); ARV, average real variability (mmHg);  $\Delta$ : net effect. Intervention:  $\Delta$  BP and p-value corresponding to the individual differences between control and power training sessions in each sex. Sex:  $\Delta$  BP and p-value corresponding to the differences between men and women.

using the three factors in the same GEE analysis (session\*time\*sex). Additionally, we run an exploratory analysis (**Table 4**), splitting our sample and assessing the ambulatory BP data separated by sex (session\*time), and found significant reduction in 24-h diastolic BP after PT when compared with Con in older men but not in women, as well as nighttime ambulatory BP reduction only in men. We assumed that the inclusion of an extra factor in our analysis, using a limited sample size, reduced the statistical power of the study. Based on the limitation of this exploratory analysis, future studies should include a larger sample size to confirm the present results.

In an attempt to provide insight into physiological mechanisms, we assessed endothelium-dependent vasodilation using FMD, and short-term BP variability as an index of cardiovagal baroreflex sensitivity (Floras et al., 1988). The improvement in endothelial function after exercising is one of the potential mechanisms that could help explaining the occurrence of PEH (Halliwill et al., 2013). We found no significant difference in endothelial function between the PT and Con sessions. Additionally, changes in blood pressure were not associated with the corresponding changes in

FMD. Similar results have been reported in previous studies that also evaluated FMD at different times after exercise sessions as they did not observe decreases in this variable (Birk et al., 2013; Katayama et al., 2013). Short-term BP variability has an important association with autonomic cardiovascular system, and higher BP fluctuations can be associated to impairments on autonomic nervous system that results in high BP levels (Nardin et al., 2019). Few studies have evaluated the acute effects of exercise on ambulatory BP variability (Caminiti et al., 2019; Batista et al., 2020; Matias et al., 2020), and no previous studies have compared BP variability between older men and women after a single bout of exercise. A previous study demonstrated reduction in 24 h and daytime systolic (~2 mmHg) and diastolic (~1 mmHg) BP variability after a single bout of combined aerobic and resistance exercise in postmenopausal women with hypertension (Matias et al., 2020). However, the present study did not find reductions on ambulatory BP variability after PT. Further studies are necessary to deepen the physiological mechanisms associated with PEH.

Some limitations of the present study should be taken into account in order to properly interpret the present results.

The limited number of participants enrolled in this study is due to the hypothesis tested in the original trial (Schimitt et al., 2020). However, most of the previous data assessing PEH have also used similar sample sizes. Clearly, a larger sample size trial is mandatory to confirm the present results. The endothelium-dependent brachial vascular function assessment using the FMD technique and recording data throughout 2 min after releasing the cuff could also be considered a limitation, since a recent guideline suggests that time to peak dilation in sedentary older adults can occur after the 2-min period (Thijssen et al., 2019). The enrollment of untrained participants aged 60-75 years may have limited the generalization of our findings to younger adults or trained older adults. However, the analyses of well-functioning and untrained older adults are more likely to represent the elderly population. Our study provides important implications for the exercise prescription targeted to aging individuals with essential hypertension. The use of a resistance exercise protocol is highly recommended to older adults (Fragala et al., 2019), exploring potential sex differences on PEH that should be taken into account in order to prescribe PT for hypertensive older adults. Additionally, considering that the magnitude of PEH after exercise is directly related to the baseline BP (Queiroz et al., 2015), it is reasonable to assume that the PT protocol could be more effective in reducing BP in participants with uncontrolled hypertension. The use of researchers blinded to interventions for outcome assessment and analysis and the BP assessment using ambulatory BP monitoring, the gold-standard method to assess PEH, are also strengths of this study.

### CONCLUSION

In older adults with hypertension, the office BP response after the experimental sessions was different in men and women, showing that the PT protocol is more effective to acutely reduce BP in men. Additionally, the mechanisms behind this result remain unclear. Moreover, the exploratory results for ambulatory BP suggest the need of further studies to assess the potential difference between men and women.

This finding highlights the relevance of this type of resistance training as a non-pharmacological strategy to acutely reduce BP in older men with hypertension and reduced physical capacity. In women, however, the duration of PEH after our PT protocol was very limited. Different PT protocols might be necessary to induce benefits among women. Our findings have important implications for exercise prescription targeting

### REFERENCES

- Batista, J. P., Mariano, I. M., Amaral, A. L., Matias, L. A. S., de Souza, T. C. F., Resende, A. P. M., et al. (2020). Acute effects of mat Pilates on ambulatory blood pressure variability in post menopause women. *Rev. Bras. Fis.* 19, 409– 420. doi:10.33233/rbfex.v19i5.4239
- Birk, G. K., Dawson, E. A., Batterham, A. M., Atkinson, G., Cable, T., Thijssen, D. H. J., et al. (2013). Effects of exercise intensity on flow mediated dilation in healthy humans. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 34, 409–414. doi: 10.1055/ s-0032-1323829

older individuals with hypertension in that sex cannot be combined to analyze PEH.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Brazil. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LC: conceptualization, investigation, and writing—original draft. RS and LD: investigation, formal analysis, and writing—review and editing. TA, HT, and SF: formal analysis and writing—review and editing. RF: conceptualization, investigation, formal analysis, funding acquisition, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This study was partially funded by the Research and Education Fund of the Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (FIPE/HCPA, grant number 18-0178). LC, LD, and RS received a scholarship from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) - finance code 001. RF received a fellowship from the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq - no 151775/2019-2). SF has a fellowship of CNPq (no 309023/2015-7).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the participants for their help and participation in this study and Guilhermo Sesin for his support during the data collection.

- Bottaro, M., Machado, S. N., Nogueira, W., Scales, R., and Veloso, J. (2007). Effect of high versus low-velocity resistance training on muscular fitness and functional performance in older men. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 99, 257–264. doi: 10.1007/s00421-006-0343-1
- Boutron, I., Altman, D. G., Moher, D., Schulz, K. F., Ravaud, P., and CONSORT NPT Group (2017). CONSORT statement for randomized trials of nonpharmacologic treatments: A 2017 update and a CONSORT extension for nonpharmacologic trial abstracts. Ann. Intern. Med. 167, 40–47. doi: 10.7326/M17-0046
- Brito, L. C., Queiroz, A. C. C., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2014). Influence of population and exercise protocol characteristics on hemodynamic determinants

of post-aerobic exercise hypotension. Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res. 47, 626-636. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20143832

- Cadore, E. L., Rodríguez-Mañas, L., Sinclair, A., and Izquierdo, M. (2013). Effects of different exercise interventions on risk of falls, gait ability, and balance in physically frail older adults: a systematic review. *Rejuvenation Res.* 16, 105–114. doi: 10.1089/rej.2012.1397
- Caminiti, G., Mancuso, A., Raposo, A. F., Fossati, C., Selli, S., and Volterrani, M. (2019). Different exercise modalities exert opposite acute effects on short-term blood pressure variability in male patients with hypertension. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 26, 1028–1031. doi: 10.1177/2047487318819529
- Casonatto, J., Goessler, K. F., Cornelissen, V. A., et al. (2016). The blood pressure-lowering effect of a single bout of resistance exer-cise: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 23, 1700–1714. doi: 10.1177/2047487316664147
- Chodzko-Zajko, W. J., Proctor, D. N., Fiatarone Singh, M. A., Minson, C. T., Nigg, C. R., Salem, G. J., et al. (2009). Exercise and physical activity for older adults. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 41, 1510–1530. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.0b013e3181a0c95c
- Christou, D. D., Jones, P. P., Jordan, J., Diedrich, A., Robertson, D., and Seals, D. R. (2005). Women have lower tonic autonomic support of arterial blood pressure and less effective baroreflex buffering than men. *Circulation* 111, 494–498. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000153864.24034.A6
- Coccina, F., Pierdomenico, A. M., Cuccurullo, C., and Pierdomenico, S. D. (2019). Prognostic value of average real variability of systolic blood pressure in elderly treated hypertensive patients. *Blood Press. Monit.* 24, 179–184. doi: 10.1097/MBP.00000000000381
- Coelho-Júnior, H. J., Irigoyen, M.-C., da Aguiar, S. S., de Gonçalves, I. O., Câmara, N. O. S., Cenedeze, M. A., et al. (2017). Acute effects of power and resistance exercises on hemodynamic measurements of older women. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 12, 1103–1114. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S133838
- Corretti, M. C., Anderson, T. J., Benjamin, E. J., Celermajer, D., Charbonneau, F., Creager, M. A., et al. (2002). Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report of the international brachial artery reactivity task force. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 39, 257–265. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01746-6
- DeVan, A. E., Umpierre, D., Lin, H.-F., Harrison, M. L., Tarumi, T., Dhindsa, M., et al. (2011). Habitual resistance exercise and endothelial ischemia–reperfusion injury in young adults. *Atherosclerosis* 219, 191–193. doi: 10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2011.07.099
- Domingues, L. B., Cadore, E. L., and Ferrari, R. (2020). Hemodynamic responses of resistance exercise performed with repetitions to failure and not to failure in adults with hypertension. *Blood Press. Monit.* 26, 46–52. doi: 10.1097/ MBP.000000000000478
- Farrag, H. M. A., Amin, A. S., and Abdel-Rheim, A.-E. R. (2019). Relation of short-term blood pressure variability to early renal effects in hypertensive patients with controlled blood pressure. *Blood Press. Monit.* 24, 221–224. doi: 10.1097/MBP.00000000000383
- Ferrari, R., Cadore, E. L., Périco, B., and Kothe, G. B. (2020). Acute effects of body-weight resistance exercises on blood pressure and glycemia in middle-aged adults with hypertension. *Clin. Exp. Hypertens.* 43, 63–68. doi: 10.1080/10641963.2020.1806293
- Floras, J. S., Hassan, M. O., Jones, J. V., Osikowska, B. A., Sever, P. S., and Sleight, P. (1988). Factors influencing blood pressure and heart rate variability in hypertensive humans. *Hypertens* 11, 273–281. doi: 10.1161/01. hyp.11.3.273
- Fragala, M. S., Cadore, E. L., Dorgo, S., Izquierdo, M., Kraemer, W. J., Peterson, M. D., et al. (2019). Resistance training for older adults: position statement from the national strength and conditioning association. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 33, 2019–2052. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003230
- Grossman, E. (2013). Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in the diagnosis and management of hypertension. *Diabetes Care* 36, S307–S311. doi: 10.2337/ dcS13-2039
- Halliwill, J. R., Buck, T. M., Lacewell, A. N., and Romero, S. A. (2013). Postexercise hypotension and sustained postexercise vasodilatation: what happens after we exercise? *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 7–18. doi: 10.1113/ expphysiol.2011.058065
- Huxley, V. H. (2007). Sex and the cardiovascular system: the intriguing tale of how women and men regulate cardiovascular function differently. Adv. Physiol. Educ. 31, 17–22. doi: 10.1152/advan.00099.2006

- Katayama, K., Fujita, O., Iemitsu, M., Kawano, H., Iwamoto, E., Saito, M., et al. (2013). The effect of acute exercise in hypoxia on flow-mediated vasodilation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 349–357. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2442-5
- Machado Filho, J., Machado, C. L. F., Tanaka, H., and Ferrari, R. (2020). Postexercise hypotension after muscle power training session in older adults with hypertension. J. Aging Phys. Act. 28, 1–6. doi: 10.1123/japa.2019-0050
- Malachias, M., Gomes, M., Nobre, F., Alessi, A., Feitosa, A., and Coelho, E. (2016). 7th brazilian guideline of arterial hypertension: chapter 2 - diagnosis and classification. Arq. Bras. Cardiol. 107, 7–13. doi: 10.5935/abc.20160152
- Maranon, R., and Reckelhoff, J. F. (2013). Sex and gender differences in control of blood pressure. *Clin. Sci. Lond.* 125, 311–318. doi: 10.1042/CS20130140
- Mariano, I. M., Domingos, D. C., Ribeiro, A. L. A., Peçanha, T., Simões, H. G., Puga, G. M., et al. (2019). Sex and exercise-mode differences in post-exercise blood pressure and heart rate variability responses during a workday. *Mot. Rev. Educ.* 25, 1–9. doi: 10.1590/s1980-6574201900010030
- Matias, L. A. S., Mariano, I. M., Batista, J. P., de Souza, T. C. F., Amaral, A. L., Dechichi, J. G. C., et al. (2020). Acute and chronic effects of combined exercise on ambulatory blood pressure and its variability in hypertensive postmenopausal women. *Chin. J. Physiol.* 63, 227–234. doi: 10.4103/CJP. CJP\_61\_20
- Mcleod, J. C., Stokes, T., and Phillips, S. M. (2019). Resistance exercise training as a primary countermeasure to age-related chronic disease. *Front. Physiol.* 10:645. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00645
- Mourot, L., Fornasiero, A., Rakobowchuk, M., Isacco, L., Brighenti, A., Stella, F., et al. (2020). Post-exercise hypotension and reduced cardiac Baroreflex after half-Marathon run: In men, but not in women. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:6337. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176337
- Nardin, C., Rattazzi, M., and Pauletto, P. (2019). Blood pressure variability and therapeutic implications in hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. *High Blood Press. Cardiovasc. Prev.* 26, 353–359. doi: 10.1007/s40292-019-00339-z
- O'Brien, E., Parati, G., Stergiou, G., Asmar, R., Beilin, L., Bilo, G., et al. (2013). European Society of Hypertension position paper on ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. *J. Hypertens.* 31, 1731–1768. doi: 10.1097/ HJH.0b013e328363e964
- Oliveira-Dantas, F. F., Browne, R. A. V., Oliveira, R. S., Cabral, L. L. P., de Farias Junior, L. F., and Costa, E. C. (2020). Effect of high-velocity resistance exercise on 24-h blood pressure in hypertensive older women. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 42, 41–47. doi: 10.1055/a-1202-1536
- Orsano, V. S. M., de Moraes, W. M. A. M., de Sousa, N. M. F., de Moura, F. C. Tibana, R. A., de Silva, A. O., et al. (2018). Comparison of the acute effects of traditional versus high velocity resistance training on metabolic, cardiovascular, and psychophysiological responses in elderly hypertensive women. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 13, 1331–1340. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S164108
- Parker, B. A., Smithmyer, S. L., Pelberg, J. A., Mishkin, A. D., Herr, M. D., and Proctor, D. N. (2007). Sex differences in leg vasodilation during graded knee extensor exercise in young adults. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 103, 1583–1591. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00662.2007
- Pescatello, L. S., Guidry, M. A., Blanchard, B. E., Kerr, A., Taylor, A. L., Johnson, A. N., et al. (2004). Exercise intensity alters postexercise hypotension. *J. Hypertens.* 22, 1881–1888. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200410000-00009
- Peterson, M. D., Rhea, M. R., Sen, A., and Gordon, P. M. (2010). Resistance exercise for muscular strength in older adults: a meta-analysis. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 9, 226–237. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2010.03.004
- Queiroz, A. C. C., Rezk, C. C., Teixeira, L., Tinucci, T., Mion, D., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2013). Gender influence on post-resistance exercise hypotension and hemodynamics. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 34, 939–944. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1337948
- Queiroz, A. C. C., Sousa, J. C. S., Cavalli, A. A. P., Silva, N. D., Costa, L. A. R., Tobaldini, E., et al. (2015). Post-resistance exercise hemodynamic and autonomic responses: comparison between normotensive and hypertensive men. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 486–494. doi: 10.1111/sms.12280
- Schimitt, R. P., Carpes, L. O., Domingues, L. B., Tanaka, H., Fuchs, S. C., and Ferrari, R. (2020). Effects of a single bout of power exercise training on ambulatory blood pressure in older adults with hypertension: a randomized controlled crossover study. *Complement. Ther. Med.* 54:102554. doi: 10.1016/j. ctim.2020.102554
- Senitko, A. N., Charkoudian, N., and Halliwill, J. R. (2002). Influence of endurance exercise training status and gender on postexercise hypotension. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 92, 2368–2374. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00020.2002

- Song, J.-J., Ma, Z., Wang, J., Chen, L.-X., and Zhong, J.-C. (2020). Gender differences in hypertension. J. Cardiovasc. Transl. Res. 13, 47–54. doi: 10.1007/ s12265-019-09888-z
- Thijssen, D. H. J., Bruno, R. M., van Mil, A. C. C. M., Holder, S. M., Faita, F., Greyling, A., et al. (2019). Expert consensus and evidence-based recommendations for the assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans. *Eur. Heart J.* 40, 2534–2547. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz350
- Wegmann, M., Hecksteden, A., Poppendieck, W., Steffen, A., Kraushaar, J., Morsch, A., et al. (2018). Postexercise hypotension as a predictor for longterm training-induced blood pressure reduction: a large-scale randomized controlled trial. *Clin. J. Sport Med. Off. J. Can. Acad. Sport Med.* 28, 509–515. doi: 10.1097/JSM.000000000000475
- Whincup, P. H., Bruce, N. G., Cook, D. G., and Shaper, A. G. (1992). The dinamap 1846SX automated blood pressure recorder: comparison with the Hawksley random zero sphygmomanometer under field conditions. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 46, 164–169. doi: 10.1136/jech.46.2.164

Wilder, J. (1962). Basimetric approach (law of initial value) to biological rhythms. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 98, 1211–1220. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1962. tb30629.x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 de Oliveira Carpes, Domingues, Schimitt, Fuchs, Alhalimi, Tanaka and Ferrari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Post-dynamic Resistance Exercise Hypotension: Exploring Individual Responses and Predictors

Rafael Y. Fecchio<sup>1</sup>, Andreia C. C. Queiroz<sup>2</sup>, Raphael Ritti-Dias<sup>3</sup>, Eduardo Caldas Costa<sup>4</sup> and Cláudia L. M. Forjaz<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Exercise Hemodynamic Laboratory, School of Physical Education and Sport, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>2</sup>Physical Education Department, Federal University of Juiz de Fora, Governador Valadares, Brazil, <sup>3</sup>Post-Graduate Program in Rehabilitation Science, University Nove de Julho, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>4</sup>Department of Physical Education, Federal University of Rio Grande do Norte, Natal, Brazil

**Background:** Post-dynamic resistance exercise hypotension (PREH) has been largely demonstrated. However, little is known regarding the interindividual variation of PREH magnitude and its predictors (i.e. factors of influence).

### **OPEN ACCESS**

# Edited by:

Paulo Farinatti, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

#### Reviewed by:

Alvaro Reischak-Oliveira, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil Laurent Mourot, Université Bourgogne Franche-Comté, France

> **\*Correspondence:** Cláudia Lúcia de Moraes Forjaz cforjaz@usp.br

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 30 September 2021 Accepted: 10 November 2021 Published: 02 December 2021

#### Citation:

Fecchio RY, Queiroz ACC, Ritti-Dias R, Costa EC and Forjaz CLM (2021) Post-dynamic Resistance Exercise Hypotension: Exploring Individual Responses and Predictors. Front. Physiol. 12:787444. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.787444 **Aims:** To assess the interindividual variation of PREH and its predictors related to the characteristics of the individuals and the exercise protocol.

**Methods**: This study retrospectively analysed data from 131 subjects included in seven controlled trials about PREH (including at least one dynamic resistance exercise and one control session) conducted by two research laboratories. The interindividual variation was assessed by the standard deviation of the individual responses ( $SD_{IR}$ ), and linear regression analyses were conducted to explore the predictors.

**Results:** PREH showed moderate interindividual variation for systolic (SBP,  $SD_{IR}$ =4.4 mmHg; 0.35 standardised units) and diastolic blood pressures (DBP,  $SD_{IR}$ =3.6 mmHg; 0.32 standardised units). For systolic PREH, multivariate regression analysis ( $R^2$ =0.069) revealed higher baseline SBP (B=-0.157, p=0.008) and higher number of sets (B=-3.910, p=0.041) as significant predictors. For diastolic PREH, multivariate regression analysis ( $R^2$ =0.174) revealed higher baseline DBP (B=-0.191, p=0.001) and higher exercise volume (i.e. number of exercises \*sets per exercise \*repetitions per sets >150; B=-4.212, p=0.001) as significant predictors. **Conclusion:** PREH has a considerable interindividual variation. Greater PREH magnitude is observed in individuals with higher baseline blood pressure and after exercise protocols that comprehend higher number of sets and exercise volume.

Keywords: blood pressure, interindividual, between-subjects variation, moderators, strength exercise

# INTRODUCTION

Arterial blood pressure (BP) decreases significantly after the execution of different types of exercise (Brito et al., 2018), which has been called post-exercise hypotension (Kenney and Seals, 1993). A recent meta-analysis reported reductions of significant magnitude in clinic as well as 24-h ambulatory BPs after the execution of a single session of dynamic resistance

45

exercise (Casonatto et al., 2016), showing that post-resistance exercise hypotension (PREH) may be clinically relevant. In addition, PREH magnitude seems to be associated with the chronic reductions observed in BP after a period of dynamic resistance training (Tibana et al., 2014; Moreira et al., 2016), suggesting that this acute response may be used to predict BP responsiveness to training.

However, PREH magnitude varies considerably among the studies in the literature. The meta-analysis conducted by Casonatto et al. (2016) reported a significant heterogeneity between the studies' results for systolic and diastolic PREH. Some studies suggest that variation in PREH magnitude may be influenced by factors related to the population and/ or the exercise protocol characteristics. Along this line, Queiroz et al. (2015) found greater magnitude of PREH in hypertensives than normotensives, and greater PREH has been reported after dynamic resistance exercises involving larger muscle mass (Polito and Farinatti, 2009) and multiple sets (Polito and Farinatti, 2009; De Brito et al., 2014; Figueiredo et al., 2015b). Nevertheless, the influence of these factors on PREH has been mainly defined based on comparisons of mean responses (i.e. comparing averages between conditions: hypertensives vs. normotensives; larger vs. smaller mass; and single vs. multiple sets) and not analysing whether there is a real interindividual variation in the response to exercise.

Recently, in the exercise physiology research field, a growing interest has showed up regarding the investigation of the interindividual responses to exercise, which may be relevant for individualizing exercise prescription (Hecksteden et al., 2015). For example, a former study (Lima et al., 2015) explored the interindividual variability of PREH and showed that 46 and 38% of the subjects actually presented systolic and diastolic PREH, respectively. However, this study provided no information about the heterogeneity of the individuals' responses to a control intervention, which is relevant since it has been proposed (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hopkins, 2015) that a true interindividual variation in physiological responses to exercise can only be accepted if the variation (i.e. standard deviation) of the changes in the exercise condition is larger than obtained in a control condition. Importantly, only when a true interindividual variation is demonstrated, it is logical to perform analyses regarding the individual responses, such as identifying responders to exercise or exploring predictors of responsiveness (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hopkins, 2015). Nevertheless, to the best of our knowledge, no previous study has investigated the magnitude of interindividual variation of PREH before evaluating responsiveness or predictors.

Considering this background, it could be noted that despite PREH occurrence has already been well documented in the literature, its magnitude seems to vary among the subjects (i.e. interindividual variation), being important to detect whether this variation actually occurs using appropriate and new statistical approaches and, if so, which factors can influence this response. Therefore, the current study was designed to explore the interindividual variation of PREH and its predictors using a two-step approach. First, the magnitude of the interindividual variation in PREH was determined to confirm whether there was a variation among the subjects' responses. Second, analyses were carried out to explore the potential predictors of PREH, considering factors related to the individuals' and the exercise protocol's characteristics.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Experimental Design**

This is a retrospective study that pooled data from seven previous trials (Rezk et al., 2006; Queiroz et al., 2009, 2013, 2015; Teixeira et al., 2011; Prista et al., 2013; Freire et al., 2018) conducted by two different research laboratories (i.e. the Exercise Hemodynamic Laboratory from the School of Physical Education and Sport of the University of São Paulo and the Research Group on Acute and Chronic Effects of Exercise from the Department of Physical Education of the Federal University of Rio Grande do Norte) between 2006 and 2018.

The included trials attended the following criteria as: (1) were designed to evaluate PREH; (2) presented at least one dynamic resistance exercise session and one control session; (3) had clinic BP as outcome (i.e. BP measurements taken at rest before and after the exercise and control interventions); (4) employed a crossover design; (5) evaluated subjects free of cardiovascular disease except for arterial hypertension; and (6) evaluated subjects not receiving anti-hypertensive medications.

### **Data Analysis**

From each trial, the following individuals' characteristics were extracted for each subject: gender (male or female); age (years); body mass index (BMI, kg/m<sup>2</sup>); diagnosis of hypertension (presence or absence); and baseline BP (defined as the average of the clinic BP values assessed before the exercise and control interventions). Additionally, the following exercise protocol data were extracted: time of day (morning or afternoon/evening); exercise intensity (≥70% of 1RM or <70% of 1RM; Casonatto et al., 2016); number of exercises (≥7 or <7; Queiroz et al., 2015); number of sets (single or multiple); and number of repetitions ( $\geq$ 12 or <12; i.e. median value of the current data). Resistance exercise volume was calculated by the product between the number of exercises, number of sets per exercise and number of repetitions per set, being classified as high  $\geq$  150 or low < 150, which is a cut-off point previously employed in a PREH's meta-analysis (Casonatto et al., 2016). Total exercise load was calculated by the product between exercise volume and exercise intensity, being classified as high  $\geq 105$  or low  $\leq$  105, which corresponds to the previous exercise volume of 150 multiplied by the previous intensity of 70% 1RM.

Finally, PREH was calculated for each subject in each trial by the net effect of the exercise, i.e. the difference between BP responses observed in the exercise and the control sessions, calculated as: PREH net effect=[(post-exercise BP – baseline BP in the exercise session) – (post-control BP – baseline BP in the control session)] (Fecchio et al., 2020).

To avoid duplicated data from the same subject, the following procedures were adopted. In trials that had evaluated

post-exercise BP at multiple moments (e.g. 45, 60 and 90 min after the exercise), the moment of greatest PREH was considered for data analysis. Regarding the trials that had compared different sessions of dynamic resistance exercise (e.g. exercises with different intensities), the session used for data analysis was raffled to avoid any selection bias.

### **Statistical Analyses**

Data distribution was confirmed by Shapiro-Wilk tests. PREH occurrence in the whole sample was checked by comparing the net effect with zero using paired t-tests.

The interindividual variation of PREH (aim 1) was calculated by the standard deviation of the individual responses ( $SD_{IR}$ ) as previously reported (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hopkins, 2015).  $SD_{IR}$  represents the true magnitude of the interindividual variation of PREH adjusted for the random variations derived from biological and measurement sources, being calculated by the formula:  $SD_{IR} = \sqrt{(SD_{\text{ercercise}^2} - SD_{\text{control}^2})}$  where  $SD_{\text{exercise}}$  and  $SD_{\text{control}}$  are the standard deviations of BP responses (i.e. the difference between BP measured before and after the intervention) observed in the exercise and the control sessions, respectively. Then, to a qualitative evaluation of the variation magnitude,  $SD_{IR}$  was expressed in standardised units, calculated by dividing  $SD_{IR}$  by the standard deviation of baseline BP and the results were interpreted using the following cut-off points: <0.30=low;

0.30 to 0.59 = moderate; and > 0.60 = high variation (Hopkins, 2015). When moderate or high variations were found, further analyses were conducted to explore the potential predictors of PREH (aim 2) using simple and multiple linear regressions. Firstly, attendance to statistical assumptions of linear regression modelling were checked. Linear relationship between continuous independent factors and PREH as well absence of heteroscedasticity were checked by scatter graphs. Normal distribution of standardised residuals was checked through histograms of residuals and normal probability plots. Independence of residuals was assessed by Durbin-Watson test accepting values between 1.0 and 3.0. Absence of multi-collinearity among the variables was confirmed by tolerance >0.1 and variance inflation factor < 10.0. The presence of outliers was checked by the standardised predicted values and residuals, and a minimal sample size of 10 subjects for each independent factor was attended. Afterwards, single regression analyses were performed considering PREH (net effect) as the dependent variable and the individuals' (gender, age, BMI, hypertension diagnosis and baseline BP) and the exercise protocol's characteristics (intensity, number of exercises, number of sets, number of repetitions, exercise volume, total exercise load and time of day) as the independent variables. For the multiple regression analyses, a hierarchical modelling was performed with the independent variables clustered into two blocks: the primary block involved the individuals' characteristics, and the secondary block included the exercise protocol's characteristics. The inclusion of the variables in the multivariate model was performed with the forward method within each cluster.

Additionally, the proportion of responders and non-responders regarding the occurrence of PREH was calculated. For that,

first, the typical error (TE) of BP measurement was calculated as: TE =  $SD_{difference} / \sqrt{2}$ , where  $SD_{difference}$  is the standard deviation of the differences in BP measured before the interventions in the exercise and control sessions (Hopkins, 2000). Then, subjects who presented PREH greater than TE were classified as responders (Swinton et al., 2018).

Statistical analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences for Windows (IBM SPSS Statistics, version 20) and the significance level was set as  $p \le 0.05$ . Continuous data were reported as mean value  $\pm$  standard deviation.

### RESULTS

This study included 131 subjects, mainly non-elderly (95.4%), males (62.6%), nonobese (92.3%) and without hypertension (84.0%; **Table 1**). Regarding the dynamic resistance exercise

**TABLE 1** | Descriptive data of the sample (n = 131).

	Value
Characteristics of individuals	
Male, n	82
Age, ys	$36 \pm 15$
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$24.4 \pm 3.4$
Hypertension diagnosis, n	21
Baseline systolic BP, mmHg	$114 \pm 12$
Baseline diastolic BP, mmHg	73±11
Characteristics of exercise protocol	
Exercise intensity	
< 70% of 1 RM, n	108
≥ 70% of 1 RM, n	23
Number of exercises	
< 7 exercises, n	68
≥7 exercises, n	63
Number of sets	
Simple sets, n	22
Multiple sets, n	109
Number of repetitions	
< 12, n	70
≥ 12, n	61
Exercise volume	
Low, n	35
High, n	96
Total exercise load	
Low, n	39
High, n	92
Time of day	
Morning, n	53
Evening, n	78

Continuous values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. BP, blood pressure; RM, repetition maximum. Exercise volume was calculated by the product between number of exercises, number of sets per exercise and number of repetitions per set, being denoted as high when  $\geq$  150. Total exercise load was calculated by the product between exercise volume and intensity, being denoted as high when  $\geq$  105.

	BP response to exercise session	BP response to control session	SD <sub>IR</sub> mmHg (95%Cl)	SD <sub>IR</sub> standardised units (95%CI)	Classification
SBP	-5.3±7.3	$1.5 \pm 5.9$	4.4 (1.9 to 5.9)	0.35 (0.15 to 0.47)	Moderate
DBP	$-0.1 \pm 5.6$	$3.1 \pm 4.3$	3.6 (2.0 to 4.7)	0.32 (0.18 to 0.42)	Moderate

Values are mean ± SD; BP, blood pressure; CI, confidence level; SD<sub>in</sub>, standard deviation of the individual responses; SBP, systolic blood pressure; and DBP, diastolic blood pressure.

**TABLE 3** | Multiple linear regression assessing predictors of post-dynamic resistance exercise hypotension for systolic blood pressure (SBP).

	Coefficient B (unstandardized)	Coefficient $\beta$ (standardised)	Value of P
Multivariate model	-	-	0.010*
(R2 = 0.069)			
Intercept	$14.374 \pm 7.221$	-	0.049*
Baseline SBP (mmHg)	$-0.157 \pm 0.059$	-0.233	0.008*
Multiple sets (yes or no)	$-3.910 \pm 1.891$	-0.180	0.041*
Variables Excluded			
from the Model			
Male gender (yes or no)	-	-0.057	0.592
Age (years)	-	-0.016	0.858
BMI (kg/m²)	-	-0.007	0.939
Hypertension diagnosis	-	0.053	0.610
(yes or no)			
Exercise intensity	-	0.077	0.380
≥70%1RM (yes or no)			
N. exercises ≥7	-	-0.084	0.429
exercises (yes or no)			
N. repetitions ≥12 (ves	_	0.011	0.910
or no)			
High exercise volume		0.060	0.662
(ves or no)			
High total exercise load		0.041	0.738
(ves or no)			
Evening (yes or no)	-	0.051	0.587

BMI, body mass index; RM, repetition maximum; N, number; High exercise

volume  $\geq$  150; High total exercise load  $\geq$  105; \*significant (p<0.05).

protocols, most of the subjects executed protocols of low-intensity (82.4%), multiple sets (83.2%), high exercise volume (73.3%) and high total exercise load (70.2%), while almost half of them executed exercises in the evening (59.5%), with seven or more exercises (48.1%) and 12 or more repetitions per set (46.6%). All trials measured BP by the auscultatory method and with the subjects resting in the seated position. In five trials, post-exercise BP measurements were taken 60 min after the exercise while in the other two trials, BP was measured at 45 and 90 min. The occurrence of PREH in the whole sample (group analysis) was confirmed by significant net effects found for systolic ( $-6.8 \pm 8.1 \text{ mmHg}$ , p < 0.001) and diastolic ( $-3.3 \pm 7.1 \text{ mmHg}$ , p < 0.001) BPs.

The results related to the quantification of the interindividual variation of PREH (aim 1) are shown in **Table 2**.  $SD_{IR}$  for SBP was 4.4 mmHg and 0.35 standardised units, revealing a moderate variation. For DBP,  $SD_{IR}$  was 3.6 mmHg and 0.32 standardised units, also revealing a moderate variation.

Regarding aim 2, simple linear regressions (Supplementary Figure 1) showed a significant association of systolic PREH only with baseline SBP (B = -0.131, p = 0.025). In the multivariate analysis (Table 3), baseline SBP and number of sets were included in the final model as: systolic PREH=14.374-0.157 (baseline SBP) - 3.910 (multiple sets: yes=1, no=0);  $R^2$ =0.069; p=0.010. For diastolic PREH (Supplementary Figure 2), simple linear regressions showed significant associations with baseline DBP (B = -0.215; p < 0.001), hypertension diagnosis (B = -3.797; p = 0.024), male gender (B = -3.862; p = 0.002), high exercise volume (B = -4.844,p < 0.001) and high total exercise load (B = -4.162, p = 0.002). In the multivariate analysis (Table 4), baseline DBP and high exercise volume were included in the final model as: Diastolic PREH=13.680-0.191 (baseline DBP) - 4.212 (high exercise volume: yes = 1, no = 0);  $R^2 = 0.174$ ; p < 0.001.

Lastly, for the analyses of responders, TEs of baseline SBP and DBP were, respectively, 3.9 and 4.2 mmHg. Thus, 41 subjects (31.3%) were classified as non-responders regarding systolic PREH, whereas 72 subjects (55.0%) were classified as non-responders for diastolic PREH (**Figure 1**).

### DISCUSSION

The current study has two main findings. First, there is a moderate interindividual variation in PREH magnitude as demonstrated by  $SD_{IR}$ 's results. Second, systolic PREH is mainly influenced by baseline BP and the number of sets executed during the dynamic resistance exercise session, while diastolic PREH is mainly influenced by baseline DBP and the exercise volume performed as demonstrated by multiple linear regression analyses.

As consistently reported in the current literature (Casonatto et al., 2016), the occurrence of PREH was also observed in the whole sample of the present study by the significant net effects demonstrated for SBP (p<0.001) and DBP (p<0.001). The novelty of the current study was to perform a robust quantification of the interindividual variation of PREH using recommended statistical approaches (Atkinson and Batterham, 2015; Hopkins, 2015). In this sense, the present analyses confirmed the existence of a moderate interindividual variation in PREH for both SBP and DBP based on  $SD_{IR}$  expressed in standardised units being between 0.30 and 0.59. Indeed, the current results show a considerable variation in PREH magnitude across the subjects for both systolic (net effect  $\pm SD_{IR} = -11.2$  to -2.4 mmHg) and diastolic PREH (net effect  $\pm SD_{IR} = -6.9$ 

TABLE 4         Multiple linear regression assessing predictors of post-dynamic
resistance exercise hypotension for diastolic blood pressure (DBP).

	Coefficient B (unstandardized)	Coefficient $\beta$ (standardised)	Value of P
Multivariate Model			<0.001*
(R2 = 0.174)			
Intercept	$13.680 \pm 3.912$	-	0.001*
Baseline DBP (mmHg)	$-0.191 \pm 0.053$	-0.289	0.001*
High exercise volume	$-4.212 \pm 1.295$	-0.264	0.001*
(yes or no)			
Variables Excluded			
from the Model			
Male gender (yes or no)	-	-0.162	0.081
Age (years)	-	0.107	0.216
BMI (kg/m²)	-	0.013	0.885
Hypertension diagnosis	-	-0.132	0.249
(yes or no)			
Exercise intensity	-	-0.054	0.551
≥70%1RM (yes or no)			
N. of exercises ≥7	-	0.160	0.090
exercises (yes or no)			
Multiple sets (yes or no)		0.005	0.969
N. repetitions ≥12 (yes	-	0.005	0.947
or no)			
High total exercise load	-	0.047	0.828
(yes or no)			
Evening (yes or no)	-	-0.008	0.922

BMI, body mass index; RM, repetition maximum; N, number; High exercise volume  $\geq$  150; High total exercise load  $\geq$  105; \*significant (p < 0.05).

to 0.3 mmHg). In addition, this pioneer demonstration of real interindividual variation on PREH allowed the exploration of its predictors related to individuals' and exercise protocol's characteristics.

Along this line, the current study firstly performed simple regression analyses to investigate individuals' characteristics associated with PREH, which showed greater systolic PREH associated with higher baseline SBP, whereas greater diastolic PREH was associated with higher baseline DBP, hypertension diagnosis and male gender. However, hypertension diagnosis and male gender were not maintained in the multivariate model, suggesting that their associations with PREH might be dependent of another factor or factors. In fact, baseline BP was the only investigated individual's characteristic that predicted PREH magnitude in the multivariate analysis, with higher baseline BP being associated with greater PREH. Previous original studies (Melo et al., 2006; Queiroz et al., 2009) have also reported significant associations between BP decrease after a dynamic resistance exercise session and the pre-exercise or baseline BP. Thus, the current result strengthens this finding by analysing data from a larger sample and employing specific statistical approaches. Importantly, the existence of such association may have clinical relevance, revealing a greater effectiveness of dynamic resistance exercise in individuals with altered BP who may benefit more from this acute post-exercise BP-lowering effect (Kenney and Seals, 1993).

Regarding the influence of exercise protocol's variables, the number of sets and the exercise volume were significant predictors of PREH, suggesting that a greater amount of exercise is associated with a greater PREH. This result contrasts with previous meta-analytic data (Casonatto et al., 2016) that found no influence of exercise volume (i.e. exercises \*sets \*repetitions) on PREH. The discrepancy may reflect the higher sensitivity of the statistical analyses performed with individual participant data, as used in the present study, to detect predictors' effects (Tierney et al., 2015). The greater hypotensive effect induced by protocols with higher volume may be related to a greater effect on vasculature since De Brito et al. (2014) showed a bigger decrease in forearm vascular resistance after a session of dynamic resistance exercise with higher volume (i.e. multiple versus single sets), which also resulted in a greater PREH. Differently from variables related to exercise volume, the current results did not reveal exercise intensity as a predictor of PREH. Indeed, the role of exercise intensity on PREH is controversial in the literature with original studies reporting greater PREH after high- (Duncan et al., 2014; De Brito et al., 2015a), moderate- (Figueiredo et al., 2015a) and low- (Rezk et al., 2006) intensity exercises as well as no difference between different intensities (Cavalcante et al., 2015). Lastly, the current study did not find a significant association between the time of day in which exercise was executed and PREH although such influence has been reported for aerobic exercise (De Brito et al., 2015b). Nevertheless, to the better of our knowledge, no previous study has directly compared PREH after morning and evening exercise.

The present results might have important clinical implications. Besides confirming an interindividual variability on PREH's responses, the study showed that an important fraction of the subjects did not present a relevant decrease in BP after resistance exercise (i.e. 31.3% were not responders for SBP and 55.5% for DBP), highlighting the importance of optimising exercise protocol for inducing PREH, which can be done based on the current results. In this sense, the multivariate regression analyses revealed a greater importance of exercise volume than intensity to optimise PREH, since exercise volume or sets but not total exercise load or intensity were significant predictors. In fact, the final multivariate regression models showed that exercise protocols composed by multiple sets and high exercise volume (at least 150) can potentiate systolic and diastolic PREH in approximately 4 mmHg. Importantly, it has been proposed that regular exposure to greater PREH episodes might optimise chronic BP reductions after training (Luttrell and Halliwill, 2015; Brito et al., 2018). Therefore, to increase PREH magnitude, the present study results suggest the employment of training protocols with more exercises, more sets, and more repetitions per set.

Besides employing a robust interindividual statistical technique, the main strength of the present study was to have pooled data from seven trials, including a sample of 131 individuals with different characteristics and that executed different protocols of dynamic resistance exercises, allowing for a comprehensive exploration of PREH occurrence, variation, and predictors. On the other hand, it is important to mention some limitations. First, the study is limited by its retrospective design that confines the analyse only to the predictors included in the original trials and the characteristics addressed in each





one of them. However, the analysis of interindividual variation and predictors requires a substantial sample size (Hopkins, 2015) that is difficult to achieve in single prospective trials. Second, the present study opted to analyse the greatest BP decrease after the exercise, limiting the results to the interindividual variation of the greatest PREH. The inclusion of BP measurements performed at different time points after the exercise can be suggested as a bias. However, in a complementary analysis considering data collected at 60 min after the interventions (n = 106, data not shown), PREH variation remained moderate (SBP  $SD_{IR} = 0.34$  and DBP  $SD_{IR} = 0.32$ standardised units). Third, the multivariate models presented  $R^2$  of 0.069 and 0.174, respectively, for SBP and DBP, explaining 7 and 17% of the PREH variations, which suggests that factors beyond those covered in the original studies included in this analysis, such as hydration status, genetic polymorphisms, race, muscle mass involved in exercise or others, may also affect PREH magnitude and should be investigated by future research. Finally, some caution is needed regarding the extrapolation of the current findings to other situations. In this sense, the present results cannot be transferred to other clinical populations, such as patients with cardiovascular disease, because they may present different cardiovascular dysfunctions that may impose a greater variation in PREH with different predictors. Additionally, results cannot be extrapolated for other types of exercise, such as aerobic exercise, in which an increase in volume prolongs a constant cardiovascular load instead of promoting a progressive cardiovascular load as observed in dynamic resistance exercise, this difference may induce a different impact on PREH variation. Future studies should investigate the interindividual variation of BP responses in these situations.

### CONCLUSION

PREH presents a considerable interindividual variation with its magnitude being influenced by baseline BP, number of exercise sets and exercise volume.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, and further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval were not required for retrospective study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements as original studies included in analysis have already been approved by ethics committees. Written informed consent for participation was obtained for the oiriginal trials included in this study.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RF: conception, design, statistical analysis, interpretation of data, and writing of the manuscript. AQ: extraction of data and revision of the manuscript. RR-D and EC: conception, design, extraction, interpretation of data, and revision of the manuscript. CF: conception, design, interpretation of data, revision of the manuscript, and final approval of the version to be submitted. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This work was supported by the Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPQ, process 304436/2018-6), the São Paulo State Research Foundation (FAPESP, process 2018/12390-1 and process 2018/23653-3) and the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education – Brazil (CAPES, 0001).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge Antonio Prista, Cláudio Rezk, Luiz Teixeira and Yuri Freire for conducting the research that produced the data included in the current work.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2021. 787444/full#supplementary-material

**Supplementary Figure 1** | Simple linear regression analyses assessing possible predictors of systolic post-dynamic resistance exercise hypotension (PREH) related to the following characteristics of the individuals and exercise protocol: baseline systolic blood pressure, SBP (A); gender (B); age (C); body mass index, BMI (D); hypertension diagnosis (E); daytime of exercise (F); exercise intensity (G); number of exercises (H); number of sets (I); number of repetitions (J); exercise volume (K); and total exercise load (L). RM, repetition maximum. \*Significant moderator (p < 0.05). Dashed line represents the typical error of SBP (-3.9 mmHg) and individuals below this line are responders.

**Supplementary Figure 2** | Simple linear regression analyses assessing possible predictors of diastolic post-dynamic resistance exercise hypotension (PREH) related to the following characteristics of the individuals and exercise protocol: baseline diastolic blood pressure, DBP (A); gender (B); age (C); body mass index, BMI (D); hypertension diagnosis (E); daytime of exercise (F); exercise intensity (G); number of exercises (H); number of sets (I); number of repetitions (J); exercise volume (K); and total exercise load (L). RM, repetition maximum. \*Significant moderator (p < 0.05). Dashed line represents the typical error of DBP (-4.2 mmHg) and individuals below this line are responders.

### REFERENCES

- Atkinson, G., and Batterham, A. M. (2015). True and false interindividual differences in the physiological response to an intervention. *Exp. Physiol.* 100, 577–588. doi: 10.1113/EP085070
- Brito, L. C., Fecchio, R. Y., Peçanha, T., Andrade-Lima, A., Halliwill, J. R., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2018). Postexercise hypotension as a clinical tool: a "single brick" in the wall. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 12, e59–e64. doi: 10.1016/j. jash.2018.10.006
- Casonatto, J., Goessler, K. F., Cornelissen, V. A., Cardoso, J. R., and Polito, M. D. (2016). The blood pressure-lowering effect of a single bout of resistance exercise: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 23, 1700–1714. doi: 10.1177/2047487316664147
- Cavalcante, P. A. M., Rica, R. L., Evangelista, A. L., Serra, A. J., Figueira, A. J., Pontes, F. L. J., et al. (2015). Effects of exercise intensity on postexercise hypotension after resistance training session in overweight hypertensive patients. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 10, 1487–1495. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S79625
- De Brito, A. F., Brasileiro-Santos, M. S., Oliveira, C. V. C., Nóbrega, T. K. S., Forjaz, C. L., and da Santos, A. C. (2015a). High-intensity resistance exercise promotes Postexercise hypotension greater than moderate intensity and affects cardiac autonomic responses in women who are hypertensive. J. Strength Cond. Res. 29, 3486–3493. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0000000000001009
- De Brito, A. F., Oliveira, C. V. C., Brasileiro-Santos, M. S., and Santos, A. C. (2014). Resistance exercise with different volumes: blood pressure response and forearm blood flow in the hypertensive elderly. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 9, 2151–2158. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S53441
- De Brito, L., Rezende, R. A., Da Silva, N. D., Tinucci, T., Casarini, D. E., Cipolla-Neto, J., et al. (2015b). Post-exercise hypotension and its mechanisms differ after morning and evening exercise: A randomized crossover study. *PLoS One* 10:e0132458. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132458
- Duncan, M. J., Birch, S. L., and Oxford, S. W. (2014). The effect of exercise intensity on Postresistance exercise hypotension in trained men. J. Strength Cond. Res. 28, 1706–1713. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000000322
- Fecchio, R. Y., De Brito, L. C., Peçanha, T., and De Forjaz, C. L. M. (2020). Post-exercise hypotension and its hemodynamic determinants depend on the calculation approach. J. Hum. Hypertens. 34, 719–726. doi: 10.1038/ s41371-020-0297-5
- Figueiredo, T., Willardson, J. M., Miranda, H., Bentes, C. M., Reis, V. M., and Simão, R. (2015a). Influence of load intensity on Postexercise hypotension and heart rate variability after a strength training session. J. Strength Cond. Res. 29, 2941–2948. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000000954
- Figueiredo, T., Willardson, J. M., Miranda, H., Bentes, C. M., Reis, V. M., Simão, R., et al. (2015b). Influence of number of sets on blood pressure and heart rate variability After a strength training session. J. Strength Cond. Res. 29, 1556–1563. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000000774
- Freire, Y. A., da Silva, C. A., de Sousa, F. J. R., Browne, R. A. V., Farias-Junior, L. F., Schwade, D., et al. (2018). A single multi-joint high-intensity resistance exercise involving large muscle groups elicits post-exercise hypotension in normotensive-trained women: a crossover trial. *Sport Sci. Health* 14, 127–134. doi: 10.1007/s11332-017-0415-0
- Hecksteden, A., Kraushaar, J., Scharhag-Rosenberger, F., Theisen, D., Senn, S., and Meyer, T. (2015). Individual response to exercise training - A statistical perspective. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 1450–1459. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.00714.2014
- Hopkins, W. G. (2000). Measures of reliability in sports medicine and science. Sport. Med. 30, 1–15. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200030050-00006
- Hopkins, W. G. (2015). Individual responses made easy. J. Appl. Physiol. 118, 1444–1446. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00098.2015
- Kenney, M. J., and Seals, D. R. (1993). Postexercise hypotension. Key features, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *Hypertension* 22, 653–664. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.22.5.653
- Lima, A. H. R. A., Miranda, A. S., Correia, M. A., Soares, A. H. G., Cucato, G. G., Sobral Filho, D. C., et al. (2015). Individual blood pressure responses to walking and resistance exercise in peripheral artery disease patients: are the mean values describing what is happening? *J. Vasc. Nurs.* 33, 150–156. doi: 10.1016/j.jvn.2015.09.001

- Luttrell, M. J., and Halliwill, J. R. (2015). Recovery from exercise: vulnerable state, window of opportunity, or crystal ball? *Front. Physiol.* 6:204. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00204
- Melo, C. M., Alencar Filho, A. C., Tinucci, T., Mion, D., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2006). Postexercise hypotension induced by low-intensity resistance exercise in hypertensive women receiving captopril. *Blood Press. Monit.* 11, 183–189. doi: 10.1097/01.mbp.0000218000.42710.91
- Moreira, S. R., Cucato, G. G., Terra, D. F., and Ritti-Dias, R. M. (2016). Acute blood pressure changes are related to chronic effects of resistance exercise in medicated hypertensives elderly women. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 36, 242–248. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12221
- Polito, M., and Farinatti, P. (2009). The effects of muscle mass and number of sets during resistance exercise on postexercise hypotension. J. Strength Cond. Res. 23, 2351–2357. doi: 10.1002/fut
- Prista, A., Macucule, C. F., Queiroz, A. C. C., Silva, N. D. Jr., Cardoso, C. G. Jr., Tinucci, T., et al. (2013). A bout of resistance exercise following the 2007 AHA guidelines decreases asleep blood pressure in Mozambican men. J. Strength Cond. Res. 27, 786–792. doi: 10.1519/ JSC.0b013e31825d9783
- Queiroz, A. C. C., Gagliardi, J. F. L., Forjaz, C. L. M., and Rezk, C. C. (2009). Clinic and ambulatory blood pressure responses After resistance exercise. J. Strength Cond. Res. 23, 571–578. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e318196b637
- Queiroz, A. C. C., Kanegusuku, H., Chehuen, M. R., Costa, L. A. R., Wallerstein, L. F., Dias Da Silva, V. J., et al. (2013). Cardiac work remains high after strength exercise in elderly. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 34, 391–397. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1323779
- Queiroz, A. C. C., Sousa, J. C. S., Cavalli, A. A. P., Silva, N. D. Jr., Costa, L. A. R., Tobaldini, E., et al. (2015). Post-resistance exercise hemodynamic and autonomic responses: comparison between normotensive and hypertensive men. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sport.* 25, 486–494. doi: 10.1111/sms.12280
- Rezk, C. C., Marrache, R. C. B., Tinucci, T., Mion, D., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2006). Post-resistance exercise hypotension, hemodynamics, and heart rate variability: influence of exercise intensity. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 98, 105–112. doi: 10.1007/s00421-006-0257-y
- Swinton, P. A., Hemingway, B. S., Saunders, B., Gualano, B., and Dolan, E. (2018). A statistical framework to interpret individual response to intervention: paving the way for personalised nutrition and exercise prescription. *Front. Nutr.* 5, 41. doi: 10.3389/FNUT.2018.00041
- Teixeira, L., Ritti-Dias, R. M., Tinucci, T., Mion, D., and De Moraes Forjaz, C. L. (2011). Post-concurrent exercise hemodynamics and cardiac autonomic modulation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 111, 2069–2078. doi: 10.1007/ s00421-010-1811-1
- Tibana, R. A., de Sousa, N. M. F., da Cunha Nascimento, D., Pereira, G. B., Thomas, S. G., Balsamo, S., et al. (2014). Correlation between acute and chronic 24-hour blood pressure response to resistance training in adult women. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 36, 82–89. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1382017
- Tierney, J. F., Vale, C., Riley, R., Smith, C. T., Stewart, L., Clarke, M., et al. (2015). Individual participant data (IPD) metaanalyses of randomised controlled trials: Uidance on their use. *PLoS Med.* 12:e1001855. doi: 10.1371/journal. pmed.1001855

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Fecchio, Queiroz, Ritti-Dias, Costa and Forjaz. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Post-exercise Hypotension in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease

Ferdinando Iellamo<sup>1,2\*†</sup>, Marco Alfonso Perrone<sup>2†</sup>, Giuseppe Caminiti<sup>2</sup>, Maurizio Volterrani<sup>2</sup> and Jacopo M. Legramante<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dipartimento di Scienze Cliniche e Medicina Traslazionale, Università Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy, <sup>2</sup>Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico San Raffaele Pisana, Rome, Italy, <sup>3</sup>Dipartimento di Medicina dei Sistemi, Università Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy

**Background:** Blood pressure (BP) and hemodynamic changes occurring in the recovery phase after a single bout of exercise have not been extensively studied in coronary artery patients, despite the potential clinical implications of reducing BP through exercise. This study aimed at investigating the hemodynamic and arterial baroreflex mechanisms possibly involved in post-exercise hypotension (PEH) in patients with coronary artery disease.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Antonio Crisafulli, University of Cagliari, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Maria Teresa La Rovere, Istituti Clinici Scientifici Maugeri (ICS Maugeri), Italy Pier Paolo Bassareo, Mater Misericordiae University Hospital, Ireland

> \*Correspondence: Ferdinando lellamo

iellamo@uniroma2.it

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share co-first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 02 October 2021 Accepted: 23 November 2021 Published: 22 December 2021

#### Citation:

Iellamo F, Perrone MA, Caminiti G, Volterrani M and Legramante JM (2021) Post-exercise Hypotension in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. Front. Physiol. 12:788591. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.788591 **Methods**: In 42 normotensive coronary artery patients undergone a Cardiac Rehabilitation Program, we evaluated before and after their daily exercise training session: blood pressure (BP) and heart rate (HR). In a subgroup (n=29), daily BP profile was also evaluated by ambulatory BP monitoring. In those patients showing PEH (n=15), we evaluated: Cardiac Output (CO), Stroke Volume (SV), total peripheral resistances (TPR), forearm (FVR) and calf (CVR) vascular resistances, and spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity (BRS).

**Results:** After exercise TPR was significantly reduced with a similar contribution from CVR and FVR, whereas CO and SV significantly increased. BRS showed a significant reduction mainly due to a BRS decrease in response to hypertensive stimuli. Systolic BP (SBP) was significantly reduced for 12 h after the end of a single exercise session.

**Conclusion:** These findings indicate that in coronary artery patients, the recovery phase after exercise is characterized by PEH which is mediated mainly by a generalized peripheral vasodilation and appears to influence BP behavior throughout the daily life. Finally, the cardiac component of the arterial baroreflex seems to contribute indirectly to BP reduction occurring after exercise.

Keywords: exercise, hypotension, baroreflex, neural regulation, hemodynamics, ischemic heart disease, post-exercise hypotension

# INTRODUCTION

It has been widely reported that after a single out of dynamic exercise, blood pressure (BP) is usually reduced below pre-exercise control value thus configuring the phenomenon indicated as post-exercise hypotension (PEH; Kenney and Seals, 1993). We reported that in hypertensives, PEH is mediated by a peripheral vasodilation, which may involve metabolic factors linked to

53

post-exercise hyperemia, overriding a concomitant, reflex sympathetic activation directed to the vasculature, with the possible aim to oppose excessive decreases in BP (Legramante et al., 2002). In addition, we have suggested that baroreflex mechanisms controlling heart period retain the potential for a greater opposition to hypotensive stimuli (Legramante et al., 2002), thus contributing to buffer excessive BP decreases.

Because exercise training has been shown to produce beneficial effects in many cardiovascular diseases (Fletcher et al., 1996) and to improve prognosis after myocardial infarction (O'Connor et al., 1989) nowadays, regular physical activity is recommended as a major strategy in the secondary (in addition to primary) prevention of cardiovascular disease. Thus BP reduction may be an important target of secondary prevention even in normotensive patients with established coronary artery disease (CAD), since even small reductions in BP might be useful with regard to coronary risk (Oparil, 1999).

To our knowledge, however, only one small study investigated changes in BP occurring in the recovery phase after exercise in CAD patients (Fagard and Vanhees, 2000), with no clear-cut results. Little is known as the duration of PEH, because BP monitoring was discontinued shortly after exercise and even less as the persistence of BP decrease.

Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM) provides information about the dynamics of BP, (and heart rate as well) during daily life, and is now being increasingly recommended for both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes (Mallion and Baguet, 2006).

Accordingly, the aim of the present study was to investigate BP, hemodynamic, and autonomic (baroreflex) changes occurring after an exercise training session in CAD patients enrolled in a supervised exercise training program and whether BP lowering after a single exercise session is sustained over time while patients have continued their daily activity.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Subjects**

The study included 42 normotensive CAD male patients (mean age 59±7.2) consecutively referred to our Cardiac Rehabilitation Center under reimbursement of the Italian Health Care system. Criteria for eligibility were male sex, sinus rhythm, and normal BP values ( $\leq 130/80$  mmHg) Exclusion criteria were hypertension, congestive heart failure, residual angina, insulin-treated diabetes, major arrhythmias, age >70 years, EF <45%. Diet and medications were not altered during the study. The study was performed during a residential cardiac rehabilitation program. Informed consent was obtained from each subject, and the study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Cardiac Rehabilitation Center.

### **Measurements**

#### Blood Pressure and Heart Rate

In all patients, BP and HR were measured in the sitting posture, with a conventional sphygmomanometer, before and after their

daily exercise training session. In a subgroup of patients (n=29), a 24-h non-invasive ambulatory BP monitoring (ABPM; Spacelabs, United States) was performed twice. In order to study the baroreflex control of sinus node, in a subgroup of subjects showing PEH (n=15), BP was continuously and non-invasively measured by Finapres (Finapres, Ohmeda 2,350, Englewood, CO, United States). The output of the Finapres was transmitted *via* the RS 232 serial port and processed by a software program written in our laboratory. Baroreflex sensitivity (BRS) was assessed by means of the sequences technique (Iellamo et al., 1994).

#### Systemic Hemodynamics

In the same subgroup of patients featuring PEH (n=15), an echocardiographic (Sequoia, Acuson, United States) parasternal long-axis view was used to measure end-diastolic and end-systolic left ventricular diameters as well as the aortic ring diameter. The instantaneous flow velocity in the ascending aorta was measured using continuous-wave Doppler. Stroke volume (SV) was calculated as the product of mean time-velocity integrals and the cross-sectional area of the aortic orifice, as done in previous studies (Ihelen et al., 1984; Iellamo et al., 1994; Legramante et al., 2002). Cardiac output (CO) was calculated as the product of SV and HR. Total peripheral resistance (TPR) was calculated in dynes sec<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> according to the following formula: TPR=80 mean blood pressure/CO.

#### **Regional Hemodynamics**

Brachial and femoral artery ultrasound scans were obtained with a 7 MHz linear array transducer (Celermajer et al., 1992). The diameter of the arteries was measured from B-mode images over longitudinal sections. Arterial blood flow velocity was measured from pulsed Doppler signal. At least 5 measurements were averaged. Volumetric flow was calculated for each study by multiplying the angle corrected velocity time integral of the Doppler signal by the heart rate and the vessel crosssectional area. All measurements used for flow calculations were obtained simultaneously.

#### **Experimental Protocol**

After the patients had sat quietly for 15 min, BP was measured twice, 5 min apart, and the measurements were averaged. After the instrumentation, following a 20 to 25-min adaptation period to the supine position patients underwent baseline echocardiographic, vascular echo-doppler examination, and continuous BP and HR recordings for 10 min.

After baseline measurements, patients underwent their normal exercise training session on a cycle ergometer according to their Rehabilitation Program, as previously reported (Iellamo et al., 2000). Briefly, the training program consisted of 2 daily sessions of 30 min of stationary cycling 6 times a week for 2 weeks (24 sessions overall) combined with calisthenics. Training intensity was graded according to 85% of the HR max reached in an initial exercise test.

60 min after the end of the exercise, during which patients sat quietly in the laboratory, post-exercise BP was measured by sphygmomanometer as described above.

Thereafter, the first 15 consecutive patients who exhibited PEH repeated the echocardiographic, vascular echo-doppler, and the continuous BP and HR recordings in the supine position as before exercise. BP was measured again 120 min after the end of the exercise by sphygmomanometry.

In patients (n = 29) who underwent ABPM, the two recordings were performed in an "exercise" and in a "control day." The patients were instructed to engage in normal daily activities and to avoid strenuous exercise during the 24-h monitoring. On the "exercise day" ABPM was initiated ~15 min before subjects carried out the regular exercise training sessions. On the "control day," the patients abstained from physical activity including the exercise training program. The participants were asked to maintain the same daily routines (including time of sleeping) as after their regular exercise training session.

All the studies were performed in the final week of the training program, and ABPMs were performed at least 3 days apart.

#### Spontaneous Baroreflex Analysis

Details of this analysis have been previously described (Iellamo et al., 1994, 1996, 1999, 2001). Briefly, the beat-by-beat time series of SBP and pulse interval (PI) were scanned by a computer to identify sequences of 3 or more consecutive beats in which SBP and PI changed in the same direction (either increasing, i.e., "up-sequences," or decreasing, i.e., "down-sequences"). A linear regression was applied to each sequence and the mean individual slope of the SBP/PI relationship, obtained by averaging all slopes computed within the test period, was calculated and taken as a measure of the integrated BRS (Bertinieri et al., 1988; Iellamo et al., 1994). We evaluated the occurrence of baroreflex sequences by the engagement time (eng %), which calculates the fractional occurrence of the sequences (Legramante et al., 2001).

#### Statistics

Each variable was checked for normality of distribution by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. When normality test passed, paired *t*-test or one-way ANOVA for repeated measures was used, when appropriate, to compare pre- and post-exercise values for each of the reported variables. The Wilcoxon signed rank test or the Friedman ANOVA on ranks for repeated measures were used, when appropriate, for nonnormally distributed variables. Values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM. Differences were considered statistically significant when *P* was <0.05.

### RESULTS

#### **Exercise Training**

The mean workload attained during the exercise training session was  $74.3\pm2.4$  Watt (range 70-110 Watt) and the average HR max reached  $146\pm2.9$  beats/min ( $87\pm2.0\%$  of the maximal age-predicted HR). No patients complained any symptoms during and after the exercise training sessions.

#### **Blood Pressure**

After exercise BP was lower than in baseline conditions in 76% (32 out of 42) for systolic and in 52% (22 out of 42) for diastolic values of the patients. 60 and 120 min after the end of exercise, SBP still showed a significant decrease, whereas DBP did not showed significant difference as compared to the pre-exercise values (**Figure 1**). HR did not show significant changes both at 60 and 120 min after exercise (from  $69.2 \pm 1.2$  b/min to  $69.1 \pm 1.4$  b/min and to  $68.5 \pm 1.3$  b/min, p = 0.772).

Baseline BP did not show significant differences between the ABPM of the "control" and the "exercise day" (Figure 2). In the "exercise day," SBP was significantly reduced as compared to the baseline for 12h after the end of the exercise, whereas in the "control day," no significant changes in SBP have been reported during the same time interval (Figure 2). SBP reductions were significantly greater during the "exercise day" as compared to the "control day" for the first 12h after the end of the exercise training session (Figure 3). DBP and HR showed a similar behavior in the two experimental sessions (Figures 2, 3). During the night (13th-24th hours), as expected, all the cardiovascular variables showed a significant reduction that was independent from the exercise training session (Figure 2), even though SBP reductions were significantly greater during the "exercise day" as compared to the "control day" (Figure 3).

### Systemic and Regional Hemodynamics

In a subgroup of patients exhibiting PEH (n=15), systolic and diastolic BP reduction (**Table 1**) was accompanied by a significant and substantial decrease in TPR and by a significant increase in SV and in CO. HR was not significantly different before and after exercise (**Table 1**). The vasodilation appeared generalized including both exercising, calf (CVR), and non-exercising, forearm (FVR), muscular districts (**Table 1**).

In the same patients, BRS showed a significant (p < 0.05) decrease during supine recovery after exercise ( $7.5 \pm 0.8 \text{ msec}/\text{ mmHg}$ ) as compared to the pre-exercise values ( $9.8 \pm 1.2 \text{ msec}/\text{ mmHg}$ ). This decrease was mainly due to a significant BRS



**FIGURE 1** | Bar graphs showing systolic (SBP) and diastolic (DBP) blood pressure in 42 coronary artery patients in baseline conditions (**open bars**) and 60 min (**hatched bars**) and 120 min (**black bars**) after exercise. \*p <0.05 vs. baseline.

lellamo et al.



nonexercise control day (**a**). \*p < 0.05 vs. baseline.

decrease in response to hypertensive stimuli (i.e., increasing BP ramps; Figure 4). No significant changes were observed for the occurrence of baroreflex sequences (Figure 4).

# DISCUSSION

The novel finding of this study is that in CAD patients, the recovery period after exercise training session is characterized by a BP reduction similar to that usually observed in hypertensives. To our knowledge, this is the first study which addressed systematically BP behavior, with the attendant changes in central and peripheral hemodynamics, in the recovery phase after exercise in patients with CAD enrolled in an exercise training program.

PEH in our CAD patients differed from that observed in hypertensives in that BP showed a significant reduction only in systolic values, whereas a decrease both in systolic and in diastolic BP has been reported in hypertensives (Somers et al., 1991; Kenney and Seals, 1993; MacDonald et al., 2001; Legramante et al., 2002). The present study



was not designed to define the mechanisms underlying PEH in different patients populations. Nonetheless, some observations deserve comments. Interestingly, the extent of systolic BP decrease after exercise in normotensive CAD patients was in a range similar to that reported for healthy subjects (Coats et al., 1989; Somers et al., 1991; Kenney and Seals, 1993). This observation suggests that the extent of BP decrease occurring in the recovery phase after exercise is linked to baseline BP levels. When BP is high, as in hypertensives, the cardiovascular regulatory mechanisms would allow a greater BP decrease after exercise as compared to normotensives (either healthy or CAD patients) in whom the regulatory system would act to protect from excessive BP decreases. We suggest that in CAD patients the arterial baroreflexes might play a key role in this protection (see below). The possibility that therapy (not discontinued in our patients) could have influenced the extent of BP reduction cannot be excluded. However, drugs were not withdrawn purposely for ethical reasons.

 
 TABLE 1
 Systemic and peripheral hemodynamics in baseline condition and during post-exercise hypotension (PEH).

	BASELINE	PEH
SBP, mmHg	115.6±3.0	104.7±3.0*
DBP, mmHg	70.0±2.0	64.4±2.1*
CO, L/min	$4.2 \pm 0.2$	$4.7 \pm 0.2^{*}$
SV, ml	$74.5 \pm 2.6$	82.1±2.6*
HR, b/min	$56.7 \pm 2.0$	$57.4 \pm 2.0$
TPR, dynes sec <sup>-1</sup> cm <sup>-2</sup>	$1652.5 \pm 71.7$	1344.9±44.7*
FVR, dynes sec <sup>-1</sup> cm <sup>-2</sup>	$138.0 \pm 16.1$	98.2±10.5*
CVR, dynes sec <sup>-1</sup> cm <sup>-2</sup>	48.3±3.0	37.8±2.6*

Values are means  $\pm$  SEM. SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; CO, cardiac output; SV, stroke volume; HR, heart rate; TPR, total peripheral resistance; FVR, forearm vascular resistance; CVR, calf vascular resistance. Hemodynamic data refer to a subgroup of patients (n=15) exhibiting PEH. \*p<0.05 vs. baseline.



Similarly to previous reports in hypertensives (Pescatello et al., 1991; MacDonald et al., 2001), in our study, PEH was not limited to the early recovery but was sustained throughout a substantial part of the day. SBP showed a significant longlasting reduction (~ 12 h) during the "exercise" day as compared to the "control" day. Moreover, even the nighttime BP reduction was significantly greater in the "exercise" as compared to the "control" day.

The sustained BP-lowering effect of exercise has potentially relevant clinical implications, adding to the other benefits of physical activity programs in CAD patients, even in those not suffering from concomitant hypertension history. In fact, the control of BP levels has been widely acknowledged as a major factor positively affecting the prognosis in CAD patients and uncontrolled SBP has been reported as an independent predictor of cardiovascular outcome in patients admitted to hospital for an acute coronary event (Amar et al., 2002). In this context, the possible role played by exercise as an add-on therapy in the control of systolic BP in CAD patients should be regarded as remarkable.

Our results differ from a previous study investigating a similar group of patients which showed no evidence of PEH (Fagard and Vanhees, 2000). Even though that study used an experimental protocol similar to ours, some differences deserve further comments. First, Fagard et al. (Fagard and Vanhees, 2000) measured BP shortly after the end of the exercise (~ 20 min) when patients had changed positions from supine to sitting. The well-known effects of body posture changes on BP regulation (Blomquist and Lowell-Stone, 1983) might have influenced the BP measurements. Second, the small sample size (n=7) could have provided a partial representation of the post-exercise BP behavior in CAD patients. Finally, Fagard et al. (Fagard and Vanhees, 2000) studied patients participating in an outpatient cardiac rehabilitation program, whereas our patients resided in the Cardiac Rehabilitation Center, thus sharing the same daily routines and allowing us to carefully check their activities during the whole duration of the study.

### **Central and Peripheral Hemodynamics**

In keeping with most of the studies performed so far in hypertensives (Pescatello et al., 1991; Hara and Floras, 1995; Legramante et al., 2002), the present investigation confirms that also in CAD patients the decrease in TPR is the main mechanism sustaining PEH. However, at variance with hypertensives in which vasodilation would be limited to the previously active limb, that is, the lower legs (Legramante et al., 2002), in our CAD patients, the vasomotor responses appear similar in different regional vascular beds, being characterized by a significant and marked decrease in both CVR (i.e., the active limbs) and FVR (i.e., the non-active limbs), thus suggesting a generalized vasodilation. This latter was associated with an increase in SV, which may explain the observation of an increased CO despite an unchanged HR as compared to pre-exercise values. This finding suggests the indirect improvement in cardiac performance as an after-effect of a single exercise training session, at least in CAD patients with preserved left ventricular function, in line with previous observations in hypertensives (Cléroux

et al., 1992; Hara and Floras, 1995; Legramante et al., 2002). This could also provide a temptative explanation of the improved left ventricular function reported in CAD patients undergone exercise training (Belardinelli et al., 1998).

### **Spontaneous Baroreflex**

A number of studies (Bennet et al., 1984; Somers et al., 1985; Hagberg et al., 1987; Convertino and Adams, 1991; Legramante et al., 2002) reported a lack of tachycardia during early PEH in hypertensives, raising the question of an alteration in arterial baroreflex modulation of HR. This prompted us to investigate whether this phenomenon is peculiar to hypertensives which have defective baroreflex control mechanisms (Pagani et al., 1988) or whether this phenomenon is generalized to other patients' populations. Also in our CAD patients, BP decrease was not accompanied by the anticipated reflex tachycardia, and this was associated to a leftward shift in the baroreceptor-cardiac stimulus-response relationship to the lower BP level of post-exercise recovery, with a decreased overall BRS from pre-exercise value. This finding would suggest that the arterial baroreflex would be not simply reset (Pagani et al., 1988) along the prevailing (decreased) BP values of the post-exercise period [i.e., a pressure-dependent, acute "baroreceptor" resetting (Sagawa, 1983; Chapleau et al., 1989)], but would also actively contribute to maintain lower HR values through a decrease in baroreceptor-cardiac reflex gain, thus contributing to maintain low BP values by buffering the expected reflex tachycardia. However, BP decrease remained within safety level during recovery and our data suggest that the arterial baroreflex could contribute to this protective effect. In fact, the reduced BRS, due to the decrease in response to hypertensive stimuli (i.e., the increasing BP ramps), attempts to limit the bradycardia resulting from baroreceptors engagement on a recurring basis by spontaneous fluctuations in BP above the mean levels. This attenuated bradycardic pattern would contribute to prevent excessive BP decreases and could also exert a cardioprotective role in the setting of an acute decrease in BP after exercise, by avoiding an increase in myocardial oxygen consumption ensuing from a reflex tachycardia.

It thus appears that the lack of tachycardia during PEH is not limited to hypertensive patients but is a generalized phenomenon, which may indirectly contribute to the maintenance of post-exercise decrease in BP. Although more subtle differences in baroreflex regulation of sinus node may exist between different patients population (Legramante et al., 2002), overall, baroreflex control of HR seems to play substantially a permissive role in PEH also in CAD patients.

It is worth of note, however, that the arterial baroreflex appears capable of buffering excessive PEH by using different strategies. In fact, in hypertensives (Legramante et al., 2002) BRS has been shown to increase in response to *hypotensive* stimuli (i.e., decreasing BP ramps), whereas in the CAD patients of this study, BRS was decreased in response to *hypertensive* stimuli (i.e., increasing BP ramps). These findings suggest that the arterial baroreflex seeks the better strategy to maintain a homeostatic control of the cardiovascular system, and outline the plasticity of the neural networks.

### Limitations of the Study

One possible limitation of this study is the lack of a control group of non-CAD subjects. However, our interest was to test the hypothesis that PEH would occur in normotensive CAD patients and the mechanisms underlying PEH in this widely diffused patients' population. Indeed, several studies have already demonstrated the occurrence of PEH in healthy subjects (in addition to hypertensives). Second, we did not evaluate CAD patients not featuring PEH, so we would not been able to ascertain whether baroreflex responses were returned to normal at 60 min, in line with BP recovery, This, however, would not detract from the novelty of the study. Third, stroke volume was measured by echocardiography, and this might have been a source of mistakes. However, our echocardiographers had a long experience; therefore, we are confident of our results. This study included only male CAD patients, and hence, our results cannot be generalized to females. Moreover, we employed only the aerobic continuous exercise modality. This choice was dictated by current guidelines that recommend aerobic exercise as the preferred training modality (Piepoli et al., 2016) Therefore, it is possible that different training modalities (e.g., resistance, combined, and high intensity interval training) could produce different results as far as PEH and its mechanisms is concerned (Iellamo et al., 2021). Finally, we cannot exclude the possibility that the prevalence of lower blood pressure values we observed might had been different if assessment had been performed at different times during the course of the training period. The last week of the training program was chosen because at that time, the patients had a lower likelihood to be deconditioned and this would have prevented from performing an effective training session.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee IRCCS San Raffaele Pisana, Roma. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

### REFERENCES

- Amar, J., Chamontin, B., Ferrieres, J., et al. (2002). Hypertension control at hospital discharge after acute coronary event: influence on cardiovascular prognosis-the PREVENIR study. *Heart* 88, 587–591. doi: 10.1136/heart.88.6.587
- Belardinelli, R., Georgiou, D., Ginzton, L., Cianci, G., and Purcaro, A. (1998). Effects of moderate exercise training on thallium uptake and contractile response to low-dose dobutamine of dysfunctional myocardium in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 97, 553–561. doi: 10.1161/01. CIR.97.6.553
- Bennet, T., Wilcox, R. G., and MacDonald, I. A. (1984). Post-exercise reduction of blood pressure in hypertensive men is not due to acute impairment of baroreflex function. *Clin. Sci.* 67, 97–103. doi: 10.1042/cs0670097
- Bertinieri, G., Di Rienzo, M., Cavallazzi, A., et al. (1988). Evaluation of baroreceptor reflex by blood pressure monitoring in unanesthetized cats. *Am. J. Phys.* 254, H377-H383. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1988.254.2.H377
- Blomquist, C. G., and Lowell-Stone, H. (1983). "Cardiovascular adjustments to gravitational stress," in *Handbook of Physiology, Section 2: The Cardiovascular System. Vol. 3.* eds. J. T. Shepherd, F. M. Abboud and M. D. Bethesda (Bethesda, Md: American Physiological Society), 1025–1063.
- Celermajer, D. S., Sorensen, K. E., Gooch, V. M., Spiegelhalter, D. J., Miller, O. I., Sullivan, I. D., et al. (1992). Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. *Lancet* 340, 1111–1115. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(92)93147-F
- Chapleau, M. W., Hajduczek, G., and Abboud, F. M. (1989). Peripheral and central mechanisms of baroreflex resetting. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 15, 31–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.1989.tb02994.x
- Cléroux, J., Kouamé, N. G., Nadeau, A., Coulombe, D., and Lacourcière, Y. (1992). Aftereffects of exercise on regional and systemic hemodynamics in hypertension. *Hypertension* 19, 183–191. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.19.2.183
- Coats, A. J. S., Conway, J., Isea, J. E., et al. (1989). Systemic and forearm vascular resistance changes after upright bicycle exercise in man. J. Physiol. 413, 289–298. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1989.sp017654
- Convertino, V. A., and Adams, W. C. (1991). Enhanced vagal baroreflex response during 24 h after acute exercise. Am. J. Phys. 260, R570–R575. doi: 10.1152/ ajpregu.1991.260.3.R570
- Fagard, R., and Vanhees, L. (2000). Twenty-four hour blood pressure after exercise in patients with coronary artery disease. J. Human. Hypertension 14, 231–234. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1000976
- Fletcher, G. F., Balady, G., Blair, S. N., Blumenthal, J., Caspersen, C., Chaitman, B., et al. (1996). Statement on exercise: benefits and recommendations for physical activity programs for all americans. *Circulation* 94, 857–862. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.94.4.857
- Hagberg, J. M., Montain, S. J., and Martin, W. H. (1987). Blood pressure and hemodynamic responses after exercise in older hypertensives. J. Appl. Physiol. 63, 270–276. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1987.63.1.270
- Hara, K., and Floras, J. S. (1995). Influence of naloxone on muscle sympathetic nerve activity, systemic and calf haemodynamics and ambulatory blood pressure after exercise in mild essential hypertension. J. Hypertension 13, 447–461. doi: 10.1097/00004872-199504000-00011
- Iellamo, F., Caminiti, G., Montano, M., Manzi, V., Franchini, A., Mancuso, A., et al. (2021). Prolonged post-exercise hypotension: effects of different exercise modalities and training status in elderly patients with hypertension. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health.* 18:3229. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18063229
- Iellamo, F., Hughson, R. L., Castrucci, F., Legramante, J. M., Raimondi, G., Peruzzi, G., et al. (1994). Evaluation of spontaneous baroreflex modulation of sinus node during isometric exercise in healthy humans. *Am. J. Phys.* 267, H994–H1001. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1994.267.3.H994
- Iellamo, F., Legramante, J. M., Massaro, M., Galante, A., Pigozzi, F., Nardozi, C., et al. (2001). Spontaneous baroreflex modulation of heart rate and heart rate variability during orthostatic stress in tetraplegics and healthy subjects. *J. Hypertens.* 19, 2231–2240. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200112000-00017
- Iellamo, F., Legramante, J. M., Massaro, M., et al. (2000). Effects of a residential exercise training on baroreflex sensitivity and heart rate variability in patients with coronary artery disease. A randomized, controlled study. *Circulation* 102, 2588–2592. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.21.2588
- Iellamo, F., Legramante, J. M., Raimondi, G., Castrucci, F., Massaro, M., and Peruzzi, G. (1996). Evaluation of reproducibility of spontaneous baroreflex

sensitivity at rest and during laboratory tests. J. Hypertens. 14, 1099–1104. doi: 10.1097/00004872-199609000-00009

- Iellamo, F., Pizzinelli, P., Massaro, M., Raimondi, G., Peruzzi, G., and Legramante, J. M. (1999). Muscle metaboreflex contribution to sinus node regulation during static exercise. Insights from spectral analysis of heart rate variability. *Circulation* 100, 27–32. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.100.1.27
- Ihelen, H., Amlie, J. P., Dale, J., et al. (1984). Determination of cardiac output by Doppler echocardiography. Br. Heart J. 51, 54–60. doi: 10.1136/hrt.51.1.54
- Kenney, M. J., and Seals, D. R. (1993). Postexercise hypotension. Key features, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *Hypertension* 22, 653–664. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.22.5.653
- Legramante, J. M., Galante, A., Massaro, M., Attanasio, A., Raimondi, G., Pigozzi, F., et al. (2002). Hemodynamic and autonomic correlates of postexercise hypotension in patients with mild hypertension. *Am. J. Phys.* 282, R1037– R1043. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00603.2001
- Legramante, J. M., Raimondi, G., Massaro, M., and Iellamo, F. (2001). Positive and negative feedback mechanisms in the neural regulation of the cardiovascular function in healthy and spinal cord injured humans. *Circulation* 103, 1250–1255. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.103.9.1250
- MacDonald, J. R., Hogben, C. D., Tarnopolsky, M. A., and MacDougall, J. (2001). Post exercise hypotension is sustained during subsequent bouts of mild exercise and simulated activities of daily living. J. Human. Hypertension 15, 567–571. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1001223
- Mallion, J. M., and Baguet, J. P. (2006). Mancia G (2006) European Society of Hypertension Scientific Newsletter: clinical value of ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. J. Hypertens. 24, 2327–2330. doi: 10.1097/01. hjh.0000249720.05006.d5
- O'Connor, G. T., Buring, J. E., Yusuf, S., et al. (1989). An overview of randomized trials of rehabilitation with exercise after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 80, 234–244. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.80.2.234
- Oparil, S. (1999). "Arterial hypertension," in *Cecil-Textbook of Medicine*. eds. C. J. Bennet and F. Plum (Philadelphia, Pa: WB Saunders), 256–271.
- Pagani, M., Somers, V. K., Furlan, R., Dell'Orto, S., Conway, J., Baselli, G., et al. (1988). Changes in autonomic regulation induced by physical training in mild hypertension. *Hypertension* 12, 600–610. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.12.6.600
- Pescatello, L. S., Fargo, A. E., Leach, C. N., et al. (1991). Short-term effect of dynamic exercise on arterial pressare. *Circulation* 83, 1557–1561. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.83.5.1557
- Piepoli, M. F., Hoes, A. W., Agewall, S., Albus, C., Brotons, C., Catapano, A. L., et al. (2016). European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: the sixth joint task force of the European Society of Cardiology and other societies on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. *Eur. Heart J.* 37, 2315–2381. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- Sagawa, K. (1983). "Baroreflex control of systemic arterial pressure and vascular bed," in *Handbook of Physiology, Section 2: The Cardiovascular System. Vol.* 3. eds. J. T. Shepherd and F. M. Abboud (Bethesda, Md: American Physiological Society), 453–496.
- Somers, V. K., Conway, J., Coats, A., Isea, J., and Sleight, P. (1991). Postexercise hypotension is not sustained in normal and hypertensive humans. *Hypertension* 18, 211–215. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.18.2.211
- Somers, V. K., Conway, J., LeWinter, M., and Sleight, P. (1985). The role of baroreflex sensitivity in post-exercise hypotension. J. Hypertens. 3, S129–S130.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Iellamo, Perrone, Caminiti, Volterrani and Legramante. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Effects of Aquatic Exercise in Post-exercise Hypotension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Cristina Oliveira Trindade<sup>1</sup>, Emerson Cruz Oliveira<sup>1,2</sup>, Daniel Barbosa Coelho<sup>1,2</sup>, Juliano Casonatto<sup>3</sup> and Lenice Kappes Becker<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Postgraduate Program in Health and Nutrition/PPGSN, Federal University of Ouro Preto, Ouro Preto, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Physical Education Department, Physical Education School, Federal University of Ouro Preto, Ouro Preto, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Research Group in Physiology and Physical Activity, University of Northern Paraná, Londrina, Brazil

**Background:** Post-exercise hypotension (PEH) can be an important nonpharmacological strategy in the treatment of arterial hypertension. Both aerobic and resistance exercises produce PEH, but it is not clear if the exercise environment can lead to a higher PEH.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Paulo Farinatti, Universidade Do Estado Do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

#### Reviewed by:

Aline De Freitas Brito, Universidade de Pernambuco, Brazil Alex Itaborahy, Brazil Olympic Committee, Brazil Tainah De Paula, Rio de Janeiro State University, Brazil

#### \*Correspondence:

Lenice Kappes Becker lenice@ufop.edu.br

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 13 December 2021 Accepted: 06 January 2022 Published: 31 January 2022

#### Citation:

Trindade CO, Oliveira EC, Coelho DB, Casonatto J and Becker LK (2022) Effects of Aquatic Exercise in Post-exercise Hypotension: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Physiol. 13:834812. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.834812 **Objective:** This meta-analysis investigated whether a session of aquatic exercise (AE) induces PEH in comparison with control conditions such as land exercise (LE) or rest in hypertensive subjects.

**Methods:** The present systematic review and meta-analysis was conducted using the following electronic databases: PubMed, Google Scholar, and EMBASE. Ambulatory blood pressure measurements made in randomized clinical trials were pooled to compare PEH induced by AE with LE and rest conditions in hypertensive subjects.

**Results:** Data from four trials were included, which comprised 127 participants (94 women and 33 men). A 24-h analysis did not detect significant differences between AE and LE or rest for either systolic blood pressure (SBP) or diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Monitoring during the night showed that AE induced significant PEH in comparison with LE for SBP [-8.6 (-15.0 to -1.5) mmHg (p = 0.01)]. For DBP, the AE had pronounced PEH during the night in comparison with LE [-3.7 (-4.7 to -2.8) mmHg, p = 0.000] and rest [-1.7 (-1.9 to -0.8) mmHg, p = 0.000]. There were no differences in daytime values.

**Conclusion:** AE showed a higher PEH effect than LE sessions and rest conditions. PEH was observed in both SBP and DBP during the night. The number of studies was low, but all studies included in this meta-analysis used 24-h monitoring. The understanding of clinical relevance of AE, inducing a higher PEH, depends on a standardization of exercise protocols plus a rigorous monitoring of blood pressure.

Systematic Review Registration: PROSPERO registration: CRD42021271928.

Keywords: post-exercise hypotension, aquatic exercise, water-based exercise, exercise, ambulatory blood pressure, systematic review and meta-analysis

# INTRODUCTION

Recent publications in the American Heart Association (AHA) and the American College of Cardiology (ACC) recommend lifestyle approaches and physical activity as the first line of therapy for elevated blood pressure (Barone Gibbs et al., 2021). The guidelines for hypertension treatment recommend 90–150 min per week of moderate-to-vigorous intensity aerobic exercise and 90–150 min per week (6 exercises  $\times$  3 sets  $\times$  10 repetitions) of dynamic resistance exercise (Whelton et al., 2018).

An important phenomenon that occurs after exercise is post-exercise hypotension (PEH). PEH is characterized by a reduction in systolic and/or diastolic blood pressure (BP) below the control level after a single bout of exercise. PEH has been analyzed as a reduction in BP below the values immediately prior to the exercise session or in comparison with a control condition (without exercise) (Kenney and Seals, 1993). A meta-analysis that included 65 studies showed a reduction in systolic (SBP) and diastolic pressure (DBP) after exercise in pre-hypertensives (-6 mmHg) and hypertensives (-8 mmHg). Both aerobic and resistance exercises reduce SBP/DBP (6/4 mmHg) and (3/3 mmHg), respectively (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016).

Aquatic exercise (AE) has several benefits in comparison with land exercise (LE) on account of water properties such as its density and hydrostatic pressure, which contribute to lower cardiovascular demand (Yoo et al., 2014; Chien et al., 2015) and orthopedic injury. This suggests the possibility of AE serving several individuals of different ages (Torres-Ronda and Del Alcázar, 2014).

Water-based and aquatic exercises promote several cardiovascular alterations in healthy and cardiac patients. There is a greater increase in cardiac output and pulse pressure (PP) during water immersion exercises than those performed on land. These alterations are observed at rest and during exercise (Christie et al., 1990; Gabrielsen et al., 2000; Schega et al., 2007; Schmid et al., 2007; Mourot et al., 2008). In addition, there is a reduction in the vascular tone and peripheral vascular resistance (Schega et al., 2007; Mourot et al., 2008).

A recent meta-analysis reported that AE improved vascular function, which is an important aspect of AE in reducing BP in hypertensive subjects (Igarashi et al., 2017). Considering the relevance of PEH in hypertension treatment and the differential effects of water-based/aquatic exercise on the cardiovascular system, the purpose of this meta-analysis was to evaluate whether water-based/aquatic exercise results in higher PEH than exercise on land or rest.

# **METHODS**

This systematic review and meta-analysis followed the guidelines of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement (Liberati et al., 2009). The study protocol was registered with the PRISMA statement PROSPERO (CRD42021271928). TABLE 1 | Search strategy demonstration.

Population	+	Independent variable	+	Dependent variable
("Hypertension"[Mesh] OR "High Blood Pressure")	AND	("Aquatic Therapy"[Mesh] OR "aquatic exercise" "water-based exercise" "water aerobics exercise" OR "Exercise"[Mesh] OR "Physical Activity" OR "Physical Activities" OR "Physical Exercise" OR "Acute Exercise" OR "Aerobic Exercise" OR "Exercise Training")	AND	("Hypotension"[Mesh OR "Post-Exercise Hypotension"[Mesh] OR "Acute exercise response" OR "blood pressure response" OR "Postexercise Hypotension")

### **Research Strategy**

The present systematic review was conducted using data from the following electronic databases: PubMed, Google Scholar, and EMBASE. The search terms included a combination of the following key concepts: "hypertension," "hypotension," "postexercise hypotension," "aquatic exercise," "hypotension," and "water-based exercise." No language restrictions were imposed.

Two authors (C.O.T. and L.K.B.) independently conducted a systematic search. The search strategy was performed using the combination of Mesh terms and other important descriptors, as shown in the **Table 1**.

The combination of terms defined for "population," "independent variable," and "dependent variable" were performed using Boolean operators. In this sense, below is an example of the command line applied to search in PubMed. ("Hypertension"[Mesh] OR "High Blood Pressure") AND ("Aquatic Therapy"[Mesh] OR "aquatic exercise" "water-based exercise" "water aerobics exercise" OR "Exercise" [Mesh] OR "Physical Activity" OR "Physical Activities" OR "Physical Exercise" OR "Acute Exercise" OR "Aerobic Exercise" OR "Exercise Training") AND ("Hypotension"[Mesh] OR "Post-Exercise Hypotension"[Mesh] OR "Acute exercise response" OR "blood pressure response" OR "Post-exercise Hypotension").

### **Eligibility Criteria**

The criteria for the included studies were based on a checklist that considered the following characteristics: randomized control trial studies that were performed in pre-hypertensive humans ( $\geq$ 18 years of age), all participants were hypertensive, and the intensity and method of blood pressure measurement were described in detail. The trials compared the effect of a single session of land-based vs. water-based exercise and rest conditions, and the office and/or ambulatory BP were measured at least 15 min following the exercise bouts. The extracted data were full-text

		Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
P	Population	Hypertensive adult humans	Musculoskeletal disorders, other chronic diseases and under 18 years old
I	Intervention	A bout of water-based/aquatic exercise	Other types of exercise and chronic interventions
С	Comparison	1) Land exercise and 2) Rest control	-
0	Outcome	Blood pressure response	Blood pressure follow-up for <60 min
S	Study type	Randomized control trial	Systematic review, cross-sectional, quasi-experimental study, case reports, observational study, review, protocol study, qualitative study

peer-reviewed. Exclusion criteria included any study that did not meet all the above inclusion criteria. The eligibility for selecting the studies was determined through the PICOS process (**Table 2**).

### **Study Selection and Quality**

Two reviewers (C.O.T and L.K.B.) independently examined the titles and abstracts of all studies for eligibility. Then, the full texts of all studies that met the inclusion criteria and those in which there were some uncertainties were retrieved and reviewed by both reviewers. To reach a consensus, disagreements between reviewers were discussed with a third researcher (E.C.O). Reviewers were not blinded to the journal or authors. The rationale for deleting any full-text article was also documented.

In addition, the procedural quality of the studies was assessed using the Tool for the assEssment of Study qualiTy and reporting in Exercise—TESTEX (Smart et al., 2015), which is a study quality assessment and reporting tool designed specifically for use in exercise training studies. All selected studies (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019) were analyzed using the TESTEX scale. Two studies (Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019) scored 09, while one study (Terblanche and Millen, 2012) scored 10 and another study (Sosner et al., 2016) scored 11, which indicates high quality. These studies failed to score items 3 (allocation concealment) and 5 (supervisor blindness) concerning study quality. And in items 6a (outcome measures assessed in 85% of patients, in which more than 85% were completed), 6c (if attendance per year is reported), item 8b (if statistical comparisons between groups are reported for by minus one secondary measure) and item 10 (activity monitoring in control groups) referring to the study report. The study with score 10 (Terblanche and Millen, 2012) scored item 6a because it kept the sample at more than 85% and the study with score 11 (Sosner et al., 2016) scored item 5 because it was stated that the measure of the primary outcome evaluator was blind.

Therefore, eligible studies (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019) were classified as high quality through the quality analysis of the TESTEX scale for intervention studies. **Table 3** illustrates the criteria awarded for each study.

# **Data Extraction**

A specific data extraction file was created and used by the authors. The following study information was extracted: authors, publication year, study design, sample size, participant characteristics (sex, mean age, hypertension status), exercise protocol (intensity, duration, mode), level of water immersion (pool depth), water temperature, the method of measuring BP, and BP measurement time (**Table 4**).

### **Statistical Analyses**

Analyses were performed using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis software (CMA, version 2.2.064, Biostat, NJ, USA). Two-sided statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. The primary outcome measure was an effect on blood pressure response. Descriptive data of treatment groups and participants are reported as the mean  $\pm$  SD. Study data were pooled using a random-effects model. Inconsistencies were estimated using the  $I^2$  statistic. Additionally, we evaluated an additional hypothesis that there might be differences in the effects of AE on post-exercise hypotension accordingly to the comparison type (land exercise or rest control). Differences between subgroups were analyzed by means of an analysis of variance (Q-test-based ANOVA). Additionally, the Duval and Tweedie (2000) trim and fill computation were used to estimate the effect of publication bias on the results.

# RESULTS

A PRISMA flow diagram of the literature search and selection process is shown in **Figure 1**. The priori search identified 2,450 articles involving PEH. After the screening process, 141 abstracts were read, 99 articles were excluded for duplicates or other reasons, 39 articles were selected as potential studies for evaluation, 32 full-text reports were excluded, seven reports were assessed for eligibility, and after analyses, three reports were excluded due to insufficient blood pressure monitoring time. Only four articles were selected, finally (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019). These studies were included in the final meta-analysis because they were conducted in hypertensive volunteers and because PEH was recorded 24-h after aquatic, land, or rest conditions.

# **Risk of Bias Within and Across Studies**

The TESTEX scale uses 12 criteria, with some criteria scoring more than one possible point, for a maximum score of 15 points. The overall quality of the included studies was of high quality, all studies scored above 09. Weaknesses in the studies were: allocation concealment, whether attendance per year is reported, whether statistical comparisons between groups are reported for at least one secondary measure, and activity monitoring in

<b>BLE 3</b> Analysis of the methodological quality of the included studies.
--

References		Stu	dy qu	ality		Partial				5	Study re	eporting	g				Partial	Total
	1	2	3	4	5	(1–5)	6a	6b	6c	7	8a	8b	9	10	11	12	(1–10)	(0–15)
Júnior et al. (2019)	1	1	0	1	0	3	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	6	09
Cunha et al. (2018)	1	1	0	1	0	3	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	6	09
Terblanche and Millen (2012)	1	1	0	1	0	3	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	7	10
Sosner et al. (2016)	1	1	0	1	1	4	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	7	11

Tool for the assEssment of Study quality and reporting in Exercise (TESTEX) (15) criteria: (Study quality) 1 -Eligibility criteria specified; 2 - Randomization specified; 3 - Allocation concealment; 4 - Groups similar at baseline; 5 - Blinding of assessor; (Study reporting); 6 - Outcome measures assessed in 85% of patients (6a = 1 point if more than 85% were completed, 6b = 1 point if adverse events were reported, 6c = if attendance to the year is reported); 7 - Intention-to-treat analysis; 8 - Between-group statistical comparisons reported (8a = 1 point if between-group comparisons are reported for the primary outcome variable of interest; 8b = 1 point whether statistical comparisons between groups are reported for at least one secondary measure); 9 - Point measures and measures of variability for all reported outcome measures; 10 - Activity monitoring in control groups; 11 - Relative exercise intensity remained constant; 12 - Exercise volume and energy expenditure.

control groups (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019).

The kappa correlation showed high overall agreement between the researchers [k = 0.93; 0.73–1.00 (95% CI)—p < 0.001].

The Duval and Tweedie (2000) correction model was applied to the AE study groups for PEH. No trimmed studies could be identified. The consistency of studies was analyzed using  $I^2$  as a test of heterogeneity for subgroup analyses (**Table 5**).

### **Study Characteristics**

Table 4 shows the characteristics of these studies. The characteristics of the sample included (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019) in the trials were as follows: 33 men and 94 women, a water group (n = 46) (Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019), land group (n = 34) (Sosner et al., 2016; Júnior et al., 2019), and a rest or control group (n = 12) (Cunha et al., 2018); one study (Terblanche and Millen, 2012) (n =21) in which the participants performed one land and one water exercise session in random order, as well as a control session with no exercise. Two studies (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Cunha et al., 2018) were crossover-type studies, one study (Júnior et al., 2019) was a controlled clinical trial, and the other (Sosner et al., 2016) was a parallel study. In one study (Sosner et al., 2016), the volunteers were allocated to two groups: high-intensity dry land or high intensity in immersed condition, and in another (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019), the volunteers were allocated to aquatic and land groups using a stratified randomization method. The mean ages of the participants in the studies were 53-65 years. All studies (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019) reported that the subjects were hypertensive; only one study included high blood pressure (systolic  $\geq$  130 mmHg and diastolic  $\geq$  85 mmHg) and hypertensive subjects. Exercise intensity was expressed as heart rate reserve (75%) (Júnior et al., 2019). One study (Sosner et al., 2016) expressed exercise intensity using the percentage of maximal grade test (60-80%), and one study (Terblanche and Millen, 2012) used the  $VO_2$  maximal percentage (60–80%). Only two studies (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016) reported the depth of water and temperature. Four studies (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019) used automatic ambulatory BP monitors for 24 h. **Supplementary Material** shows the office SBP and DPB and more details of exercise prescription parameters.

#### Main Outcomes Systolic Blood Pressure

The 24-h analysis did not identify PEH for AE compared to LE [-7.3 mmHg (-14.9 to -0.2 mmHg),  $I^2 = 93\%$ , p = 0.057] or rest [-6.0 mmHg (-12.0 to -1.4 mmHg),  $I^2 = 0\%$ , p = 0.1] conditions. Monitoring during the night showed a significant PEH for AE compared to LE [-8.6 mmHg (-15.0 to -1.5 mmHg),  $I^2 = 88\%$ , p = 0.01] and no significant favorable effect in relation to control rest [-5.4 mmHg (-12.8 to 1.5 mmHg),  $I^2 = 0\%$ , p = 0.12]. Daytime analysis did not identify significant PEH in favor to AE compared to LE [-10.2 mmHg (-22.5 to 2.1 mmHg),  $I^2 = 96\%$ , p = 0.105] or control rest [-6.4 mmHg (-18.7 to 5.8 mmHg),  $I^2 = 0\%$ , p = 0.306] (Figure 2).

#### **Diastolic Blood Pressure**

The 24-h analysis did not identify differences in favor to AE in comparison to LE [-4.1 mmHg (-8.8 to 0.4 mmHg),  $I^2 = 88\%$ , p = 0.07] or rest [-1.9 mmHg (-6.0 to -2.4 mmHg),  $I^2 = 0\%$ , p = 0.06] control conditions. The AE had favorable PEH during the night in comparison with LE [-3.7 mmHg (-4.7 to -2.8 mmHg),  $I^2 = 23\%$ , p = 0.000] and rest [-1.7 mmHg (-1.9 to -0.8 mmHg),  $I^2 = 0\%$ , p = 0.000] control conditions. There were no differences in the daytime values in comparison to LE [-5.2 mmHg (-10.7 to 0.1 mmHg),  $I^2 = 93\%$ , p = 0.057] and rest [-2.0 mmHg (-7.5 to 3.4 mmHg),  $I^2 = 0\%$ , p = 0.461] control conditions (**Figure 3**).

The mean effects were similar for "control conditions" (LE vs. rest), except for DBP during the nighttime period of blood pressure monitoring, where the magnitude of blood pressure reduction was greater in relation to LE (p = 0.000; Q-test-based ANOVA).

	Overview of the	aonoral	obaractoristics	of the stud	y and participants.
IADLE 4	Overview of the	general	characteristics	or the stud	y and participants.

References	Design	Subjects analyzed	Age* (Yrs)	BP category	Land exercise/rest	Aquatic exercise	Pool depth	Water temperature	BP measurements (device)	Time point BP measurements
Júnior et al. (2019)	Controlled clinical trial	40F	(LE-PEH) $67 \pm 3$ (AE-PEH) $64 \pm 3$ (LE) $65 \pm 3$ (AE) 70 $\pm 2$	Hypertensive	Exercise session consisted of aerobic collective gymnastics (50 m: including 5 m of warm-up; 20 m of aerobic exercises at 75% of reserve heart rate; 20 m of resistance exercises; and 5m of stretching)	Exercise session consisted of a combined aerobic and resistance exercises at 75% of reserve heart rate	-	-	Heart rate monitor (POLAR® RS800) and Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring (ABPM)	Over 24-h post-exercise
Cunha et al. (2018)	Crossover	24F	70.0 ± 3.9	Hypertensive	The control session was a 45 m session with no exercise. During this session, participants remained seated or standing as desired. They read, talked, and drank water, but did nothing else	Exercise intensities were 55–60% of maximum heart rate (HRmax) during warm-up; 70–75% of HRmax during active exercise; and 55–60% of HRmax during cooldown.	-	-	Heart rate monitor (POLAR <sup>®</sup> RS800) and ABPM	21-h post-exercise
Terblanche and Millen (2012)	Crossover	11M 10F	$50 \pm 12 \text{ M}$ $54 \pm 10 \text{ F}$	Hypertensive	Exercise sessions were between 60 and 80% of peak VO <sub>2</sub> . Exercises included 30 m of resistance exercises followed by 25 m of aerobic exercises	Exercise sessions were between 60 and 80% of peak VO <sub>2</sub> and consisted of combined aerobic and resistance exercises	The depth at the shallowest point of the pool was 2.1 meters	27°C	Automated ambulatory air bladder-containing cuff (Ergoline Ergoscan 2008, Germany)	24-h post-exercise
Sosner et al. (2016)	Parallel	22M 20F	(MICE) $65 \pm 6$ (HIIE-D) $65 \pm 8$ (HIIE-I) $63 \pm 9$	Hypertensive	On an electromagnetically braked cycle ergometer, each exercise session was preceded by a 5 m of warm-up consisting in pedaling at 60 W with a cadence of 80 revolutions per min (rpm) and followed by a 5 m of recovery period in a sitting position that began immediately after exercise cessation. The intensity was determinate based in Maximal Continuous Graded Exercise Test potency	On a mechanically braked cycle ergometer, each exercise session was preceded by a 5 m of warm-up consisting in pedaling at 40 rpm and followed by a 5 m of passive recovery period in a sitting position that began immediately after exercise cessation. The intensity was determinate based in Maximal Continuous Graded Exercise Test potency	Saddle and handlebar height as well as forward placement were adjusted to determine optimal position. Immersed cycling (up-to-the- chest)	30°C	Ambulatory BP (Mobil-O-Graph PWA)	24-h post-exercise

ABPM, Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring; BP, Blood Pressure; HRmax, maximum heart rate; M, male; F, female; W, watts; RPM, revolutions per minute; m, minutes; s, seconds; \*Mean ± SD; Yrs, years; AE-PEH, aquatic exercise post-exercise hypotension; LE-PEH, land exercise post-exercise hypotension; AE, aquatic exercise; LE, land exercise; MICE, moderate-intensity continuous exercise; HIIE-D, high-intensity interval exercise dryland; HIIE-I, high-intensity interval exercise immersed.

Trindade et al.



# DISCUSSION

The purpose of the present systematic review and meta-analysis was to determine whether AE induces significant PEH compared to LE and rest conditions. The pooled results suggest that a single session of AE induced a statistically significant PEH during the night for both SBP and DPB; for DBP, the AE led to different results between land and rest.

An interesting recent review (Zhou et al., 2021) examined AE for health promotion during a 31-year bibliometric analysis. The results suggest that research on this topic has been constantly increasing over the past 30 years, and trends have focused on improving cardiovascular health with AE.

One meta-analysis that investigated the chronic effects of AE on BP showed a significant decrease in BP; the SBP was estimated to be -8.4 mmHg while the change in DBP was estimated to be -3.3 mmHg (Igarashi and Nogami, 2017). These reductions

are higher than those observed in other exercise modalities: regular endurance exercise led to a decrease of approximately -3.5 mmHg (SBP) and -1.8 mmHg (DBP) (Cornelissen and Smart, 2013); resistance exercises led to a decrease of -3.9 mmHg (SBP) and -3.6 mmHg (DBP) (Cornelissen et al., 2011); and yoga exercise training led to a decrease of -5.2 mmHg (SBP) and -5.0 mmHg (DBP) (Chu et al., 2014).

The mechanisms by which aquatic/water-based exercise reduces BP must be further investigated. Currently, research shows that these exercises result in a reduction in peripheral vascular resistance (Pendergast et al., 2015), suppression of the renin-angiotensin system, and cardiopulmonary and baroreflex activation (Gabrielsen et al., 1996; Reilly et al., 2003) that lead to a marked reduction in renal sympathetic nerve activity and increased urine flow and sodium excretion (Larochelle et al., 1994). These alterations are mediated by hydrostatic effects of immersion in water, which redirects ~700 mL of blood flow from

#### TABLE 5 | Heterogeneity of studies.

		Hete	erogeneity test	
Control	n	Q	p	l <sup>2</sup>
Systolic blood pro	essure-24 l	h		
Land exercise	3	32.9	0.000	93.9
Rest	3	1.7	0.413	0.0
Overall	6	34.7	0.000	85.6
Systolic blood pro	essure — da	ytime		
Land exercise	3	63.0	0.000	96.8
Rest	3	0.7	0.671	0.0
Overall	6	156.7	0.000	96.8
Systolic blood pro	essure—nig	ghttime		
Land exercise	3	17.5	0.000	88.6
Rest	3	1.0	0.599	0.0
Overall	6	78.7	0.000	93.6
Diastolic blood p	ressure-24	h		
Land exercise	3	18.0	0.000	88.9
Rest	3	0.6	0.713	0.0
Overall	6	20.3	0.001	75.4
Diastolic blood p	ressure-d	aytime		
Land exercise	3	28.7	0.000	93.0
Rest	3	1.1	0.569	0.0
Overall	6	81,0	0.000	93.8
Diastolic blood p	ressure-n	ighttime		
Land exercise	3	2.6	0.269	23.8
Rest	3	0.6	0.728	0.0
Overall	6	22.4	0.000	77.7

N, number of trials; Q, observed variation; l<sup>2</sup>, ratio of true heterogeneity to the total variation in observed effects.

the extremities (increased venous return) to the thorax (Sik Park et al., 1999; Meredith-Jones et al., 2011).

Another important point that must be observed in further works is the standardization of participants' physical activity level. Only two studies included in this review describe the physical level of voluntaries. In one of them (Júnior et al., 2019), the hypertensive subjects were trained in AE or land exercise at least for 6-months before the experiment. Another study described that the voluntaries were trained only in land (Cunha et al., 2018). The forest plot showed that the AE trained group (6months) had higher PEH than the land trained group. However, both groups of hypertensive subjects showed significant PEH in favor of AE compared to land or rest. On the other hand, in two articles (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Sosner et al., 2016) that do not describe if the participants were physically active, AE was not better, with an exception for SBP (Terblanche and Millen, 2012). These results can indicate that participants' physical activity level can impact PEH.

The pooled net change contained significant heterogeneity, but the reason for this could not be determined. Probably the active level of participants can be one reason. Physically active individuals achieved higher PEH after the exercise session. This seems to support the theory proposed by some authors (Hamer, 2006). Some physiological mechanisms produced by the chronic effect of exercise that reduce BP also play a role in PEH onset. For example, exercise training has been shown to lead to important adaptations and better arterial vessel compliance that may facilitate the decrease in peripheral resistance following an exercise session (Thijssen et al., 2013). It has been also demonstrated that trained hypertensive patients presented lower values of SBP and DBP than the sedentary participants after a single bout of continuous aerobic exercise (Imazu et al., 2017).

The adaptations to AE can collaborate with PEH. Training seems to generate neurohumoral adaptations that are important for BP control, and chronic AE (12-weeks) in resistant hypertensive subjects showed a significant decrease in 24-h SBD and DBP in the clinic; concomitantly, nitric oxide levels increased, and endothelin-1, renin, and norepinephrine levels showed significant reductions (de Cruz et al., 2017). The confirmation of these effects must justify the further clinical use of AE training for treatment of hypertensive subjects.

Another important question is the modality and/or way the exercise was performed. Three studies included in this metaanalysis used a combination of aerobic and resistance exercise in water or land; one used only aerobic exercise, and the last used High Intensive Interval Exercise (HIIE). A recent metaanalysis showed that land HIIE promoted a larger PEH than moderate-intensity continuous exercise on ambulatory daytime blood pressure (Marçal et al., 2021). Another meta-analysis showed that several types of regular AE as swimming, deep water, circuits, resistance, and others, significantly reduce the blood pressure in hypertensive subjects. The pooled net results of the present work showed significant PEH, especially during the nighttime, so it seems that the AE, independently of how it is done, leads to significant PEH (Igarashi and Nogami, 2017) characterizes one more area for future studies.

One study (Júnior et al., 2019) included in this meta-analysis shows that PEH is higher for the AE group only in the 12th hour after exercise session compared to the land group. This point of ambulatory blood pressure measurement is characterized as nighttime evaluation. Another study (Cunha et al., 2018) finds more points of differences between AE and rest for DBP in 4th, 11th, 12th, and 13th h after exercise session, showing the predominance of differences in nighttime period. The exact underlying mechanisms by which exercise improves nighttime PEH are not clear. One possible mechanism involved can be the effects of AE in autonomic control. The blood pressure and heart rate are modulating by autonomous nervous system, which exhibits a predominant vagal tone in most species, including humans. Bocalini et al. (2017) measured the heart rate variability (HRV) which indicated the predominance of sympathetic (Low Frequency-LF) and vagal modulation (High Frequency-HF), 90-min after land and AE session. After both land and AE, the HF was significantly greater than that assessed at rest condition, suggesting that more than just a parasympathetic reactivation in PEH occurs. In addition, the increase in HF and the reduction in LF and LF/HF ratio during recovery were also significantly greater in the AE than in the land-based exercise, reinforcing the effectiveness of exercise under immersion, especially for hypertensive patients. During nighttime there is a prevalence of



FIGURE 2 | Systolic blood pressure post-exercise hypotension effect. Comparison between water exercise (aquatic) with land exercise or rest condition. (A) 24 h, (B) Daytime, (C) Nighttime.

vagal tone (Furlan et al., 1990), the AE can contribute to increased vagal modulation by alterations in the ratio of sympathetic/vagal

tone once the decrease in sympathetic activity is a mechanism described for AE (Schmid et al., 2007).

67



FIGURE 3 | Diastolic blood pressure post-exercise hypotension effect. Comparison between water exercise (aquatic) with land exercise or rest condition. (A) 24 h, (B) Daytime, (C) Nighttime.

There are very few studies that have compared the chronic effects of AE and LE on blood pressure (BP) control. Júnior et al. (2019) observed that elderly hypertensive individuals trained in

an aquatic setting had lower baseline BP during the daytime; Arca et al. (2013) and Ruangthai et al. (2020) showed the same effect for BP, but a study in patients with peripheral artery disease revealed that although land-based exercise therapy is effective in reducing arterial stiffness, heated-water exercise demonstrates greater benefits on vascular function (Park et al., 2020).

Interestingly, recent data (Ruangthai et al., 2020) showed a better lipid profile for AE compared to LE, suggesting that the improvement in blood lipid levels and body fat after aquatic training programs might result from the influence of water temperature. Studies have shown a positive effect of AE on blood lipids and body composition (Takeshima et al., 2002), temperatures of 28–30°C for 60 min, indicating that temperature can influence metabolic rate. This response is due to the increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system (Daanen and Van Marken Lichtenbelt, 2016).

A study examining patients with stable chronic heart failure showed that AE has additional benefits to endothelial function because this type of exercise effectively increases the basal level of plasma nitrates (Mourot et al., 2009). Water immersion decreases the vascular tone and total peripheral resistance (Mourot et al., 2008). A study conducted on a dog model showed an increase in skeletal muscle blood flow in the forelimbs and hindlimbs during immersion, suggesting an increased peripheral blood flow (Hajduczok et al., 1987). The aquatic immersion effect led to increased shear stress on vessel walls, increasing nitric oxide bioavailability (Niebauer and Cooke, 1996; Green et al., 2004). Thus, water/aquatic-based exercises may have different effects on vessel responses compared to LE, and further studies are required to investigate these effects.

The practical clinical importance of AE is the possibility of adherence to an exercise program. The water proprieties enable the participation of several people, for example, elderly subjects, patients who cannot support their weight, or have poor balance. Another important point with great clinical relevance is a cardiovascular response in AE, the SBP, DBP, and HR gradually increased during the underwater treadmill walking, but their mean maximum increases were significantly smaller than those of the land treadmill walking, underwater treadmill walking can better help relieve the cardiovascular workload compared to the land treadmill walking in stroke patients (Yoo et al., 2014). Additionally, AE allows the combination of aerobic and resistance exercises due to the buoyancy effect, which may potentiate the effects of exercise as well-known effects of exercise, such as autonomic activity modulation, better baroreceptor reflex sensitivity, and endothelium-dependent vasodilatation (Fadel, 2008).

The clinical relevance of AE in PEH must be more evident after the elucidation of magnitude and duration time of the PEH, so, at the end of this discussion, some future perspectives will be indicated. In these meta-analyses was evident that AMBP monitoring is scarce. The use of ABPM has limitations due to the adherence of the equipment in arms for 24-h. In addition, the equipment is expensive. One alternative is the home blood pressure monitoring, at least 2 or 3-times at nighttime. Another important question is the standardization of participants' activity level, as well the monitoring of the daily life activities during the intervention period of the experiment. Investigators can use a step counter or another device for these monitoring. Another gap that needs investigation is the autonomic control during and after AE. In these perspectives, a simple and applicable methodology of measuring heart rate variability can be used. Baroreflex sensibility is another parameter that demands more investigation, considering the importance of neural mechanisms involved in blood pressure control. This measurement presents more limitations, but several no invasive methods can be applied: Valsalva maneuver, which produces a natural challenge for the baroreceptors by voluntarily increasing intrathoracic and abdominal pressure through straining; the neck chamber technique, which allows a selective activation/deactivation of carotid baroreceptors by application of negative/positive pressure to the neck region and spontaneous oscillations of systolic arterial pressure and RR interval.

## CONCLUSION

AE is effective in promoting PEH during the night for SBP in comparison with LE and for SBP and DPB in comparison with the rest condition. The 24-h analysis did not show any significant differences. The number of studies describing a 24-h measure was low, and further studies are required, including different physical conditions (active or sedentary) and the type of exercise enrolled (aquatic or land). Additionally, the nighttime results draw attention to possible aquatic and water-based effects in autonomic control of BP. The benefits provided by this type of exercise warrant for this research topic to be further explored.

# LIMITATIONS

The current meta-analysis has several limitations. The pooled net change for land comparisons contained significant heterogeneity, but the reason for this heterogeneity could not be determined. Several important questions need to be addressed: the physical level of volunteers was described in only two papers, and in one of them (Cunha et al., 2018) the subjects were physically active on land but not in water; in another study (Júnior et al., 2019), the study population consisted of elderly hypertensive individuals, of which 20 trained in land-based exercises and 20 in aquatic-based exercises. The participants were enrolled in recurrent physical exercise for at least 6 months before evaluation for a minimum of two sessions a week.

Another important point that can contribute to high heterogeneity to land exercise is the standardization of exercise session between studies, one study was made in cycle ergometer (Sosner et al., 2016) and other 3 studies made through dynamic whole-body exercise (Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Cunha et al., 2018; Júnior et al., 2019), in addition, the intensity of exercise is controlled by different methods: HR reserve, HR maximal, VO<sub>2</sub> maximal and RPM. More studies with similar protocols are necessary to evaluate the aquatic vs. land exercise effect in blood pressure.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CT, LB, JC, and EO contributed to the conception and design of the manuscript. CT and LB performed the data search and data extraction. JC performed the data analysis. CT, EO, and DC drafted the manuscript. JC, LB, and DC performed critical revisions of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This study was funded by National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico—CNPq), Coordination and Improvement of Superior Education Staff (Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior—CAPES), Minas Gerais State Research Support

## REFERENCES

- Arca, E. A., Martinelli, B., Martin, L. C., Waisberg, C. B., and Franco RJ da, S. (2013). Aquatic exercise is as effective as dry land training to blood pressure reduction in postmenopausal hypertensive women. *Physiother. Res. Int.* 19, 93–98. doi: 10.1002/pri.1565
- Barone Gibbs, B., Hivert, M.-F., Jerome, G. J., Kraus, W. E., Rosenkranz, S. K., Schorr, E. N., et al. (2021). Physical activity as a critical component of first-line treatment for elevated blood pressure or cholesterol: who, what, and how? A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Hypertension*. 78, e26–e37. doi: 10.1161/HYP.000000000000196
- Bocalini, D. S., Bergamin, M., Evangelista, A. L., Rica, R. L., Pontes, F. L., Figueira, A., et al. (2017). Post-exercise hypotension and heart rate variability response after water- and land-ergometry exercise in hypertensive patients. Csernoch, L., editor. *PLoS ONE.* 12, e0180216. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180216
- Carpio-Rivera, E., Moncada-Jiménez, J., Salazar-Rojas, W., and Solera-Herrera, A. (2016). Acute effects of exercise on blood pressure: a meta-analytic investigation. Arquivos Brasileiros Cardiol. 106, 64. doi: 10.5935/abc.20160064
- Chien, K.-Y., Chen, W.-C., Kan, N.-W., Hsu, M.-C., and Lee, S.-L. (2015). Responses of blood pressure and lactate levels to various aquatic exercise movements in postmenopausal women. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness. 55, 1423–1430.
- Christie, J. L., Sheldahl, L. M., Tristani, F. E., Wann, L. S., Sagar, K. B., Levandoski, S. G., et al. (1990). Cardiovascular regulation during head-out water immersion exercise. J.Appl. Physiol. 69, 657–664. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1990.69.2.657
- Chu, P., Gotink, R. A., Yeh, G. Y., Goldie, S. J., and Hunink, M. M. (2014). The effectiveness of yoga in modifying risk factors for cardiovascular disease and metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur. J. Prevent. Cardiol.* 23, 291–307. doi: 10.1177/2047487314562741
- Cornelissen, V. A., Fagard, R. H., Coeckelberghs, E., and Vanhees, L. (2011). Impact of resistance training on blood pressure and other cardiovascular risk factors. *Hypertension*. 58, 950–958. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.177071
- Cornelissen, V. A., and Smart, N. A. (2013). Exercise training for blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2, 4473. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.004473
- Cunha, R. M., Costa, A. M., Silva, C. N. F., Póvoa, T. I. R., Pescatello, L. S., and Lehnen, A. M. (2018). Postexercise hypotension after aquatic exercise in older women with hypertension: a randomized crossover clinical trial. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 31, 247–252. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpx165
- Daanen, H. A. M., and Van Marken Lichtenbelt, W. D. (2016). Human whole body cold adaptation. *Temperature*. 3, 104–118. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2015.1135688

Foundation (Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais—FAPEMIG), and Pro-Rectory of Research, Postgraduate and Innovation of the Federal University of Ouro Preto (Pró-Reitoria de Pesquisa, Pós-Graduação e Inovação da UFOP—PROPPI-UFOP).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special thanks to Dr. Philippe Sosner and Dr. Alexandre Machado Lehnen who responded to our requests for any additional data or answered our doubts.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2022.834812/full#supplementary-material

- de Cruz, L. G. B., Bocchi, E. A., Grassi, G., and Guimaraes, G. V. (2017). Neurohumoral and endothelial responses to heated waterbased exercise in resistant hypertensive patients. *Circ. J.* 81, 339–345. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-16-0870
- Duval, S., and Tweedie, R. (2000). Trim and fill: a simple funnel-plot-based method of testing and adjusting for publication bias in meta-analysis. *Biometrics*. 56, 455–463. doi: 10.1111/j.0006-341X.2000.00455.x
- Fadel, P. J. (2008). Arterial baroreflex control of the peripheral vasculature in humans. *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 40, 2055–2062. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318180bc80
- Furlan, R., Guzzetti, S., Crivellaro, W., Dassi, S., Tinelli, M., Baselli, G., et al. (1990). Continuous 24-hour assessment of the neural regulation of systemic arterial pressure and RR variabilities in ambulant subjects. *Circulation*. 81, 537–547. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.81.2.537
- Gabrielsen, A., Sørensen, V. B., Pump, B., Galatius, S., Videbæk, R., Bie, P., et al. (2000). Cardiovascular and neuroendocrine responses to water immersion in compensated heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circul. Physiol.* 279, H1931– H1940. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2000.279.4.H1931
- Gabrielsen, A., Videbaek, R., Johansen, L. B., Warberg, J., Christensen, N. J., and Norsk, P. (1996). Immediate baroreflex-neuroendocrine interactions in humans during graded water immersion. J. Gravit. Physiol. J. Int. Soc. Gravit. Physiol. 3, 22–23.
- Green, D. J., Maiorana, A., O'Driscoll, G., and Taylor, R. (2004). Effect of exercise training on endothelium-derived nitric oxide function in humans. J. Physiol. 561, 1–25. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.068197
- Hajduczok, G., Miki, K., Claybaugh, J. R., Hong, S. K., and Krasney, J. A. (1987). Regional circulatory responses to head-out water immersion in conscious dogs. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Compar. Physiol. 253, R254–R263. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1987.253.2.R254
- Hamer, M. (2006). The anti-hypertensive effects of exercise. Sports Med. 36, 109–116. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200636020-00002
- Igarashi, Y., Akazawa, N., and Maeda, S. (2017). Regular aerobic exercise and blood pressure in East Asians: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin. Exp. Hyperten.* 40, 378–389. doi: 10.1080/10641963.2017.1384483
- Igarashi, Y., and Nogami, Y. (2017). The effect of regular aquatic exercise on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur. J. Prevent. Cardiol.* 25, 190–199. doi: 10.1177/2047487317731164
- Imazu, A. A., Goessler, K. F., Casonatto, J., and Polito, M. D. (2017). The influence of physical training status on postexercise hypotension in patients with hypertension. *Blood Pressure Monit.* 22, 196–201. doi: 10.1097/MBP.00000000000255
- Júnior, F. A., Gomes, S. G., da Silva, F. F., Souza, P. M., Oliveira, E. C., Coelho, D. B., et al. (2019). The effects of aquatic and land exercise on resting blood pressure

and post-exercise hypotension response in elderly hypertensives. *Cardiovasc. J. Afr.* 31, 8–14. doi: 10.5830/CVJA-2019-051

- Kenney, M. J., and Seals, D. R. (1993). Postexercise hypotension. Key features, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *Hypertension*. 22, 653–664. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.22.5.653
- Larochelle, P., Cusson, J. R., du Souich, P., Hamet, P., and Schiffrin, E. L. (1994). Renal effects of immersion in essential hypertension. Am. J. Hyperten. 7, 120–128. doi: 10.1093/ajh/7.2.120
- Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gøtzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P. A., et al. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 62, e1–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006
- Marçal, I. R., Goessler, K. F., Buys, R., Casonatto, J., Ciolac, E. G., and Cornelissen, V. A. (2021). Post-exercise hypotension following a single bout of high intensity interval exercise vs. a single bout of moderate intensity continuous exercise in adults with or without hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Front. Physiol.* 12, e675289. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.675289
- Meredith-Jones, K., Waters, D., Legge, M., and Jones, L. (2011). Upright waterbased exercise to improve cardiovascular and metabolic health: a qualitative review. *Complement. Ther. Med.* 19, 93–103. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2011.02.002
- Mourot, L., Bouhaddi, M., Gandelin, E., Cappelle, S., Dumoulin, G., Wolf, J.-P., et al. (2008). Cardiovascular autonomic control during short-term thermoneutral and cool head-out immersion. *Aviation Space Environ. Med.* 79, 14–20. doi: 10.3357/ASEM.2147.2008
- Mourot, L., Teffaha, D., Bouhaddi, M., Ounissi, F., Vernochet, P., Dugue, B., et al. (2009). Training-induced increase in nitric oxide metabolites in chronic heart failure and coronary artery disease: an extra benefit of water-based exercises? *Eur. J. Cardiovasc. Prevent. Rehabil.* 16, 215–221. doi: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e3283292fcf
- Niebauer, J., and Cooke, J. P. (1996). Cardiovascular effects of exercise: role of endothelial shear stress. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 28, 1652–1660. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(96)00393-2
- Park, S.-Y., Wong, A., Son, W.-M., and Pekas, E. J. (2020). Effects of heated water-based versus land-based exercise training on vascular function in individuals with peripheral artery disease. J. Appl. Physiol. 128, 565–575. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00744.2019
- Pendergast, D. R., Moon, R. E., Krasney, J. J., Held, H. E., and Zamparo, P. (2015). Human physiology in an aquatic environment. *Compreh. Physiol.* 5, 1705–50. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140018
- Reilly, T., Dowzer, C. N., and Cable, N. (2003). The physiology of deepwater running. J. Sports Sci. 21, 959–972. doi: 10.1080/026404103100016 41368
- Ruangthai, R., Phoemsapthawee, J., Makaje, N., and Phimphaphorn, P. (2020). Comparative effects of water- and land-based combined exercise training in hypertensive older adults. *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.* 90, 104164. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2020.104164
- Schega, L., Claus, G., Almeling, M., Niklas, A., and Daly, D. J. (2007). Cardiovascular responses during thermoneutral, head-out water immersion in patients with coronary artery disease. *J. Cardiopul. Rehabil. Prevent.* 27, 76–80 doi: 10.1097/01.HCR.0000265033.11930.99
- Schmid, J., Noveanu, M., Morger, C., Gaillet, R., Capoferri, M., Anderegg, M., et al. (2007). Influence of water immersion, water gymnastics and swimming on cardiac output in patients with heart failure. *Heart*. 93, 722–727. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2006.094870

- Sik Park, K., Kyu Choi, J., and Saeng Park, Y. (1999). Cardiovascular regulation during water immersion. Applied human science. J. Physiol. Anthropol. 18, 233–241. doi: 10.2114/jpa.18.233
- Smart, N. A., Waldron, M., Ismail, H., Giallauria, F., Vigorito, C., Cornelissen, V., et al. (2015). Validation of a new tool for the assessment of study quality and reporting in exercise training studies. *Int. J. Evid. Based Healthcare*. 13, 9–18. doi: 10.1097/XEB.00000000000020
- Sosner, P., Gayda, M., Dupuy, O., Garzon, M., Lemasson, C., Gremeaux, V., et al. (2016). Ambulatory blood pressure reduction following high-intensity interval exercise performed in water or dryland condition. J. Am. Soc. Hyperten. 10, 420–428. doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2016.02.011
- Takeshima, N., Rogers, M. E., Watanabe, E., Brechue, W. F., Okada, A., Yamada, T., et al. (2002). Water-based exercise improves health-related aspects of fitness in older women. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 34, 544–551. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200203000-00024
- Terblanche, E., and Millen, A. M. E. (2012). The magnitude and duration of postexercise hypotension after land and water exercises. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 4111–4118. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2398-5
- Thijssen, D. H. J., Dawson, E. A., van den Munckhof, I. C. L., Birk, G. K., Timothy Cable, N., and Green, D. J. (2013). Local and systemic effects of leg cycling training on arterial wall thickness in healthy humans. *Atherosclerosis*. 229, 282–286. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2013.05.013
- Torres-Ronda, L., and Del Alcázar, X. S. (2014). The properties of water and their applications for training. *J. Hum. Kinet.* 44, 237–248. doi: 10.2478/hukin-2014-0129
- Whelton, P. K., Carey, R. M., Aronow, W. S., Casey, D. E., Collins, K. J., Dennison Himmelfarb, C., et al. (2018). 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 71, e127–248. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.006
- Yoo, J., Lim, K.-B., Lee, H.-J., and Kwon, Y.-G. (2014). Cardiovascular response during submaximal underwater treadmill exercise in stroke patients. *Ann. Rehabil. Med.* 38, 628. doi: 10.5535/arm.2014.38.5.628
- Zhou, W.-S., Ren, F.-F., Yang, Y., and Chien, K.-Y. (2021). Aquatic exercise for health promotion: a 31-year bibliometric analysis. *Perceptual Motor Skills*. 128, 2166–2185. doi: 10.1177/00315125211032159

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Trindade, Oliveira, Coelho, Casonatto and Becker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




## Skeletal Muscle Hyperemia: A Potential Bridge Between Post-exercise Hypotension and Glucose Regulation

Thomas K. Pellinger1\* and Chi-An W. Emhoff2

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physical Therapy, University of Maryland Eastern Shore, Princess Anne, MD, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Kinesiology, Saint Mary's College of California, Moraga, CA, United States

For both healthy individuals and patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D), the hemodynamic response to regular physical activity is important for regulating blood glucose, protecting vascular function, and reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease. In addition to these benefits of regular physical activity, evidence suggests even a single bout of dynamic exercise promotes increased insulin-mediated glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity during the acute recovery period. Importantly, post-exercise hypotension (PEH), which is defined as a sustained reduction in arterial pressure following a single bout of exercise, appears to be blunted in those with T2D compared to their non-diabetic counterparts. In this short review, we describe research that suggests the sustained post-exercise vasodilation often observed in PEH may sub-serve glycemic regulation following exercise in both healthy individuals and those with T2D. Furthermore, we discuss the interplay of enhanced perfusion, both macrovascular and microvascular, and glucose flux following exercise. Finally, we propose future research directions to enhance our understanding of the relationship between post-exercise hemodynamics and glucose regulation in healthy individuals and in those with T2D.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Paulo Farinatti, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

#### Reviewed by:

Juliana Pereira Borges, Rio de Janeiro State University, Brazil

> \***Correspondence:** Thomas K. Pellinger tkpellinger@umes.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 25 November 2021 Accepted: 28 December 2021 Published: 31 January 2022

#### Citation:

Pellinger TK and Emhoff CA (2022) Skeletal Muscle Hyperemia: A Potential Bridge Between Post-exercise Hypotension and Glucose Regulation. Front. Physiol. 12:821919. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.821919 Keywords: glucose delivery, blood pressure, vasodilation, recovery, type 2 diabetes, histamine receptors

## INTRODUCTION

As with healthy individuals, in patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D), regular physical activity offers numerous benefits, including improved blood glucose regulation (reduced HbA1c) (Boulé et al., 2001; Umpierre et al., 2011) increased insulin sensitivity (Winnick et al., 2008), improved clinical symptoms (Wojtaszewski and Richter, 2006) and the delay or prevention of developing cardiovascular disease (Balducci et al., 2012). In addition to these benefits of regular exercise, evidence suggests even one bout of dynamic exercise stimulates increased insulin-mediated glucose uptake (Usui et al., 1998; Oguri et al., 2009) and insulin sensitivity (Devlin et al., 1987; Perseghin et al., 1996; Bordenave et al., 2008) in patients with T2D during post-exercise recovery. These findings highlight the importance of the post-exercise period in optimizing glycemic regulation in this population. In this mini review, we provide a brief overview of the phenomenon known as post-exercise hypotension (PEH) and how the sustained vasodilation that is frequently associated with PEH may affect glucose regulation in both healthy individuals and in people with T2D.

72

In doing so, we focus on the significance of post-exercise blood flow, both macrovascular and microvascular, in the delivery, transport and metabolism of glucose. Finally, we suggest future research directions to advance our understanding of how postexercise hemodynamics affect glucose regulation in both healthy individuals and those with T2D.

# OVERVIEW OF POST-EXERCISE HYPOTENSION

During recovery from an acute bout of dynamic exercise, humans experience PEH, which features a sustained reduction in arterial pressure compared to pre-exercise control levels (Kenney and Seals, 1993). In most circumstances, PEH is associated with post-exercise skeletal muscle vasodilation that is not completely off-set by a still elevated cardiac output (Halliwill et al., 2013). However, occasionally (e.g., in some hypertensive subjects) it has corresponded with a decreased cardiac output accompanied by an increase in systemic vascular resistance (Brito et al., 2014). Numerous mechanisms appear to be responsible for PEH and the sustained post-exercise vasodilation often observed in the previously active skeletal muscle vascular beds. The baroreflex is reset to defend a lower pressure following exercise (Halliwill et al., 1996), which is sometimes associated with a decrease in post-exercise muscle sympathetic outflow (Halliwill et al., 1996) and/or an increase in parasympathetic activity concomitant to the PEH (Park et al., 2006). However, other investigations have found no changes in autonomic modulation (Park et al., 2008; Anunciação et al., 2016) or have observed increased sympathetic activity (Teixeira et al., 2011; Cunha et al., 2016) post-exercise, which suggests that variations in autonomic control may reflect a physiological response to compensate for the fall in blood pressure via the downward resetting of the arterial baroreflex following exercise (Farinatti et al., 2021). For a given level of sympathetic nerve activity, reduced vascular resistance has been observed in the previously active skeletal muscle vascular beds after exercise (Halliwill et al., 2003). Importantly, post-exercise skeletal muscle vasodilation is facilitated locally by activation of both the histamine H<sub>1</sub> and H<sub>2</sub> receptors, as combined H<sub>1</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonism attenuates PEH by ~65% and post-exercise vasodilation by  $\sim$ 80% following 60 min of moderate-intensity dynamic exercise (Halliwill et al., 2013).

PEH has been observed in men and women (Senitko et al., 2002) and in both sedentary and endurance-trained individuals (Senitko et al., 2002; Lockwood et al., 2005; McCord et al., 2006; McCord and Halliwill, 2006). Numerous modes of aerobic exercise may evoke PEH (MacDonald, 2002) and although most investigations have employed large muscle dynamic exercise (e.g., cycle ergometer), PEH and post-exercise vasodilation have also been induced by single-leg dynamic knee extension exercise (Barrett-O'Keefe et al., 2013). In normotensive and hypertensive individuals, in both laboratory and ambulatory studies, PEH has been provoked by varying doses of exercise (MacDonald et al., 2000; Pescatello et al., 2004; Eicher et al., 2010), although the magnitude and duration of PEH are somewhat dose-dependent

with regards to exercise intensity (Forjaz et al., 2004; Smelker et al., 2004) and duration (Forjaz et al., 1998; Mach et al., 2005).

### POST-EXERCISE GLUCOSE REGULATION IN HEALTHY INDIVIDUALS

Skeletal muscle glucose uptake is dependent on several determinants that can be sequentially categorized into either glucose delivery, transport, or metabolism (Wasserman and Ayala, 2005). Delivery of glucose to the interstitial space is determined by arterial glucose concentration, skeletal muscle blood flow, capillary perfusion, and endothelial permeability (Jensen and Richter, 2012). Depending on acute (e.g., physical activity level) or chronic conditions (e.g., disease), any of these steps can be rate-limiting.

During the first 90 min post-exercise, skeletal muscle glucose uptake is enhanced in an insulin-independent manner (Richter et al., 2001; Henriksen, 2002). This elevated muscle glucose uptake corresponds with the peak glycogen synthesis rate in the previously exercised skeletal muscle (Price et al., 1994; Casey et al., 2000), thereby promoting post-exercise glycogen repletion.

Research on both rodents (Schultz et al., 1977; Hespel et al., 1995) and humans (Hickner et al., 1991; Baron et al., 1994; Durham et al., 2003) suggest augmented limb blood flow promotes skeletal muscle glucose uptake, even independent of the vasodilatory influence of insulin. In examining the influence of exercise on this relationship, Hamrin et al. (2011) observed, via skeletal muscle microdialysis, that increased tissue perfusion was associated with enhanced glucose uptake 12 h after the completion of a 2-h bout of moderate-intensity one-legged cycling. Notably, this response was independent of enhancement of insulin responses, as they found similar increases in skeletal muscle glucose uptake in the post-exercising and post-resting legs in response to a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp.

# Role of Histamine Receptor-Mediated Vasodilation

Several studies employing histamine-receptor blockade have lent support to the notion that sustained skeletal muscle vasodilation following exercise aids in the movement of glucose from the central circulation to skeletal muscles. Pellinger et al. (2010) utilized skeletal muscle microdialysis following 60 min of moderate-intensity cycling exercise to demonstrate that glucose delivery to previously active skeletal muscle is supported by post-exercise vasodilation, as interstitial glucose concentration was reduced when post-exercise hyperemia was blunted by local H<sub>1</sub>- and H<sub>2</sub>-receptor blockade. Subsequently, Emhoff et al. (2011) found that oral H<sub>1</sub>- and H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonism reduced both femoral vascular conductance and leg glucose delivery after 60 min of cycling exercise. Interestingly, due to high interindividual variability, skeletal muscle glucose uptake was not universally decreased by the histamine receptor blockade in this study. However, they noted that histamine receptor blockade blunted glucose uptake in subjects who obtained higher absolute oxygen consumptions, suggesting a potential histaminergic impact on glucose uptake and glycogen repletion in individuals who exercise at high workloads. Furthermore, Pellinger et al. (2013) observed that oral  $H_1$ - and  $H_2$ -receptor antagonism reduced whole body insulin sensitivity by 25% in healthy individuals following 60 min of moderate-intensity cycling exercise. This finding suggests that if histaminergic skeletal muscle vasodilation is blunted, so too is delivery of glucose and insulin to skeletal muscle cells, likely attenuating insulin-mediated vasodilation and capillary recruitment. Under these circumstances, greater secretion of insulin would be required in response to a sustained elevation of blood glucose (Pellinger et al., 2013). Taken together, these investigations suggest the importance of histamine-receptor-mediated elevations in skeletal muscle blood flow in glucose regulation following exercise.

# Post-exercise Microvascular Perfusion and Membrane Permeability

To determine the impact of prior acute exercise on insulinmediated skeletal muscle microvascular blood flow, Sjøberg et al. (2017) employed a euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp 4 h after single-legged exercise by young, healthy males. They found microvascular perfusion was greater 4 h post-exercise and increased 40% more in the previously exercised leg than in the rested leg, in response to insulin stimulation. Furthermore, after insulin stimulation, leg glucose uptake increased 50% more in the previously exercised leg than in the rested leg. Importantly, arterial infusion of the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor (L-NMMA) reversed the insulin-induced rise in arterial and microvascular blood flow in both legs and abolished the greater glucose uptake found in the previously exercised leg. Interestingly, the previously exercised muscle had higher insulin signaling at the level of the protein coding gene TBC1D4 (which mediates both exercise and insulin-stimulated GLUT4 translocation) and glycogen synthase activity and this was largely unaffected by L-NMMA. These findings indicate that acute exercise increases skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity via coordinated increases in both microvascular perfusion and insulin signaling (Sjøberg et al., 2017).

Recently, Parker et al. (2021) provided further evidence of elevated microvascular perfusion well after the cessation of dynamic exercise. Utilizing a randomized cross-over design, they investigated the effect of 60 min of moderate-intensity cycling exercise on postprandial skeletal muscle microvascular blood flow responses to a high-glucose mixed nutrient meal consumed 3 h post-exercise. The exercise bout enhanced both femoral artery and muscle microvascular blood flow for up to at least 3 h post-exercise. Moreover, although the high-glucose meal evoked microvascular impairments in each condition, muscle microvascular blood flow remained almost twice that of the nonexercise control condition during the 2 h following the meal consumed post-exercise. These findings are promising regarding the impact of dynamic exercise on individuals with microvascular dysfunction or impairments in glucose regulation.

Both exercise (Kennedy et al., 1999; Flores-Opazo et al., 2020) and insulin-induced (Ryder et al., 2000; Koistinen et al., 2003) GLUT4 translocation to the skeletal muscle membrane promote glucose uptake. However, research indicates that increases in insulin-stimulated GLUT4 translocation are significantly less than the increases in glucose transport (Thorell et al., 1999). In an effort to clarify this discrepancy, McConell et al. (2020) used measurements of leg glucose uptake and skeletal muscle interstitial glucose concentrations to estimate insulin-stimulated muscle membrane permeability in healthy young men 4 h after performing 60 min of 1-legged knee-extensor exercise during a submaximal euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp. Using this novel technique, they found that during insulin stimulation, muscle membrane permeability to glucose and glucose uptake increased roughly twice as much in the previously exercised leg than in the rested leg. In addition, although muscle membrane permeability to glucose did not change in either leg with ATP (an endothelium-dependent vasodilator) infusion, this caused both leg blood flow and glucose uptake to rise substantially, with the greater increases found in the previously exercised leg. These findings reinforce the possible role of increased post-exercise blood flow to support sufficient glucose uptake during recovery from exercise. Figure 1 provides an overview of the relationship between PEH, post-exercise blood flow, and glucose delivery to the skeletal muscle cell for uptake.

### POST-EXERCISE HEMODYNAMICS AND GLUCOSE REGULATION IN INDIVIDUALS WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES

While the aforementioned studies were conducted on healthy, non-diabetic subjects, their findings highlight the importance of understanding the complex interactions amongst post-exercise hemodynamic and glucose regulation mechanisms in patients with T2D, who may engage in regular exercise to help manage their blood glucose levels. Sustained post-exercise vasodilation likely increases delivery of insulin to the microvasculature, where it has been shown to enhance capillary recruitment (Coggins et al., 2001; Vincent et al., 2004; Sjøberg et al., 2017) and may increase nutritive blood flow in patients with T2D (Clark, 2008), thus potentially circumventing insulin resistance in this population.

# Effects of Exercise on Glycemia in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes

It has been established that a single bout of dynamic exercise immediately confers beneficial post-exercise effects on glycemia in patients with T2D (Asano et al., 2014), thus serving as an effective strategy to help improve glycemic control in this population through repeated bouts of exercise (Way et al., 2016; Grace et al., 2017; Wake, 2020). The attenuation of hyperglycemia is primarily due to the enhanced uptake of glucose from the circulation, as shown in studies utilizing stable isotope tracers to assess glucose flux in patients with T2D (Borghouts et al., 2002; Boon et al., 2007). In this context, Boon et al. (2007) reported a significant decline in plasma glucose concentration in long-term-diagnosed T2D patients following 60 min of cycling exercise at 50% of W<sub>max</sub>. Comparisons in isotopic enrichments found that even though the plasma glucose rate of appearance



(Ra) remained higher in T2D at rest and during post-exercise recovery, a significantly greater percentage of plasma glucose Ra was taken up and disappeared during and following exercise in the T2D patients compared to normoglycemic controls. Similarly, Borghouts et al. (2002) found that compared to non-diabetic control subjects, patients with T2D had greater reliance on plasma glucose oxidation vs. muscle glycogen oxidation for energy expenditure during 60 min of cycling exercise at 40% of VO<sub>2peak</sub>. These results support the notion that the exercise-induced decline in blood glucose concentration in patients with T2D is attributed to an acute increase in glucose uptake.

## Effects of Exercise on Endothelial Function in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes

Individuals with T2D often express early signs of cardiovascular co-morbidities, including endothelial dysfunction and arterial stiffness (Guerci et al., 2001; Frontoni et al., 2005), which may interfere with exercise-induced vasodilation following exercise. To determine whether exercise improves vasodilatory function in patients with T2D, Simões et al. (2013) compared postexercise responses in patients with T2D to non-diabetics during a 20-min constant load exercise corresponding to 90% of LT, followed by a 45-min recovery period. The non-diabetic group showed slightly higher plasma kallikrein activity, bradykinin concentration, and nitric oxide (NO) concentration after exercise, all indicative of endothelium-dependent vasodilatory responses. To examine whether the release of these vasodilator substances is associated with the occurrence of PEH, the authors further reported that both groups did experience PEH, although it was more pronounced in the non-diabetic group compared to their counterparts with T2D. Moreover, as discussed below, these findings suggest that the bioavailability of NO released during exercise may be dependent on the intensity of the exercise bout.

# Dose-Dependent Effects of Exercise in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes

Several studies have suggested, given that patients can sustain it, higher intensity or longer duration exercise confers greater benefits to T2D management (Lima et al., 2008; Pellinger et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019; Mendes et al., 2019; de Mello et al., 2021). The occurrence of PEH in T2D patients has been observed in a dose-dependent manner, such that a significant reduction in systolic blood pressure (SBP) occurred following 20 min of exercise at 90% of anaerobic threshold (AT), whereas diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure were also reduced when the exercise intensity reached 110% of AT (Lima et al., 2008). Similarly, the increased concentration of exercise-induced NO was greater and the reduction in SBP was more pronounced when an exercise bout consisting of 20 min of cycling was conducted at 120% of LT, compared to 80% of LT (Asano et al., 2013). A recent study by Mendes et al. (2019) compared treadmill walking protocols for T2D patients involving either moderateintensity steady exercise for 30 min at 50% of heart rate reserve (HRR) or high-intensity interval exercise (five sets of 3-min bouts at 70% of HRR interspersed by 3-min bouts at 30% of HRR). Including warm-up and cool-down, both protocols consisted of 40 min of exercise, followed by a 50-min recovery period. Acute effects during and following exercise showed that the highintensity interval exercise reduced blood glucose to a greater extent compared to the moderate-intensity steady exercise.

Recent findings by Pellinger et al. (2017) suggest that in addition to intensity, exercise duration may also affect acute post-exercise femoral blood flow and vascular conductance in patients with T2D in a dose-dependent manner. In this study, individuals with well-controlled T2D participated in four different combinations of cycling exercise: 30 min at 40%  $VO_{2peak}$ , 30 min at 60%  $VO_{2peak}$ , 60 min at 40%  $VO_{2peak}$ , and 60 min at 60%  $VO_{2peak}$ . Sustained post-exercise hyperemia and reductions in SBP were observed in the latter three exercise protocols, suggesting that exercise must be at least moderate in intensity and/or prolonged in duration to evoke these acute hemodynamic responses in patients with T2D. Taken together, these findings suggest that higher intensity and/or longer duration exercise may promote PEH and improved glucose regulation in patients with T2D, at least in part due to enhanced post-exercise skeletal muscle blood flow.

#### **DISCUSSION: FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Additional research is needed to further elucidate the complex relationship between PEH, post-exercise skeletal muscle blood flow and glucose regulation. Although the aforementioned research examining the potential relationship between postexercise vasodilation and glucose regulation is compelling, most of the data derived from these investigations are associative. Therefore, more studies employing experimental manipulations designed to determine if there is a cause and effect relationship between these post-exercise phenomena are necessary.

Much of the research on healthy individuals may be extended to patients with T2D. For example, it is unclear if the histamine receptor-mediated post-exercise vasodilation that appears to subserve glucose regulation in healthy subjects (Pellinger et al., 2010, 2013; Emhoff et al., 2011) has the same effect in patients with T2D. In addition, the ability to estimate skeletal muscle membrane permeability (McConell et al., 2020) will allow investigations designed to better understand the interactions

#### REFERENCES

- Anunciação, P. G., Farinatti, P. T., Goessler, K. F., Casonatto, J., and Polito, M. D. (2016). Blood pressure and autonomic responses following isolated and combined aerobic and resistance exercise in hypertensive older women. *Clin. Exp. Hypertens.* 38, 710–714. doi: 10.1080/10641963.2016.1200601
- Asano, R. Y., Browne, R. A., Sotero, R. C., Sales, M. M., Moraes, J. F., Campbell, C. S., et al. (2013). Cycling above rather than below lactate threshold is more effective for nitric oxide release and post-exercise blood pressure reduction in individuals with type-2 diabetes. *Motriz. Rev. Educ. Fis.* 19, 633–640. doi: 10.1590/S1980-65742013000300015
- Asano, R. Y., Sales, M. M., Browne, R. A., Moraes, J. F., Coelho Júnior, H. J., Moraes, M. R., et al. (2014). Acute effects of physical exercise in type 2 diabetes: a review. *World J. Diabetes* 5, 659–665. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v5.i5.659
- Balducci, S., Zanuso, S., Cardelli, P., Salvi, L., Mazzitelli, G., Bazuro, A., et al. (2012). Changes in physical fitness predict improvements in modifiable cardiovascular risk factors independently of body weight loss in subjects with type 2 diabetes participating in the Italian Diabetes and Exercise Study (IDES). *Diabetes Care* 35, 1347–1354. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1859
- Baron, A. D., Steinberg, H., Brechtel, G., and Johnson, A. (1994). Skeletal muscle blood flow independently modulates insulin-mediated glucose uptake. Am. J. Physiol. 266, E248–E253. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.1994.266.2. E248
- Barrett-O'Keefe, Z., Kaplon, R. E., and Halliwill, J. R. (2013). Sustained postexercise vasodilatation and histamine receptor activation following small muscle-mass

between glucose delivery, transport, and metabolism, in both healthy individuals and those with T2D.

In addition to investigations examining the acute effects of post-exercise vasodilation on glucose regulation, future investigations are needed to examine emerging interactions between vascular and metabolic adaptions to exercise. Along those lines, Van der Stede et al. (2021) observed that histamine receptor blockade blunted post-exercise muscle perfusion and increases in whole body insulin sensitivity in response to 6 weeks of high-intensity interval training in healthy males. Importantly, they also found that several histamine receptormediated adaptations were interrelated, as increases in VO<sub>2max</sub> were related to changes in vascular function and whole-body insulin sensitivity. Moreover, a correlation was found between changes in capillary-fiber ratio and whole-body insulin sensitivity (Van der Stede et al., 2021). These findings are consistent with recent research suggesting that the post-exercise activation of H<sub>1</sub>- and H<sub>2</sub>-receptors upregulate several related pathways, including those related to metabolism, endothelial and vascular function (Romero et al., 2016), thereby highlighting important histaminergic adaptations to exercise that potentially impact both post-exercise blood flow and metabolic regulation.

In conclusion, recent investigations suggest that the postexercise vasodilation that is often observed with PEH may aid in glucose regulation, via increased macrovascular and microvascular perfusion. Additional research is needed to further elucidate the relationship between post-exercise hemodynamics and glucose regulation in humans.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TP and C-AE wrote and revised the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

exercise in humans. *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 268–277. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2012. 066605

- Boon, H., Blaak, E. E., Saris, W. H., Keizer, H. A., Wagenmakers, A. J., and van Loon, L. J. (2007). Substrate source utilisation in long-term diagnosed type 2 diabetes patients at rest, and during exercise and subsequent recovery. *Diabetologia* 50, 103–112. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0482-2
- Bordenave, S., Brandou, F., Manetta, J., Fédou, C., Mercier, J., and Brun, J. F. (2008). Effects of acute exercise on insulin sensitivity, glucose effectiveness and disposition index in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Metab.* 34, 250–257. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2007.12.008
- Borghouts, L. B., Wagenmakers, A. J., Goyens, P. L., and Keizer, H. A. (2002). Substrate utilization in non-obese Type II diabetic patients at rest and during exercise. *Clin. Sci.* 103, 559–566. doi: 10.1042/cs10 30559
- Boulé, N. G., Haddad, E., Kenny, G. P., Wells, G. A., and Sigal, R. J. (2001). Effects of exercise on glycemic control and body mass in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. *JAMA* 286, 1218–1227. doi: 10.1001/ jama.286.10.1218
- Brito, L. C., Queiroz, A. C., and Forjaz, C. L. (2014). Influence of population and exercise protocol characteristics on hemodynamic determinants of post-aerobic exercise hypotension. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 47, 626–636. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20143832
- Casey, A., Mann, R., Banister, K., Fox, J., Morris, P. G., Macdonald, I. A., et al. (2000). Effect of carbohydrate ingestion on glycogen resynthesis in human liver and skeletal muscle, measured by (13)C MRS. Am. J.

*Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 278, E65–E75. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.2000.27 8.1.E65

- Clark, M. G. (2008). Impaired microvascular perfusion: a consequence of vascular dysfunction and a potential cause of insulin resistance in muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 295, E732–E750. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90477.2008
- Coggins, M., Lindner, J., Rattigan, S., Jahn, L., Fasy, E., Kaul, S., et al. (2001). Physiologic hyperinsulinemia enhances human skeletal muscle perfusion by capillary recruitment. *Diabetes* 50, 2682–2690. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.50.12.2682
- Cunha, F., Midgley, A. W., Pescatello, L., Soares, P. P., and Farinatti, P. (2016). Acute hypotensive response to continuous and accumulated isocaloric aerobic, Bouts. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 37, 855–862. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-104197
- de Mello, M. B., Righi, N. C., Schuch, F. B., Signori, L. U., and da Silva, A. M. V. (2021). Effect of high-intensity interval training protocols on VO2max and HbA1c level in people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Ann. Phys. Rehabil. Med. 65:101586. doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2021.101586
- Devlin, J. T., Hirshman, M., Horton, E. D., and Horton, E. S. (1987). Enhanced peripheral and splanchnic insulin sensitivity in NIDDM men after single bout of exercise. *Diabetes* 434–439. doi: 10.2337/diab.36.4.434
- Durham, W. J., Yeckel, C. W., Miller, S. L., Gore, D. C., and Wolfe, R. R. (2003). Exogenous nitric oxide increases basal leg glucose uptake in humans. *Metabolism* 52, 662–665. doi: 10.1016/s0026-0495(03)00062-3
- Eicher, J. D., Maresh, C. M., Tsongalis, G. J., Thompson, P. D., and Pescatello, L. S. (2010). The additive blood pressure lowering effects of exercise intensity on post-exercise hypotension. *Am. Heart J.* 160, 513–520. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010. 06.005
- Emhoff, C. A., Barrett-O'Keefe, Z., Padgett, R. C., Hawn, J. A., and Halliwill, J. R. (2011). Histamine-receptor blockade reduces blood flow but not muscle glucose uptake during postexercise recovery in humans. *Exp. Physiol.* 96, 664–673. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2010.056150
- Farinatti, P., Polito, M. D., Massaferri, R., Monteiro, W. D., Vasconcelos, D., Johnson, B. T., et al. (2021). Postexercise hypotension due to resistance exercise is not mediated by autonomic control: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Auton. Neurosci.* 234:102825. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2021.102825
- Flores-Opazo, M., McGee, S. L., and Hargreaves, M. (2020). Exercise and GLUT4. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 48, 110–118. doi: 10.1249/JES.00000000000224
- Forjaz, C. L., Cardoso, C. G. Jr., Rezk, C. C., Santaella, D. F., and Tinucci, T. (2004). Postexercise hypotension and hemodynamics: the role of exercise intensity. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 44, 54–62.
- Forjaz, C. L., Santaella, D. F., Rezende, L. O., Barretto, A. C., and Negrão, C. E. (1998). [Effect of exercise duration on the magnitude and duration of postexercise hypotension]. Arq. Bras. Cardiol. 70, 99–104. doi: 10.1590/s0066-782x1998000200006
- Frontoni, S., Bracaglia, D., and Gigli, F. (2005). Relationship between autonomic dysfunction, insulin resistance and hypertension, in diabetes. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 15, 441–449. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2005.06.010
- Grace, A., Chan, E., Giallauria, F., Graham, P. L., and Smart, N. A. (2017). Clinical outcomes and glycaemic responses to different aerobic exercise training intensities in type II diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 16:37. doi: 10.1186/s12933-017-0518-6
- Guerci, B., Böhme, P., Kearney-Schwartz, A., Zannad, F., and Drouin, P. (2001). Endothelial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. Part 2: altered endothelial function and the effects of treatments in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab.* 27, 436–447.
- Halliwill, J. R., Buck, T. M., Lacewell, A. N., and Romero, S. A. (2013). Postexercise hypotension and sustained postexercise vasodilatation: what happens after we exercise? *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 7–18. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2011. 058065
- Halliwill, J. R., Dinenno, F. A., and Dietz, N. M. (2003). Alpha-adrenergic vascular responsiveness during postexercise hypotension in humans. J. Physiol. 550, 279–286. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.042838
- Halliwill, J. R., Taylor, J. A., and Eckberg, D. L. (1996). Impaired sympathetic vascular regulation in humans after acute dynamic exercise. J. Physiol. 495(Pt 1), 279–288. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021592
- Hamrin, K., Qvisth, V., Hagström-Toft, E., Enoksson, S., Henriksson, J., and Bolinder, J. (2011). Prolonged exercise-induced stimulation of skeletal muscle glucose uptake is due to sustained increases in tissue perfusion and fractional glucose extraction. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 96, 1085–1092. doi: 10.1210/jc. 2010-1801

- Henriksen, E. J. (2002). Invited review: effects of acute exercise and exercise training on insulin resistance. J. Appl. Physiol. 93, 788–796. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.01219.2001
- Hespel, P., Vergauwen, L., Vandenberghe, K., and Richter, E. A. (1995). Important role of insulin and flow in stimulating glucose uptake in contracting skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 44, 210–215. doi: 10.2337/diab.44.2.210
- Hickner, R. C., Rosdahl, H., Borg, I., Ungerstedt, U., Jorfeldt, L., and Henriksson, J. (1991). Ethanol may be used with the microdialysis technique to monitor blood flow changes in skeletal muscle: dialysate glucose concentration is blood-flow-dependent. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 143, 355–356. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1991. tb09243.x
- Jensen, T. E., and Richter, E. A. (2012). Regulation of glucose and glycogen metabolism during and after exercise. J. Physiol. 590, 1069–1076. doi: 10.1113/ jphysiol.2011.224972
- Kennedy, J. W., Hirshman, M. F., Gervino, E. V., Ocel, J. V., Forse, R. A., Hoenig, S. J., et al. (1999). Acute exercise induces GLUT4 translocation in skeletal muscle of normal human subjects and subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 48, 1192–1197. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.48.5.1192
- Kenney, M. J., and Seals, D. R. (1993). Postexercise hypotension. Key features, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *Hypertension* 22, 653–664. doi: 10.1161/ 01.hyp.22.5.653
- Koistinen, H. A., Galuska, D., Chibalin, A. V., Yang, J., Zierath, J. R., Holman, G. D., et al. (2003). 5-amino-imidazole carboxamide riboside increases glucose transport and cell-surface GLUT4 content in skeletal muscle from subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 52, 1066–1072. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52. 5.1066
- Lima, L. C., Assis, G. V., Hiyane, W., Almeida, W. S., Arsa, G., Baldissera, V., et al. (2008). Hypotensive effects of exercise performed around anaerobic threshold in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 81, 216–222. doi: 10.1016/j. diabres.2008.04.019
- Liu, J. X., Zhu, L., Li, P. J., Li, N., and Xu, Y. B. (2019). Effectiveness of highintensity interval training on glycemic control and cardiorespiratory fitness in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 31, 575–593. doi: 10.1007/s40520-018-1012-z
- Lockwood, J. M., Wilkins, B. W., and Halliwill, J. R. (2005). H1 receptor-mediated vasodilatation contributes to postexercise hypotension. J. Physiol. 563, 633–642. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.080325
- MacDonald, J. R. (2002). Potential causes, mechanisms, and implications of post exercise hypotension. J. Hum. Hypertens. 16, 225–236. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh. 1001377
- MacDonald, J. R., MacDougall, J. D., and Hogben, C. D. (2000). The effects of exercise duration on post-exercise hypotension. J. Hum. Hypertens. 14, 125–129. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1000953
- Mach, C., Foster, C., Brice, G., Mikat, R. P., and Porcari, J. P. (2005). Effect of exercise duration on postexercise hypotension. J. Cardiopulm. Rehabil. 25, 366–369. doi: 10.1097/00008483-200511000-00010
- McConell, G. K., Sjøberg, K. A., Ceutz, F., Gliemann, L., Nyberg, M., Hellsten, Y., et al. (2020). Insulin-induced membrane permeability to glucose in human muscles at rest and following exercise. J. Physiol. 598, 303–315. doi: 10.1113/ JP278600
- McCord, J. L., Beasley, J. M., and Halliwill, J. R. (2006). H2-receptor-mediated vasodilation contributes to postexercise hypotension. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 67–75. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00959.2005
- McCord, J. L., and Halliwill, J. R. (2006). H1 and H2 receptors mediate postexercise hyperemia in sedentary and endurance exercise-trained men and women. J. Appl. Physiol. 101, 1693–1701. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00441.2006
- Mendes, R., Sousa, N., Themudo-Barata, J. L., and Reis, V. M. (2019). High-Intensity Interval Training Versus Moderate-Intensity Continuous Training in Middle-Aged and Older Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Crossover Trial of the Acute Effects of Treadmill Walking on Glycemic Control. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16:4163. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16214163
- Oguri, M., Adachi, H., Ohno, T., Oshima, S., and Kurabayashi, M. (2009). Effect of a single bout of moderate exercise on glucose uptake in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J. Cardiol.* 53, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2008.07.014
- Park, S., Rink, L., and Wallace, J. (2008). Accumulation of physical activity: blood pressure reduction between 10-min walking sessions. J. Hum. Hypertens. 22, 475–482. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2008.29

- Park, S., Rink, L. D., and Wallace, J. P. (2006). Accumulation of physical activity leads to a greater blood pressure reduction than a single continuous session, in prehypertension. *J. Hypertens.* 24, 1761–1770. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000242400. 37967.54
- Parker, L., Morrison, D. J., Wadley, G. D., Shaw, C. S., Betik, A. C., Roberts-Thomson, K., et al. (2021). Prior exercise enhances skeletal muscle microvascular blood flow and mitigates microvascular flow impairments induced by a high-glucose mixed meal in healthy young men. J. Physiol. 599, 83–102. doi: 10.1113/JP280651
- Pellinger, T. K., Dumke, B. R., and Halliwill, J. R. (2013). Effect of H1- and H2histamine receptor blockade on postexercise insulin sensitivity. *Physiol. Rep.* 1:e00033. doi: 10.1002/phy2.33
- Pellinger, T. K., Pearce, C. B., Simmons, G. H., and Snitzer, J. L. (2017). Postexercise hemodynamics in patients with type 2 diabetes: effect of exercise intensity and duration. J. Clin. Exerc. Physiol. 6, 1–8. doi: 10.31189/2165-6193-6.1.1
- Pellinger, T. K., Simmons, G. H., Maclean, D. A., and Halliwill, J. R. (2010). Local histamine H(1-) and H(2)-receptor blockade reduces postexercise skeletal muscle interstitial glucose concentrations in humans. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 35, 617–626. doi: 10.1139/H10-055
- Perseghin, G., Price, T. B., Petersen, K. F., Roden, M., Cline, G. W., Gerow, K., et al. (1996). Increased glucose transport-phosphorylation and muscle glycogen synthesis after exercise training in insulin-resistant subjects. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 335, 1357–1362. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199610313351804
- Pescatello, L. S., Guidry, M. A., Blanchard, B. E., Kerr, A., Taylor, A. L., Johnson, A. N., et al. (2004). Exercise intensity alters postexercise hypotension. *J. Hypertens.* 22, 1881–1888. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200410000-00009
- Price, T. B., Rothman, D. L., Taylor, R., Avison, M. J., Shulman, G. I., and Shulman, R. G. (1994). Human muscle glycogen resynthesis after exercise: insulin-dependent and -independent phases. J. Appl. Physiol. 76, 104–111. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1994.76.1.104
- Richter, E. A., Derave, W., and Wojtaszewski, J. F. (2001). Glucose, exercise and insulin: emerging concepts. *J. Physiol.* 535, 313–322. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793. 2001.t01-2-00313.x
- Romero, S. A., Hocker, A. D., Mangum, J. E., Luttrell, M. J., Turnbull, D. W., Struck, A. J., et al. (2016). Evidence of a broad histamine footprint on the human exercise transcriptome. *J. Physiol.* 594, 5009–5023. doi: 10.1113/JP272177
- Ryder, J. W., Yang, J., Galuska, D., Rincón, J., Björnholm, M., Krook, A., et al. (2000). Use of a novel impermeable biotinylated photolabeling reagent to assess insulin- and hypoxia-stimulated cell surface GLUT4 content in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 49, 647–654. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.4 9.4.647
- Schultz, T. A., Lewis, S. B., Westbie, D. K., Gerich, J. E., Rushakoff, R. J., and Wallin, J. D. (1977). Glucose delivery–a clarification of its role in regulating glucose uptake in rat skeletal muscle. *Life Sci.* 20, 733–735. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(77) 90479-9
- Senitko, A. N., Charkoudian, N., and Halliwill, J. R. (2002). Influence of endurance exercise training status and gender on postexercise hypotension. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 92, 2368–2374. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00020.2002
- Simões, H. G., Asano, R. Y., Sales, M. M., Browne, R. A., Arsa, G., Motta-Santos, D., et al. (2013). Type 2 diabetes elicits lower nitric oxide, bradykinin concentration and kallikrein activity together with higher DesArg(9)-BK and reduced postexercise hypotension compared to non-diabetic condition. *PLoS One* 8:e80348. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080348
- Sjøberg, K. A., Frøsig, C., Kjøbsted, R., Sylow, L., Kleinert, M., Betik, A. C., et al. (2017). Exercise increases human skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity via coordinated increases in microvascular perfusion and molecular signaling. *Diabetes* 66, 1501–1510. doi: 10.2337/db16-1327
- Smelker, C. L., Foster, C., Maher, M. A., Martinez, R., and Porcari, J. P. (2004). Effect of exercise intensity on postexercise hypotension. *J. Cardiopulm. Rehabil.* 24, 269–273. doi: 10.1097/00008483-200407000-00012

- Teixeira, L., Ritti-Dias, R. M., Tinucci, T., Mion Júnior, D., and Forjaz, C. L. (2011). Post-concurrent exercise hemodynamics and cardiac autonomic modulation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 111, 2069–2078. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1811-1
- Thorell, A., Hirshman, M. F., Nygren, J., Jorfeldt, L., Wojtaszewski, J. F., Dufresne, S. D., et al. (1999). Exercise and insulin cause GLUT-4 translocation in human skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 277, E733–E741. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.1999.277. 4.E733
- Umpierre, D., Ribeiro, P. A., Kramer, C. K., Leitão, C. B., Zucatti, A. T., Azevedo, M. J., et al. (2011). Physical activity advice only or structured exercise training and association with HbA1c levels in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 305, 1790–1799. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2011.576
- Usui, K., Yamanouchi, K., Asai, K., Yajima, M., Iriyama, A., Okabayashi, N., et al. (1998). The effect of low intensity bicycle exercise on the insulin-induced glucose uptake in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 41, 57–61. doi: 10.1016/s0168-8227(98)00068-0
- Van der Stede, T., Blancquaert, L., Stassen, F., Everaert, I., Van Thienen, R., Vervaet, C., et al. (2021). Histamine H1 and H2 receptors are essential transducers of the integrative exercise training response in humans. *Sci. Adv.* 7:eabf2856. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abf2856
- Vincent, M. A., Clerk, L. H., Lindner, J. R., Klibanov, A. L., Clark, M. G., Rattigan, S., et al. (2004). Microvascular recruitment is an early insulin effect that regulates skeletal muscle glucose uptake *in vivo*. *Diabetes* 53, 1418–1423. doi: 10.2337/ diabetes.53.6.1418
- Wake, A. D. (2020). Antidiabetic effects of physical activity: How it helps to control type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Obes.* 13, 2909–2923. doi: 10.2147/ DMSO.S262289
- Wasserman, D. H., and Ayala, J. E. (2005). Interaction of physiological mechanisms in control of muscle glucose uptake. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 32, 319–323. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.2005.04191.x
- Way, K. L., Hackett, D. A., Baker, M. K., and Johnson, N. A. (2016). The effect of regular exercise on insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Metab. J.* 40, 253–271. doi: 10.4093/dmj. 2016.40.4.253
- Winnick, J. J., Sherman, W. M., Habash, D. L., Stout, M. B., Failla, M. L., Belury, M. A., et al. (2008). Short-term aerobic exercise training in obese humans with type 2 diabetes mellitus improves whole-body insulin sensitivity through gains in peripheral, not hepatic insulin sensitivity. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 93, 771–778. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-1524
- Wojtaszewski, J. F., and Richter, E. A. (2006). Effects of acute exercise and training on insulin action and sensitivity: focus on molecular mechanisms in muscle. *Essays Biochem.* 42, 31–46. doi: 10.1042/bse0420031

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pellinger and Emhoff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Postexercise Hypotension Is Delayed in Men With Obesity and Hypertension

Catherine L. Jarrett<sup>1,2</sup>, Wesley J. Tucker<sup>3</sup>, Siddhartha S. Angadi<sup>4</sup> and Glenn A. Gaesser<sup>5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Geriatric Research, Education, and Clinical Center, Veterans Affairs Medical Center (VAMC), Salt Lake City, UT, United States, <sup>2</sup> Utah Vascular Research Laboratory, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Nutrition and Food Sciences, Texas Woman's University, Houston, TX, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Kinesiology, School of Education and Human Development, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, United States, <sup>5</sup> College of Health Solutions, Arizona State University, Phoenix, AZ, United States

**Background:** Postexercise hypotension (PEH) can play a major role in the daily blood pressure management among individuals with hypertension. However, there are limited data on PEH in persons with obesity and hypertension, and no PEH data in this population beyond 90 min postexercise.

**Purpose:** The purpose of this study was to determine if PEH could be elicited in men with obesity and hypertension during a 4-h postexercise measurement period.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Linda Shannon Pescatello, University of Connecticut, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Leandro Campos De Brito, University of São Paulo, Brazil Paulo Farinatti, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: Glenn A. Gaesser glenn.gaesser@asu.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 21 November 2021 Accepted: 10 February 2022 Published: 08 March 2022

#### Citation:

Jarrett CL, Tucker WJ, Angadi SS and Gaesser GA (2022) Postexercise Hypotension Is Delayed in Men With Obesity and Hypertension. Front. Physiol. 13:819616. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.819616 **Methods:** Seven men [age =  $28 \pm 4$  years; body mass index =  $34.6 \pm 4.8$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>; brachial systolic blood pressure (SBP):  $138 \pm 4$  mmHg; brachial diastolic BP (DBP):  $80 \pm 5$  mmHg; central SBP:  $125 \pm 4$  mmHg; central DBP:  $81 \pm 8$  mmHg] performed two exercise sessions on a cycle ergometer, each on a separate day, for 45 min at ~65% VO<sub>2max</sub>. One exercise session was performed at a cadence of 45 RPM and one at 90 RPM. Blood pressure was monitored with a SunTech Oscar2 ambulatory blood pressure monitor for 4 h after both exercise sessions, and during a time-matched control condition.

**Results:** Both brachial and central SBP were not changed during the first h postexercise but were reduced by  $\sim$ 5–11 mmHg between 2 and 4 h postexercise (p < 0.05) after both exercise sessions. Brachial and central DBP were elevated by  $\sim$ 5 mmHg at 1 h postexercise (p < 0.05) but were  $\sim$ 2–3 mmHg lower compared to control at 4 h postexercise, and  $\sim$ 2–4 mmHg lower at 3 h postexercise compared to baseline. Mean arterial pressure (MAP) was elevated compared to control at 1 h postexercise sessions, but was  $\sim$ 2–3 mmHg lower compared to control at 2, 3, and 4 h postexercise, and  $\sim$ 4–7 mmHg lower at 3 h postexercise compared to baseline.

**Conclusion:** Despite the small sample size and preliminary nature of our results, we conclude that PEH is delayed in men with obesity and hypertension, but the magnitude and duration of PEH up to 4 h postexercise is similar to that reported in the literature for men without obesity and hypertension. The PEH is most pronounced for brachial and central SBP and MAP. The virtually identical pattern of PEH after both exercise trials indicates that the delayed PEH is a reproducible finding in men with obesity and hypertension.

Keywords: blood pressure, exercise, body mass index, obese, overweight

## INTRODUCTION

Hypertension is a leading risk factor for cardiovascular disease (Whelton et al., 2018), and physical activity can lower blood pressure and reduce the rate of conversion from elevated blood pressure (BP) to hypertension (Faselis et al., 2012; Diaz and Shimbo, 2013; Pescatello et al., 2015). A single bout of exercise has been shown to lower blood pressure for at least 12 h (Pescatello and Kulikowich, 2001; Pescatello et al., 2004), and this postexercise hypotension (PEH) is thought to play an important role in the antihypertensive effects of exercise (Hamer, 2006; Brito et al., 2018).

Although PEH has been well-established in normal weight and overweight individuals, whether obesity influences the PEH response is unclear. This is mainly due to a limited number of publications on PEH in persons with obesity (Figueroa et al., 2007; Zeigler et al., 2018; Bunsawat et al., 2021). One metaanalyses reported that PEH was inversely related to body mass index [BMI (Body Mass Index); kg/m<sup>2</sup>], with a regression line that predicted no PEH above a BMI of approximately 31 (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016). This meta-analysis included only one study that reported postexercise BP responses in persons with obesity. In that study, which included obese women with and without type 2 diabetes, 20 min of exercise at 65% of maximal oxygen uptake (VO2max) reduced systolic BP (SBP) at 10 and 20 min postexercise, but PEH was no longer evident at 30 min postexercise, which was the last measurement time (Figueroa et al., 2007). It was recently reported that 1 h of exercise at 60% of  $VO_{2max}$  produced a modest PEH of  $\sim$ 2–4 mmHg in adults with obesity (Bunsawat et al., 2021). In that study, the PEH observed at 30 and 60 min postexercise was no longer present at 90 min. We previously reported that PEH was not observed in 8 men with obesity after a 40-min exercise bout at 65-70% of heart rate maximum (Zeigler et al., 2018). However, we measured blood pressure for only 1 h postexercise. Despite the lack of PEH during the 1-h postexercise measurement period, there was a clear trend for declining BP between the first 30 min postexercise and the last 30 min postexercise. This was evident for SBP, diastolic BP (DBP) and mean arterial pressure (MAP). But because BP was elevated immediately postexercise, despite the trend for decreasing BP during the 60-min postexercise measurement period, PEH relative to baseline BP was not observed. Thus, a PEH may have been observed if the postexercise measurement period been extended beyond 1 h. Because PEH can be observed for several hours after exercise (Pescatello and Kulikowich, 2001; Pescatello et al., 2004; Angadi et al., 2015), it is possible that PEH is delayed in obese individuals. In the few prior studies published on PEH in adults with obesity (Figueroa et al., 2007; Zeigler et al., 2018; Bunsawat et al., 2021), postexercise BP measurements did not extend beyond 90 min.

Another limitation of the studies on PEH in obesity is that the subject populations had relatively normal blood pressures, with mean SBP of 110  $\pm$  10 mmHg (Bunsawat et al., 2021), 122  $\pm$  6 mmHg (Figueroa et al., 2007), and 126  $\pm$  7 mmHg (Zeigler et al., 2018). The magnitude of PEH is positively related to the baseline BP prior to exercise (Brito et al., 2018). Indeed, PEH has been repeatedly demonstrated in hypertensive populations (Legramante et al., 2002; Melo et al., 2006; Brito et al., 2011; Dos Santos et al., 2014; Cunha et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2017; Ferrari et al., 2017; Imazu et al., 2017; Cunha et al., 2018; Goessler et al., 2018; de Freitas Brito et al., 2019; Pires et al., 2020; Iellamo et al., 2021). However, in virtually all of these studies the hypertensive populations included individuals with and without obesity, with mean BMI  $< 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$  in most instances. One study reported PEH in 8 hypertensive women, all with BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Cunha et al., 2018), but the results may have limited applicability due to the nature of the experimental design. The exercise involved 45 min of water aerobics, and it has been demonstrated that water immersion induces significant hemodynamic changes even without exercise (Sramek et al., 2000; Stocks et al., 2004). This is especially relevant because the control condition included no water immersion and the postexercise measurement period lasted only 30 min. Consequently, a research gap exists with regard to PEH in adults with both obesity and hypertension. Thus, the purpose of this study was to determine whether PEH is observed during a postexercise period lasting 4 h in adult men with obesity and hypertension. Based on results from our previous study described above (Zeigler et al., 2018), we hypothesized that PEH would be delayed, with significantly reduced brachial and central BPs observed only after the first 1 h postexercise.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

Seven physically inactive men (age  $28 \pm 4$  years; BMI  $34.6 \pm 4.8$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) participated in this study. Subject characteristics are provided in **Table 1**. Physical activity levels were ascertained with the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (Hagstromer et al., 2006). Subjects were not currently participating in any structured exercise program or adhering to any specific diet or weight loss program. Those with known cardiovascular, pulmonary, and renal or metabolic diseases, current smokers, or those on vasoactive medications for the treatment of blood pressure, were excluded. The study was approved by the Arizona State University Institutional Review Board and was conducted in a manner consistent with the Declaration of Helsinki. Written and informed consent was obtained from each subject prior to enrollment.

The seven subjects included in this study were part of a larger study in which glucose tolerance was the primary outcome, with the goal of determining whether muscle contraction frequency (defined by different pedaling cadences, described below) during an aerobic exercise session affected postexercise glucose tolerance (unpublished data not shown). Postexercise blood pressure was a secondary outcome in this study. Although blood pressure was not one of the inclusion/exclusion criteria, all seven men had resting SBP > 130 mmHg (see **Table 1**), thus meeting the definition of hypertension (Whelton et al., 2018). One of the subjects had a BMI of 28.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. However, results were essentially the same with and without including this subject in the statistical analyses (see Section "Results").

#### TABLE 1 | Participant characteristics.

	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	Range	
N	7		
Age (year)	$28 \pm 4$	20–35	
Height (cm)	$175.1 \pm 7.4$	165.0–187.5	
Weight (kg)	$105.8\pm15.4$	91.7-137.9	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$34.6\pm4.8$	28.9-43.2	
Body fat (%)	$37.1 \pm 4.4$	31.3–43.0	
Visceral fat (g)	$1,398 \pm 707$	506-2,559	
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$138 \pm 4$	131–145	
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$80\pm5$	70–87	
VO <sub>2max</sub> (ml/kg/min)	$28.7\pm6.1$	18.7–36.3	

BMI, Body Mass Index; VO<sub>2max</sub>, maximal oxygen uptake.

#### VO<sub>2max</sub> Assessment

Prior to the PEH protocol (described below) each participant performed a ramp-style maximal exercise test on a cycle ergometer (Viasprint 150P; Ergoline, Bitz, Germany) for determination of VO<sub>2max</sub>. Pulmonary ventilation and gas exchange were measured continuously with a Parvo Medics TrueOne 2400 (Parvo Medics, Sandy, UT, United States). Standard three-point calibration was performed before each test. Heart rate was measured with a Polar heart rate monitor (Polar, Lake Success, NY, United States). After a 5-min warm-up phase at 50 W, power was increased by 30 W/min until exhaustion. Participants were provided with verbal encouragement throughout the test. After a cool-down period of 5-10 min, in which subjects pedaled at the warmup work rate, each subject performed a verification phase test at a constant power of 100% of the peak power attained during the ramp test (Sawyer et al., 2015). The mean of the two highest consecutive 15-s VO<sub>2</sub> averages during the ramp or verification phase tests was taken as VO<sub>2max</sub>. All subjects achieved a maximum respiratory exchange ratio > 1.10 on the ramp test and a heart rate > 90% of age-predicted maximum on either the ramp test or the verification phase test.

### **Body Composition**

Participants' heights and weights were measured on a standard scale (Seca274, Medical Measuring Systems, Chino, CA, United States). Body composition was assessed *via* Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DEXA) (Lunar iDXA, GE Healthcare, Madison, WI, United States).

# Experimental Protocol for Determination of Postexercise Hypotension

All subjects underwent three experimental conditions in a randomized cross-over design. The conditions consisted of a non-exercise control day and two exercise conditions on a cycle ergometer at different pedaling frequencies (45 and 90 RPM). As stated above, the rationale for the two pedaling frequencies pertained to the primary outcome measure of glucose tolerance. There was no *a priori* reason for expecting cycling cadence to influence PEH. However, the two exercise trials allowed for an assessment of the reproducibility of the postexercise blood

pressure responses to aerobic exercise in men with obesity. Only one study has reported information on PEH reproducibility (Fecchio et al., 2017), and that study only measured PEH at 45 min after exercise cessation.

Subjects reported to the laboratory at 7:00 a.m. for each visit, 1 h after consuming a standardized breakfast meal at home. The breakfast meal consisted of a bagel, cream cheese, and chocolate milk (630 kcal; 104 g carbohydrate; 10 g fat; 30 g protein). The same meal was consumed prior to each visit. The breakfast meal was provided to subjects the day before each laboratory visit. In addition, gift cards to a local restaurant were provided to each subject for purchasing lunch and dinner on the day before each laboratory visit. Subjects were instructed to consume the same lunch and dinner meals on the day before each laboratory visit. An ambulatory blood pressure monitor was placed on the right arm of the participant. After 15 min of seated rest, resting blood pressures were recorded. Resting blood pressure data obtained for each trial were averaged over the three trials. The average resting brachial blood pressures are presented in Table 1, and reflect the average of 5-13 total recordings taken during these baseline assessment periods for each subject. After resting blood pressure was taken, the blood pressure monitor was then set to record automatically every 15 min for 4 h during the control trial and after exercise for the two exercise trials. For exercise study visits, the monitor was removed during cycling and replaced following the cool-down. All visits were separated by at least 1 week, and this procedure was completed for all study visits.

#### Aerobic Exercise

Participants performed two cycle ergometer exercise sessions on separate occasions, using the same ergometer as used for determination of VO<sub>2max</sub>. These exercise sessions were randomized for sequence. During one exercise session subjects maintained a cadence of 45 RPM and during the other exercise session maintained a cadence of 90 RPM. Each exercise session began with a 5-min warm-up during which time power was gradually increased so that VO<sub>2</sub> was ~65% VO<sub>2max</sub> by the end of the fifth min. Subjects then exercised at this intensity for 45 min. Heart rate and VO<sub>2</sub> were monitored continuously throughout each exercise session, and power was adjusted to maintain VO<sub>2</sub> at ~65% VO<sub>2max</sub>. Each exercise session concluded with a 5-min cool-down at 25–50 W.

# Postexercise Measurement of Blood Pressure

Blood pressure was monitored by a SunTech Oscar2, Model 250 (Sun Tech Medical, Morrisville, NC, United States) ambulatory blood pressure monitor. The Oscar 2 device has embedded, automated technology (SphygmoCor Inside<sup>TM</sup>, ATCOR, Naperville, IL, United States) that allows for the estimation of central aortic systolic and diastolic pressures (Pauca et al., 2001). During the 4 h of BP measurements in the control condition and after both exercise sessions, subjects spent the entire time in a private office room adjacent to the laboratory. During this time the subjects spent most of their time seated at a desk where they were allowed to use their laptop computer

or phone, or to read. The only time they were allowed to leave the private office space was to use the restroom. Participants were instructed to remain still and not talk while the device was inflating. During the 4-h postexercise period, the majority of measurements were taken while participants were seated quietly. If they were walking or standing when a measurement started (e.g., walking to the restroom) they were instructed to stand quietly until the measurement was completed. Blood pressure data were downloaded using AccuWin Pro v4.0.

#### **Statistical Methods**

Blood pressure data were pooled into hourly averages. All statistical procedures were performed using SPSS (SPSS 23, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, United States). Values were tested for normality and homogeneity. One-way analysis of variance was used to test for differences in baseline values between the three trials for all blood pressures. Paired-samples t-tests were used detect differences in work rate, VO<sub>2</sub> and heart rate responses to the two RPM conditions. Linear mixed models were used to detect differences for hourly differences for BP variables with both fixed and random effects explored. Baseline BP was included as a covariate in the linear models analysis. Pairwise comparisons were also used to determine within-condition differences in BP at each postexercise time point compared with pre-exercise baseline BP. The Bonferroni adjustment was used for multiple comparisons when appropriate. The mixed model estimated marginal means (EMM) are shown in all figures. A *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

The mean VO<sub>2</sub> (45 RPM =  $1.93 \pm 0.30$  L/min; 90 RPM =  $1.97 \pm 0.33$  L/min), and heart rate (45 RPM =  $147 \pm 12$  beats/min; 90 RPM =  $152 \pm 17$  beats/min) were not different between exercise conditions. However, the power output during exercise at 45 RPM ( $106 \pm 27$  W) was significantly greater (p < 0.001) than that during exercise at 90 RPM ( $90 \pm 30$  W). The lower power output during exercise at the faster cadence was necessary due to the effect of pedaling frequency on VO<sub>2</sub> (Gaesser and Brooks, 1975).

There were no differences in baseline blood pressures for the three conditions. All blood pressures remained unchanged during the non-exercise control trial. Brachial and central SBPs were unchanged during the first h postexercise. Compared to corresponding control values, brachial SBP was  $\sim$ 5–8 mmHg lower at 2 and 4 h postexercise, and central SBP was  $\sim$ 5– 7 mmHg lower at 2, 3, and 4 h postexercise (p < 0.05; **Figures 1**, **2**). Compared to baseline, brachial SBP was reduced by  $\sim$ 8–11 mmHg at 2, 3, and 4 h postexercise, and central SBP was reduced by 5–10 mmHg at 2 and 3 h postexercise (p < 0.05).

During the first h postexercise, brachial DBP was  $\sim$ 5 mmHg higher, and central DBP  $\sim$ 6–8 mmHg higher, compared to the corresponding control value (p < 0.05; **Figures 3, 4**). Thereafter, the only significant difference in DBP was a lower brachial and central DBP at 4 h postexercise compared to the control

trial. Compared to baseline, both brachial and central DBP were reduced by  $\sim$ 2–4 mmHg only at 3 h postexercise (p < 0.05).

Compared to the control trial, mean arterial pressure was elevated at 1 h postexercise after both exercise sessions but was  $\sim$ 2–3 mmHg lower compared to control at 2, 3, and 4 h postexercise (p < 0.05; **Figure 5**). Compared to baseline, MAP was reduced by  $\sim$ 4–7 mmHg at 2 and 3 h postexercise (p < 0.05).

Removal of the subject with a BMI of 28.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> did not materially affect the results. Brachial SBP was also significantly lower at 3 h postexercise for both 45 and 90 RPM, whereas it was not with n = 7. With n = 6, brachial and central DBP were significantly lower at 3 h postexercise, but no longer significant at 4 h postexercise. Results for MAP were unchanged with n = 6.

### DISCUSSION

The main finding of this study was that PEH is observed in obese men, but the blood pressure-lowering effect of exercise is not observed until after the first h postexercise. Furthermore, due to the fact that the PEH response in our subjects was observed after both exercise trials that differed only in terms of cycling cadence, our results demonstrate that the delayed PEH response in men with obesity is reproducible.

Although PEH has been consistently reported in non-obese populations (Pescatello and Kulikowich, 2001; MacDonald, 2002; Forjaz et al., 2004; Jones et al., 2008; Angadi et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2012; Terblanche and Millen, 2012; Halliwill et al., 2013; Hecksteden et al., 2013; Brito et al., 2014; Angadi et al., 2015; Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016; Fecchio et al., 2017; Brito et al., 2018; Zeigler et al., 2018), there are limited data published on individuals with obesity (Figueroa et al., 2007; Zeigler et al., 2018; Bunsawat et al., 2021). Although it has been reported that PEH is not associated with BMI (Hamer and Boutcher, 2006), that study only included men identified as normal weight (BMI =  $23.0 \pm 1.7 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) or overweight  $(BMI = 27.5 \pm 1.4 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ . A meta-analysis reported a significant correlation between BMI and PEH (r = 0.26, p < 0.001), with a regression line predicting no PEH for individuals with BMI greater than ~31 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016). Our data are not consistent with that prediction, as a significant PEH was evident for 2-4 h postexercise in our subjects. To our knowledge, this is the first time a PEH has been reported in individuals with obesity during this postexercise time period.

In an earlier study of 12 subjects with BMI 25–35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (mean =  $29 \pm 4$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>), a PEH was observed 1 h after a maximal exercise test (Hecksteden et al., 2013). SBP was reduced from  $134 \pm 18$  to  $125 \pm 13$  mmHg, and DBP reduced from  $88 \pm 10$  to  $84 \pm 7$  mmHg 1 h after the maximal exercise test. Information on the number of participants with BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> was not provided. In a recent study of young adults with and without obesity, it was reported that 1 h of moderate-intensity cycling at 60% VO<sub>2peak</sub> reduced brachial SBP by ~2 mmHg and central SBP by ~3–4 mmHg, with no differences between subjects with BMI < 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and subjects with BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Bunsawat et al., 2021). In that study, PEH was significant at 30 and 60 min postexercise but was not evident by 90 min postexercise. Because







this study did not include a control condition, PEH was assessed relative to pre-exercise baseline blood pressure. Even if diurnal variation in blood pressure could be expected to be minimal over the 90-min postexercise period, this could still have influenced the interpretation of PEH effect of exercise due to the small PEH observed (e.g.,  $\sim 2$  mmHg PEH for brachial SBP). Including a non-exercise control trial for PEH assessment is essential for determination of the true impact of exercise on PEH due to the inherent fluctuations in resting BP over several h (see **Figures 1– 4**).

Body mass index has been reported to be unrelated to PEH (Hamer and Boutcher, 2006), and also inversely related to PEH (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016). However, there were virtually no subjects with BMI > 30 in these studies. In a previous manuscript

we reported that PEH was not observed in obese men (Zeigler et al., 2018). However, postexercise BP was only measured for 1 h. Furthermore, in our previous study it was evident that the pattern of BP responses during the 1 h postexercise was such that a PEH might have eventually been observed with a longer postexercise measurement period. Our current postexercise data are consistent with that finding because postexercise BP was also not observed during the first hour after exercise, but a significant PEH was observed between 2 and 4 h postexercise. The magnitude of the PEH for SBP in our subjects,  $\sim$ 5–8 mmHg at 2 and 4 h postexercise compared to control and  $\sim$ 5–11 mmHg at 2–4 h postexercise compared to pre-exercise baseline values, is at least as great as that observed in non-obese individuals during this same time period (Angadi et al., 2015). The transient







increase in brachial and central DBP at 1 h was not expected. To our knowledge, this is the first time that a significant increase in brachial and central DBPs have been reported after aerobic exercise. The fact that DBP was significantly elevated at 1 h postexercise after both exercise trials suggests that this was not a spurious finding.

The reductions in postexercise central blood pressures may be of particular clinical significance because data from the Conduit Artery Function Evaluation study demonstrated significant and divergent effects of central vs. brachial blood pressure lowering (Williams et al., 2006). Specifically, a reduced central aortic SBP of  $\sim$ 4 mmHg was associated with significantly lower total cardiovascular events and/or procedures as well as development of renal impairment. Further, it is important to note that reductions in central blood pressures are superior to reductions in brachial blood pressures with regard to predicting improved subclinical outcomes such as left ventricular hypertrophy, carotid IMT, and urinary albumin secretion (Kollias et al., 2016). We acknowledge that these reports on the significance of central BP reflect measurements under resting conditions, but PEH may contribute to the overall antihypertensive effects of exercise (Hamer, 2006; Brito et al., 2018).

Most studies of PEH have reported measurements only for the initial hour after exercise (Marcal et al., 2021). Thus it is difficult to compare our subjects' PEH responses over longer postexercise periods with published data. We previously reported brachial blood pressures during a 3-h postexercise period after continuous and interval exercise in young, non-obese adults (Angadi et al., 2015). The greatest PEH was observed during the first h postexercise, and averaged ~4–6 mmHg. However,



the PEH was no longer evident by the third hour postexercise after the steady-state continuous bout of exercise, which was comparable to the exercise bouts in the present study. By contrast, in the current study both brachial and central SBP and DBP were significantly lower than the corresponding control values 4 h after exercise. This 4-h PEH was observed for both exercise trials (Figures 1-4). In fact, the peak PEH occurred at approximately 3 h postexercise, at a time when PEH was no longer evident after a similar continuous exercise session in subjects without obesity (Angadi et al., 2015). One difference is that the exercise duration in the current study was 45 min, compared to 30 min for our previous study. Although some studies have shown that exercise duration had no effect on PEH (MacDonald et al., 2000; Guidry et al., 2006), a more recent meta-analysis reported that exercise duration was inversely correlated (r = -0.19; P = 0.01) with the change in postexercise SBP (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016). The fact that a pronounced PEH was still apparent 4 h postexercise in the current study suggests that PEH, although delayed, may extend for a longer period of time in adult men with both obesity and hypertension.

#### **Strengths and Weaknesses**

One important strength of our study is the fact that the PEH was essentially identical after both exercise sessions. Our study was designed primarily to determine whether exercise of the same intensity and duration, but differing in muscle contraction rate, would differentially affect postexercise glucose tolerance. Blood pressure responses were a secondary outcome. By having two exercise sessions that were the same in intensity and duration, the second exercise session served as a *de facto* reliability test. The observation that postexercise BP responses were the same for both exercise tests indicates that our PEH findings in men with obesity and hypertension are reproducible.

One weakness is that our sample size is relatively small, and included only men. The magnitude of PEH has been reported to be greater in men compared to women (Carpio-Rivera et al., 2016). However, despite the small sample size, due to the consistent PEH for both exercise conditions, our results strongly suggest that the delayed PEH in men with obesity and hypertension is not a spurious finding.

Our subjects were not taking anti-hypertensive medications, whereas most studies of PEH in hypertensive individuals have included subjects on blood pressure medications (Melo et al., 2006; Brito et al., 2011; Cunha et al., 2016; Cunha et al., 2017; Ferrari et al., 2017; Imazu et al., 2017; Cunha et al., 2018; Goessler et al., 2018; de Freitas Brito et al., 2019; Costa et al., 2020; Pires et al., 2020). Thus, our results may not be applicable to those taking anti-hypertensive medications. Also, our subjects were physically inactive, and it has been documented that exercise training status affects PEH in older hypertensive adults on medication (Imazu et al., 2017; Iellamo et al., 2021). Whether training status affects PEH in younger adults with obesity and hypertension has not been evaluated.

One of our subjects had a BMI of  $<30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . However, even when restricting our analyses to those subjects with BMI  $> 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ , the results were essentially unchanged.

### CONCLUSION

Due to the small sample size our results must be viewed as preliminary. Nevertheless, they strongly suggest that PEH occurs in men with obesity and hypertension, but that the blood pressure-lowering effect of a single bout of aerobic exercise is delayed until after the first h postexercise. The PEH is most pronounced for brachial and central SBP and MAP. The magnitude of the PEH is at least as great as that observed in non-obese subjects, and may last for a longer duration.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Arizona State University Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CJ performed the experiments. CJ and SA performed the statistical analyses. CJ and GG wrote the initial draft of the

#### REFERENCES

- Angadi, S. S., Bhammar, D. M., and Gaesser, G. A. (2015). Postexercise hypotension after continuous, aerobic interval, and sprint interval exercise. J. Strength Cond. Res. 29, 2888–2893. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000000939
- Angadi, S. S., Weltman, A., Watson-Winfield, D., Weltman, J., Frick, K., Patrie, J., et al. (2010). Effect of fractionized vs continuous, single-session exercise on blood pressure in adults. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 24, 300–302. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2009. 110
- Brito, A. F., Alves, N. F., Araujo, A. S., Goncalves, M. C., and Silva, A. S. (2011). Active intervals between sets of resistance exercises potentiate the magnitude of postexercise hypotension in elderly hypertensive women. J. Strength Cond. Res. 25, 3129–3136. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e318212dd25
- Brito, L. C., Fecchio, R. Y., Pecanha, T., Andrade-Lima, A., Halliwill, J. R., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2018). Postexercise hypotension as a clinical tool: a "single brick" in the wall. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 12, e59–e64. doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2018. 10.006
- Brito, L. C., Queiroz, A. C., and Forjaz, C. L. (2014). Influence of population and exercise protocol characteristics on hemodynamic determinants of post-aerobic exercise hypotension. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 47, 626–636. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20143832
- Bunsawat, K., Lefferts, E. C., Grigoriadis, G., Wee, S. O., Kilianek, M. M., Fadel, P. J., et al. (2021). Central and peripheral postexercise blood pressure and vascular responses in young adults with obesity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 53, 994–1002. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002540
- Carpio-Rivera, E., Moncada-Jimenez, J., Salazar-Rojas, W., and Solera-Herrera, A. (2016). Acute effects of exercise on blood pressure: a meta-analytic investigation. Arq. Bras. Cardiol. 106, 422–433. doi: 10.5935/abc.20160064
- Costa, E. C., Kent, D. E., Boreskie, K. F., Hay, J. L., Kehler, D. S., Edye-Mazowita, A., et al. (2020). Acute effect of high-intensity interval versus moderate-intensity continuous exercise on blood pressure and arterial compliance in middle-aged and older hypertensive women with increased arterial stiffness. J. Strength Cond. Res. 34, 1307–1316. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003552
- Cunha, R. M., Arsa, G., Neves, E. B., Lopes, L. C., Santana, F., Noleto, M. V., et al. (2016). Water aerobics is followed by short-time and immediate systolic blood pressure reduction in overweight and obese hypertensive women. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 10, 570–577. doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2016.05.002
- Cunha, R. M., Costa, A. M., Silva, C. N. F., Povoa, T. I. R., Pescatello, L. S., and Lehnen, A. M. (2018). Postexercise hypotension after aquatic exercise in older women with hypertension: a randomized crossover clinical trial. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 31, 247–252. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpx165
- Cunha, R. M., Vilaca-Alves, J., Noleto, M. V., Silva, J. S., Costa, A. M., Silva, C. N., et al. (2017). Acute blood pressure response in hypertensive elderly women immediately after water aerobics exercise: a crossover study. *Clin. Exp. Hypertens.* 39, 17–22. doi: 10.1080/10641963.2016.1226891

manuscript. All authors contributed to conception and design of the study, critically revised the manuscript, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was partially funded by small grants from the Arizona State University Graduate and Professional Student Association and from Arizona State University—Mayo Clinic Obesity Solutions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the participants who volunteered for this study. We thank Michael Todd for his support with data analysis.

- de Freitas Brito, A., Brasileiro-Santos, M. D. S., Coutinho de Oliveira, C. V., and da Cruz Santos, A. (2019). Postexercise hypotension is volume-dependent in hypertensives: autonomic and forearm blood responses. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 33, 234–241. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001735
- Diaz, K. M., and Shimbo, D. (2013). Physical activity and the prevention of hypertension. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 15, 659–668. doi: 10.1007/s11906-013-0386-8
- Dos Santos, E. S., Asano, R. Y., Filho, I. G., Lopes, N. L., Panelli, P., Nascimento Dda, C., et al. (2014). Acute and chronic cardiovascular response to 16 weeks of combined eccentric or traditional resistance and aerobic training in elderly hypertensive women: a randomized controlled trial. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 28, 3073–3084. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000000537
- Faselis, C., Doumas, M., Kokkinos, J. P., Panagiotakos, D., Kheirbek, R., Sheriff, H. M., et al. (2012). Exercise capacity and progression from prehypertension to hypertension. *Hypertension* 60, 333–338. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA. 112.196493
- Fecchio, R. Y., Chehuen, M., Brito, L. C., Pecanha, T., Queiroz, A. C. C., and de Moraes Forjaz, C. L. (2017). Reproducibility (Reliability and Agreement) of Post-exercise Hypotension. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 38, 1029–1034. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-118009
- Ferrari, R., Umpierre, D., Vogel, G., Vieira, P. J. C., Santos, L. P., de Mello, R. B., et al. (2017). Effects of concurrent and aerobic exercises on postexercise hypotension in elderly hypertensive men. *Exp. Gerontol.* 98, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.exger.2017.08.012
- Figueroa, A., Baynard, T., Fernhall, B., Carhart, R., and Kanaley, J. A. (2007). Impaired postexercise cardiovascular autonomic modulation in middle-aged women with type 2 diabetes. *Eur. J. Cardiovasc. Prev. Rehabil.* 14, 237–243. doi: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e32801da10d
- Forjaz, C. L., Cardoso, C. G. Jr., Rezk, C. C., Santaella, D. F., and Tinucci, T. (2004). Postexercise hypotension and hemodynamics: the role of exercise intensity. *J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness* 44, 54–62.
- Gaesser, G. A., and Brooks, G. A. (1975). Muscular efficiency during steady-rate exercise: effects of speed and work rate. J. Appl. Physiol. 38, 1132–1139. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1975.38.6.1132
- Goessler, K. F., Polito, M. D., Mota, G. F., de Oliveira, E. M., and Cornelissen, V. A. (2018). Angiotensin converting enzyme 2 polymorphisms and postexercise hypotension in hypertensive medicated individuals. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 38, 206–212. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12400
- Guidry, M. A., Blanchard, B. E., Thompson, P. D., Maresh, C. M., Seip, R. L., Taylor, A. L., et al. (2006). The influence of short and long duration on the blood pressure response to an acute bout of dynamic exercise. *Am. Heart J.* 151, 1322.e5–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2006.03.010
- Hagstromer, M., Oja, P., and Sjostrom, M. (2006). The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ): a study of concurrent and construct validity. *Public Health Nutr.* 9, 755–762. doi: 10.1079/phn2005898

- Halliwill, J. R., Buck, T. M., Lacewell, A. N., and Romero, S. A. (2013). Postexercise hypotension and sustained postexercise vasodilatation: what happens after we exercise? *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 7–18. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2011.058065
- Hamer, M. (2006). The anti-hypertensive effects of exercise: integrating acute and chronic mechanisms. *Sports Med.* 36, 109–116. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200636020-00002
- Hamer, M., and Boutcher, S. H. (2006). Impact of moderate overweight and body composition on postexercise hemodynamic responses in healthy men. J. Hum. Hypertens. 20, 612–617. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1002035
- Hecksteden, A., Grutters, T., and Meyer, T. (2013). Association between postexercise hypotension and long-term training-induced blood pressure reduction: a pilot study. *Clin. J. Sport Med.* 23, 58–63. doi: 10.1097/JSM. 0b013e31825b6974
- Iellamo, F., Caminiti, G., Montano, M., Manzi, V., Franchini, A., Mancuso, A., et al. (2021). Prolonged post-exercise hypotension: effects of different exercise modalities and training statuses in elderly patients with hypertension. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:3229. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18063229
- Imazu, A. A., Goessler, K. F., Casonatto, J., and Polito, M. D. (2017). The influence of physical training status on postexercise hypotension in patients with hypertension: a cross-sectional study. *Blood Press Monit.* 22, 196–201. doi: 10.1097/MBP.0000000000255
- Jones, H., Pritchard, C., George, K., Edwards, B., and Atkinson, G. (2008). The acute post-exercise response of blood pressure varies with time of day. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 104, 481–489. doi: 10.1007/s00421-008-0797-4
- Kollias, A., Lagou, S., Zeniodi, M. E., Boubouchairopoulou, N., and Stergiou, G. S. (2016). Association of central versus brachial blood pressure with targetorgan damage: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hypertension* 67, 183–190. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06066
- Legramante, J. M., Galante, A., Massaro, M., Attanasio, A., Raimondi, G., Pigozzi, F., et al. (2002). Hemodynamic and autonomic correlates of postexercise hypotension in patients with mild hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 282, R1037–R1043. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00603.2001
- Liu, S., Goodman, J., Nolan, R., Lacombe, S., and Thomas, S. G. (2012). Blood pressure responses to acute and chronic exercise are related in prehypertension. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 44, 1644–1652. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31825 408fb
- MacDonald, J. R. (2002). Potential causes, mechanisms, and implications of post exercise hypotension. J. Hum. Hypertens. 16, 225–236. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh. 1001377
- MacDonald, J. R., MacDougall, J. D., and Hogben, C. D. (2000). The effects of exercise duration on post-exercise hypotension. J. Hum. Hypertens. 14, 125–129. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1000953
- Marcal, I. R., Goessler, K. F., Buys, R., Casonatto, J., Ciolac, E. G., and Cornelissen, V. A. (2021). Post-exercise hypotension following a single bout of high intensity interval exercise vs. a single bout of moderate intensity continuous exercise in adults with or without hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Front. Physiol.* 12:675289. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021. 675289
- Melo, C. M., Alencar Filho, A. C., Tinucci, T., Mion, D. Jr., and Forjaz, C. L. (2006). Postexercise hypotension induced by low-intensity resistance exercise in hypertensive women receiving captopril. *Blood Press Monit.* 11, 183–189. doi: 10.1097/01.mbp.0000218000.42710.91
- Pauca, A. L., O'Rourke, M. F., and Kon, N. D. (2001). Prospective evaluation of a method for estimating ascending aortic pressure from the radial artery pressure waveform. *Hypertension* 38, 932–937. doi: 10.1161/hy1001.096106
- Pescatello, L. S., and Kulikowich, J. M. (2001). The aftereffects of dynamic exercise on ambulatory blood pressure. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 33, 1855–1861. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200111000-00009

- Pescatello, L. S., Guidry, M. A., Blanchard, B. E., Kerr, A., Taylor, A. L., Johnson, A. N., et al. (2004). Exercise intensity alters postexercise hypotension. *J. Hypertens.* 22, 1881–1888. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200410000-00009
- Pescatello, L. S., MacDonald, H. V., Lamberti, L., and Johnson, B. T. (2015). Exercise for hypertension: a prescription update integrating existing recommendations with emerging research. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 17:87. doi: 10.1007/s11906-015-0600-y
- Pires, N. F., Coelho-Junior, H. J., Gambassi, B. B., de Faria, A. P. C., Ritter, A. M. V., de Andrade Barboza, C., et al. (2020). Combined aerobic and resistance exercises evokes longer reductions on ambulatory blood pressure in resistant hypertension: a randomized crossover trial. *Cardiovasc. Ther.* 2020;8157858. doi: 10.1155/2020/8157858
- Sawyer, B. J., Tucker, W. J., Bhammar, D. M., and Gaesser, G. A. (2015). Using a verification test for determination of V[Combining Dot Above]O2max in sedentary adults with obesity. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* 29, 3432–3438. doi: 10. 1519/JSC.000000000001199
- Sramek, P., Simeckova, M., Jansky, L., Savlikova, J., and Vybiral, S. (2000). Human physiological responses to immersion into water of different temperatures. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 81, 436–442. doi: 10.1007/s004210050065
- Stocks, J. M., Patterson, M. J., Hyde, D. E., Jenkins, A. B., Mittleman, K. D., and Taylor, N. A. (2004). Effects of immersion water temperature on whole-body fluid distribution in humans. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 182, 3–10. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-201X.2004.01302.x
- Terblanche, E., and Millen, A. M. (2012). The magnitude and duration of postexercise hypotension after land and water exercises. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 4111–4118. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2398-5
- Whelton, P. K., Carey, R. M., Aronow, W. S., Casey, D. E. Jr., Collins, K. J., Dennison Himmelfarb, C., et al. (2018). 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: executive summary: a report of the American college of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines. *Circulation* 138, e426–e483. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000597
- Williams, B., Lacy, P. S., Thom, S. M., Cruickshank, K., Stanton, A., Collier, D., et al. (2006). Differential impact of blood pressure-lowering drugs on central aortic pressure and clinical outcomes: principal results of the Conduit Artery Function Evaluation (CAFE) study. *Circulation* 113, 1213–1225. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.105.595496
- Zeigler, Z. S., Swan, P. D., Buman, M. P., Mookadam, F., Gaesser, G. A., and Angadi, S. S. (2018). Postexercise hemodynamic responses in lean and obese men. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 50, 2292–2300. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001684

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jarrett, Tucker, Angadi and Gaesser. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Evaluating the Methodological Quality of Postexercise Hypotension Aerobic Exercise Interventions**

Christina Day<sup>1\*</sup>, Yin Wu<sup>1,2</sup> and Linda S. Pescatello<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Kinesiology, University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT, United States, <sup>2</sup> Institute for Collaboration on Health, Intervention, and Policy, University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT, United States

**Background:** Postexercise hypotension (PEH) is the immediate reduction in blood pressure (BP) of 5–8 mmHg that occurs after a single bout of aerobic exercise among adults with hypertension. Across PEH studies, there are variations in the level of rigor of the study designs and methods that limit the conclusions that can be made about PEH.

**Objective:** To develop and then apply a methodological study quality evaluation checklist to aerobic exercise PEH studies to provide methodological guidance.

**Methods:** We developed a PEH checklist (PEH $\sqrt{\text{list}}$ ) based upon contemporary methodological study quality standards. The PEH $\sqrt{\text{list}}$  contains 38 items divided into three categories: sample (n = 10 items), study (n = 23 items), and intervention characteristics (n = 5 items). We then systematically searched six databases to January 2019 to identify and then evaluate studies that: (1) enrolled adults  $\geq$ 18 years with hypertension and without other chronic diseases or conditions; (2) included a bout of aerobic exercise and a non-exercise control session; and (3) were published in English.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Raphael Ritti-Dias, Universidade Nove de Julho, Brazil

#### Reviewed by:

Cristian Alvarez, Universidad de Los Lagos, Chile Rafael Fecchio, University of São Paulo, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: Christina Day Christina.Day@uconn.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 10 January 2022 Accepted: 15 February 2022 Published: 10 March 2022

#### Citation:

Day C, Wu Y and Pescatello LS (2022) Evaluating the Methodological Quality of Postexercise Hypotension Aerobic Exercise Interventions. Front. Physiol. 13:851950. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.851950 **Results:** Of 17,149 potential studies, 64 qualified. Participants (N = 1,489) were middleaged (38.6 ± 15.6 year), overweight (26.1 ± 2.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) mostly men (64.4%) with elevated BP (systolic BP 129.5 ± 15.2/diastolic BP 81.0 ± 10.1 mmHg). Overall, the qualifying studies satisfactorily reported 53.9 ± 13.3% (24.2–82.8%) of the relevant items on the PEH<sub>√</sub>list. Of note, only 20.3% of the studies disclosed BP was measured following professional guidelines, 18.8% reported BP was taken by the same assessor pre- and post-intervention, and 35.5% stated participants abstained from caffeine, alcohol, and physical activity prior to testing. Half (51.5%) indicated they statistically controlled for pre-exercise/baseline BP. Meanwhile, 100% of the studies reported the setting in which the BP measurements were taken, time from the end of the exercise to the start of the BP measurements, and if relevant, the length of the ambulatory BP monitoring period.

**Conclusion:** Overall, the PEH,/list items were not well satisfied; especially items with potential confounding effects on PEH. We contend the PEH,/list provides guidance to investigators on the important methodological study considerations in PEH aerobic exercise studies that should be attended to in the future.

**Systematic Review Registration:** [https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/], identifier [#CRD42020221996].

Keywords: blood pressure, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, physical activity, systematic review

## INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death in the United States and the world, accounting for approximately one in three deaths annually (Virani et al., 2021). Hypertension is the most common, costly, and preventable CVD risk factor affecting nearly 50% of adults in the United States. The total United States health care expenditures attributed to hypertension in 2016 were \$79 billion dollars (Virani et al., 2021) and are projected to be \$153.7 billion dollars in 2035 (Nelson et al., 2016) underscoring the public health burden hypertension places on our society.

Professional organizations throughout the world recommend exercise as first-line lifestyle therapy to lower blood pressure (BP; Pescatello et al., 2015a; Whelton et al., 2018). Postexercise hypotension (PEH) is the immediate reduction in BP of 5-8 mmHg that occurs after a single bout of aerobic exercise and persists for up to 24 h. PEH is clinically important because: (1) PEH occurs immediately (Fitzgerald, 1981; Pescatello et al., 1991; Kenney and Seals, 1993); (2) PEH reduces BP throughout the day when BP is typically at its highest levels (Pescatello et al., 2004); (3) an individual does not have to be physically fit to experience PEH (Pescatello et al., 2003, 2007, 2017; Ash et al., 2017; Zaleski et al., 2019); and (4) PEH can be used as a behavioral self-regulation strategy to increase exercise adherence (Zaleski et al., 2019). Also, there is evidence that PEH is correlated with the BP response to the exercise training effect (Pescatello et al., 2015a,b; Wegmann et al., 2018).

Within the PEH literature, there is a wide range of variations in the study designs. Some of the variations include: (1) PEH studies may or may not include a control comparison (de Brito et al., 2019); (2) PEH studies may or may not disclose baseline/pre-exercise BP levels (de Brito et al., 2019); (3) PEH studies include different intensities, modalities, and durations of exercise (Pescatello et al., 2015a; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018); (4) PEH studies involve samples with an admixture of BP status, ranging from normal to stage 2 hypertension (Chobanian et al., 2003; Pescatello et al., 2015a); and (5) BP monitoring occurs in different settings, notably in the laboratory or under ambulatory conditions (Pescatello et al., 2015a; de Brito et al., 2019). Due to the variance in the exercise protocols between studies, it is important for studies to clearly report the intensity, time, and type of the exercise intervention so that the exercise dose that elicits PEH can be more clearly defined (MacDonald, 2002; Pescatello et al., 2015a; de Brito et al., 2019; Fecchio et al., 2020). For example, studies including participants with normal BP will underestimate the magnitude of PEH, as consistent with the law of initial values, those with the highest resting BP will experience the greatest BP reductions resulting from exercise (Wilder, 1965; Eicher et al., 2010; Pescatello et al., 2019; Hanssen et al., 2021). As a result, the 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee called for additional well-controlled studies to better understand PEH (Pescatello et al., 2015a; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018).

To the best of our knowledge, there is no existing easyto-use checklist or scale that researchers can follow when designing, implementing, or reporting PEH studies. Therefore, we have developed a 38-item evaluation instrument named, the *Evaluation Tool for Studies Examining Postexercise Hypotension* or the PEH $\sqrt{$ list. We then performed a high-quality systematic review to evaluate studies examining the BP response to acute aerobic exercise. Based on our findings, our intent was also to provide methodological guidance to investigators studying PEH.

## METHODS

# Development of the PEH<sub>2</sub>/list and Selection of Core Items

We developed an evaluation instrument named, Evaluation Tool for Studies Examining Postexercise Hypotension (the PEH<sub>1</sub>/list), consisting of three categories: sample, study, and intervention characteristics. See Supplementary Material A for a complete copy of the PEH $\sqrt{list}$ . We identified the items on the PEH $\sqrt{list}$ based upon our extensive experience conducting PEH studies (Downs and Black, 1998; Higgins et al., 2011; Ash et al., 2013; Johnson et al., 2014; Hacke et al., 2018; de Brito et al., 2019). We also consulted articles regarding general methodological study quality standards for randomized controlled trials that included the Cochrane tool for assessing risk of bias (Higgins et al., 2011) and the Downs and Black checklist for methodological quality (Downs and Black, 1998). We included the specifics of the intervention characteristics such as reporting the frequency, intensity, time, and type of the exercise intervention (Johnson et al., 2014). Last, we also included, methods papers commenting on unique aspects of PEH studies such as de Brito et al. (2019), commented on the different statistical approaches for calculating PEH (Ash et al., 2013; Hacke et al., 2018).

The PEH,/list consists of three sections with a total of 38 items: (1) sample characteristics (10 items); (2) study characteristics (23 items); and (3) intervention characteristics (5 items). The total number of relevant items evaluated in the PEH $\sqrt{\text{list}}$  for a study was dependent on the method used for measuring BP (i.e., resting BP, ambulatory BP, or both). Accordingly, a total of 38 PEH $\sqrt{$ list items pertained to a study if both resting BP and ambulatory BP measurements were reported, 29 PEH $\sqrt{\text{list}}$  items pertained to a study if only resting BP was reported, and 33 PEH<sub>v</sub>/list items pertained to a study if only ambulatory BP was reported. In addition, we have selected 13 core items that are shaded in gray in Tables 1-3 that we contend are fundamental considerations in designing, implementing, and reporting findings from PEH studies to ensure transparent replication of the methods and trustworthiness of the findings (Guadagnoli and Velicer, 1988; Downs and Black, 1998; Whelton et al., 2018; Flack and Adekola, 2020).

### Literature Search and Study Screening

This systematic review was conducted according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (Higgins et al., 2011). The protocol was registered at PROSPERO (#CRD42020221996). Qualifying articles were retrieved from electronic databases (PubMed, Scopus, Sport Discuss, CINAHL, Cochrane, and Web of Science) from inception until January 2019, with key words related to

#### TABLE 1 | PEH,/list part one participant characteristics.

Items	k	Reporting rates	
1. Age (year)	61	95.3%	38.6 ± 15.7
2. Ethnicity/race	8	12.5%	-
3. Gender/sex	60	93.8%	Male ( <i>n</i> = 960, 66.9%) Female ( <i>n</i> = 476, 33.1%)
4. BP classification scheme used	36	56.3%	
4a. Followed professional guidelines	11	30.6%	American College of Sports Medicine ( $k = 1$ ) Brazilian Guidelines for Hypertension ( $k = 2$ ) World Health Organization ( $k = 2$ ) American Heart Association ( $k = 3$ ) 7th Joint National Committee ( $k = 3$ )
Values at Baseline			
5. BP (mmHg)	41	64.1%	$129.5 \pm 15.2/81.0 \pm 10.1$
6. Physical activity level	45	70.3%	Active (46.7%, $k = 21$ ) Inactive/Sedentary (48.9%, k = 22) Mixture Active and Inactive (4.4%, $k = 2$ )
7. Cardiorespiratory fitness level (mL/kg.min <sup>-1</sup> )	37	57.8%	35.3 ± 9.9
8. Body mass index (kg/m²)	57	89.1%	$26.1 \pm 2.5$
9. Waist circumference (cm)	10	15.6%	$86.7 \pm 27.9$
10. Medication use	53	82.8%	
10a. Reported the type and/or dosage of medication*	39	75.0%	-
10b. Reported the length of the washout or run-in period* (weeks)	11	21.2%	1–6

BP, Blood Pressure. Items shaded in gray are the core items.

\*k values and percentage is based on the main question.

aerobic exercise and BP. Studies qualified if they: (1) were peerreviewed and published in English; (2) involved healthy adults  $\geq$ 18 years; (3) included an acute bout of aerobic exercise; and (4) included a non-exercise control session to control for the circadian variation in BP (de Brito et al., 2019). The potentially relevant studies were screened by two trained coders (CD, YW); first by title and abstract, and then by full text. See **Figure 1** for the flow diagram and **Supplementary Material B** for references of included PEH intervention studies. All disagreements were resolved through discussion by two independent reviewers (CD, YW). When an agreement could not be reached, a third party was consulted (LSP).

### **Data Extraction and Study Evaluation**

Data were extracted using a standardized coding form and coder manual we adapted for PEH studies (Johnson et al., 2014). Coders extracted and entered information regarding the study (e.g., publication year, number of participants, and location), participant (e.g., age, gender, and body mass index), intervention (e.g., exercise intensity, exercise type, and time of day when sessions began) characteristics, and methodological study quality. The risk of bias was assessed in accordance with the Revised Cochrane Risk-of-Bias Tool for Randomized Trials (Higgins et al., 2011). The five domains evaluated for **TABLE 2** | PEH<sub>√</sub>list part two study characteristics.

ltomo	1-	Dementing of	
Items	ĸ	Reporting %	
11. Performed sample size estimation analysis based on BP as the primary outcome	16	25.0%	-
12. The allocation sequence	61	95.3%	Randomized
13a. Disclosed the procedure used*	5	7.8%	Table with random number $(k = 1)$ Used Randomizer.org $(k = 4)$
13. The investigator who performed the BP measurements	5	7.8%	i.e., trained investigator
14. The same investigator performed all BP measurements	12	18.8%	-
15. The model of the BP device	62	96.9%	Ambulatory ( $k = 25, 40.3\%$ ), e.g., Accutracker II Automated ( $k = 23, 37.1\%$ ), e.g., Microlife Baroreflex Responses ( $k = 1$ , 1.6%) Finapres ( $k = 5, 8.1\%$ ), e.g., Ohmeda Finapres Manuel ( $k = 8, 12.9\%$ ), e.g., Mercury Sphygmomanometer
15a. The same BP device used through the study for a participant*	4	6.6%	-
16. Participant abstained from	40	62.5%	-
caffeine prior to intervention 16a. Hours participant abstained from caffeine*	29	72.5%	$15.6 \pm 11.8$
17. Participant abstained from alcohol prior to intervention	27	42.2%	-
17a. Hours participant abstained from alcohol*	20	74.1%	21.4 ± 21.2
18. Participant abstained form physical activity prior to intervention	33	51.6%	-
18a. Hours participant abstained form physical activity*	31	93.9%	$28.5 \pm 12.8$
Was The BP Response to Exercis	e C	ontrolled for By	Pre-Exercise BP
19a. Reported Average = (Average BP post-exercise) minus (Average BP post-control) with baseline/pre-exercise BP as a covariate	10	15.6%	-
19b. Reported Change from baseline/pre-exercise BP = (Average BP post- minus pre-exercise) minus (Average BP post- minus pre-control) with or without baseline/pre-exercise BP as a covariate	23	35.9%	-
Resting Blood Pressure Measurement Protocol	41		
20. Location/environment	41	100%	Aquatic Center ( $k = 1$ ) Lab and Workplace ( $k = 2$ ) Lab and Outdoors ( $k = 1$ ) Lab ( $k = 37$ )
			(Continued)

#### TABLE 2 | (Continued)

TABLE 3 | PEH,/list part three intervention characteristics.

Items	k Re	porting %	6	Items	k R	eporting 9	/o
21. Followed professional guidelines during BP measurements	7	17.1%	5th Brazilian Guidelines for Hypertension ( $k = 2$ ) 7th Joint National Committee ( $k = 2$ ) American Heart Associations ( $k = 1$ ) Brazilian Society of Cardiology ( $k = 1$ )	34. The time of day the exercise and control sessions began	34	53.1%	Morning 7:00 am–12:00 pm ( $k = 27$ ) Afternoon 12:00 pm–5:00 pm ( $k = 2$ ) Evening 5:00 pm–7:00 pm ( $k = 3$ ) Both morning and evening times ( $k = 2$ )
	40	07.00/	International Protocol of the European Society of Hypertension ( $k = 1$ )	34a. The start of exercise and control sessions were conducted within 3–4 h of one another*	37	97.4%	
22. Participant's position	40	97.6%	Seated ( $k = 25$ ) Supine ( $k = 14$ ) Semi recumbent ( $k = 1$ )	35. The location of exercise	50	78.1%	Workplace ( $k = 1, 2.0\%$ ) Thermal Bath ( $k = 1, 2.0\%$ )
23. Time Lapse from the end of exercise and start of the BP measurements (minutes)		100%	12.6 ± 11.0 (2-45)				Laboratory and Outdoors ( $k = 1$ , 2.0%) Chamber ( $k = 1, 2.0\%$ )
24. Total time of the BP monitoring (minutes)	38	92.7%	142.1 ± 247.3 (5–1,440)				Aquatic ( $k = 2, 4.0\%$ ) Laboratory ( $k = 44, 88\%$ )
Ambulatory Blood Pressure Measurement Protocol	27 6	22.2%	American Heart Association	36. The temperature that participants exercised in	25	39.1%	15–36 Celsius
25. Followed professional guidelines during BP measurements			(k = 2) British Hypertension Society (k = 1) European Society of Hypertension $(k = 1)$ 5th Brazilian Guidelines for Hypertension $(k = 1)$ Brazilian Guidelines for Ambulatory BP Monitoring $(k = 1)$	37. The time, intensity, and type of the exercise intervention <sup>a</sup>	58	90.6%	Time $41 \pm 22.3 \text{ min}$ Intensity   VO2peak 56 $\pm$ 0.16% (k = 37, 37.4%)   VO2max 61 $\pm$ 0.09% (k = 20, 20.2%)   ml/kg.min 22.815 $\pm$ 10.13 (k = 10 10.1%)
26. Performed a calibration	9	33.3%	Calibrated against mercury				Heart Rate Max 74.83 $\pm$ 0.12%
check 27. Including participant familiarization to wearing the ambulatory BP monitor	6	22.2%	sphygmomanometer (k = 9) -				(k = 7, 7.1%) Ventilatory Threshold 80% $(k = 4, 4.0\%)$ Heart Rate Peak 75 ± 0.17% $(k = 4, 4.0\%)$
28. Participants were given instruction while wearing the BP monitor	22	81.5%	Keep similar routine/No physical activity ( $k = 5$ ) Instructed to keep arm still during measurements ( $k = 17$ ) Instructed to keep an activity log ( $k = 11$ )				Heart Rate Max Age 59 $\pm$ 0.02% ( <i>k</i> = 3, 3.0%) Anaerobic Threshold 100 $\pm$ 0.21% ( <i>k</i> = 2, 2.0%) Rate of Perceived Exertion 15.25 $\pm$ 3.18 ( <i>k</i> = 2, 2.0%)
29. Time-lapse from the end of exercise and start of BP measurements (minutes)	24	88.9%	27.1 ± 17.8 (2–100)				Type Cycle Ergometer ( $k = 61, 61.6\%$ ) Treadmill ( $k = 32, 32.3\%$ )
30. Location/environment	27	100%	Free-Living Conditions ( $k = 24$ ) Lab and Free-Living Conditions ( $k = 2$ ) Lab ( $k = 1$ )	38. The content of the sham control session <sup>b</sup>	49	76.6%	Aquatic ( $k = 2, 2.0\%$ ) Other ( $k = 4, 4.0\%$ ) <i>Time</i> 48.3 ± 58.6 min
31. Disclosed when ABP monito	r7	25.9%	-				Position
was attached during the day 32. Total time of the BP monitoring (minutes)	27	100%	1,206 ± 366 (120–1,440)				Seated Rest ( $k = 55, 93.2\%$ ) Option to Stand or Sit ( $k = 2, 3.3\%$ Standing ( $k = 1, 1.6\%$ )
33. Specified acceptable level of missing data for ambulatory BP analysis	f 17	63.0%	79.40% ± 14.2 (25–95.6%)	*k values are percentage is la <sup>a</sup> The percentage is based o			

BP, Blood Pressure. Items shaded in gray are the core items. \*k values and percentage is based on the main question.

<sup>b</sup>The percentage is based on the 61 total control arms.

VO2peak, peak oxygen uptake; VO2max, maximum oxygen consumption. Items shaded in gray are the core items.

risk of bias were: randomization process, deviations from intended interventions, missing outcome data, measurement of the outcome, and selection of the reported result in each included study. Studies were rated as low, some concern, or high risk of bias. Methodological study quality was assessed using an augmented version of Downs and Black Checklist (Downs and Black, 1998). Methodological study quality was reported as the percentage of items satisfied out of a possible 29 items. The overall methodological quality was classified as: low (<50%), moderate (50–79%), and high ( $\geq$ 80%). We conducted a preliminary correlation analysis which showed the PEH $\sqrt{}$ list study score is correlated with the Downs and Black Checklist score. Therefore, we used the cutoffs in Downs and Black Checklist to define the PEH $\sqrt{}$ list study scores as low (<50%), moderate (50–79%), and high ( $\geq$ 80%). All disagreements were resolved through discussion by two independent reviewers (CD, YW). When an agreement could not be reached a third party was consulted (LSP).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were calculated for the baseline characteristics of the sample in the qualifying studies. For each of the PEH $\sqrt{$ list items, the reporting rate was calculated as (the number of studies satisfactorily reporting this item/the number of studies to which this item was deemed relevant)  $\times$  100%. For each of the studies included, the PEH $\sqrt{$ list study score was calculated as (the number of items reported/by the number of relevant items)  $\times$  100%. We also compared the PEH $\sqrt{$ list study scores against a validated study quality scale score, the Downs and Black Checklist (Pescatello et al., 2019), by performing a Pearson Correlation test. All analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 26.0.

#### RESULTS

The initial search resulted in 27,921 potentially qualifying studies. An additional 34 records were identified through manual searches. After triaging, 64 studies qualified. See **Figure 1** for the PRISMA flow diagram. The average reporting rate for PEH $\sqrt{$ list items was 61.8  $\pm$  31.7%.

#### **PEH**<sub>√</sub>list Part 1: Sample Characteristics

The reporting rate for each of the items in the PEH<sub>2</sub>/list Part 1 is listed in Table 1. The sample (n = 1,511) consisted of young to middle-aged (38.6  $\pm$  15.7 years) healthy adults who on average, were overweight (body mass index  $26.1 \pm 2.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) and had no chronic conditions other than hypertension  $(129.5 \pm 15.2/81.0 \pm 10.1 \text{ mmHg})$ . Over half of the participants were men (66.9%, n = 960), and nearly half were physically inactive (48.9%, k = 22). In addition, only 12.5% of the studies (k = 8) reported the ethnicity/race of the participants. A majority (82.8%, k = 53) of the studies controlled for the potential influence of medications that could impact the BP response to exercise. Of these studies, less than half excluded participants if they were taking various medications. Among the studies excluded participants due to medication use, more than half (k = 12, k = 12)46.2%) excluded participants if they were taking antihypertensive medications; a few (k = 4, 15.4%) excluded participants if they were taking antihypertensive medication or oral contraceptive (k = 1) and lipid medication (k = 3); one study (0.04%) excluded participants who were taking any medication; and the rest (k = 9, 34.6%) excluded participants who were taking medications that can alter lipid profile (k = 4), metabolism (k = 2), heart rate (k = 2), and the renin–angiotensin system (k = 1). For the remainder of the 53 studies, participants: (1) remained on the same medication throughout the study (11%, k = 7); (2) were not taking any medication (12.5%, k = 8); or (3) stopped taking medication by going through a washout period of 1–6 weeks before the study started (17.5%, k = 11). Of note, only 45.3% (k = 29) of the studies identified their participants had hypertension, however, only 30.6% (k = 11) of the studies reported following professional guidelines to classify the subjects as having hypertension.

#### PEH<sub>√</sub> Part 2: Study Characteristics

The reporting rate for each of the items in the PEH $\sqrt{\text{list Part 2}}$  is listed in **Table 2**. The included studies were mostly randomized controlled trials (95.3%, k = 61) published between 1987 and 2018 (2006 ± 8) and conducted in North America (35.9%, k = 23), South America (32.8%, k = 21), Europe (26.6%, k = 17), Asia (3.1%, k = 2), and Australia (1.6%, k = 1). Studies included 6–109 participants (24 ± 20), and more than half contained multiple exercise arms (64%, k = 41), while 15.6% (k = 10) contained multiple control arms. Of note, only 25% (k = 16) of the studies reported they performed a sample size estimation based on BP as the primary outcome, and only six studies (9.8%) reported the procedure used for randomization.

When calculating PEH more than half (51.6%, k = 33) of the studies reported controlling for baseline/pre-exercise BP by including baseline/pre-exercise BP as a covariate in the statistical models comparing: (1) average BP post-exercise versus average BP post-control (15.6%, k = 10); or (2) the change of BP due to exercise (i.e., post-exercise BP – pre-exercise BP) versus the change of BP due to control (i.e., post-control BP – pre-control BP) (35.9%, k = 23).

Regarding the measurement of BP, 64.1% of the studies (k = 41) measured resting BP, 42.2% measured ambulatory BP (k = 27), or 6.3% measured both (k = 4). Among the 41 studies measuring resting BP, most were measured in the seated position (62.5%, k = 25) in the laboratory (90.2%, k = 37) starting 12.6  $\pm$  11 min after the end of the exercise session and continued for 142.1  $\pm$  247.3 min thereafter. Of the 27 studies assessing ambulatory BP, most occurred under free-living conditions (88.9%, k = 24) starting 27.1  $\pm$  17.8 min after the end of the exercise sessions and continued for  $20.1 \pm 6.1$  h. Of note, most studies (96.9%, k = 62) reported the model of the BP device used to measure BP. However, studies rarely disclosed they followed protocols recommended by professional guidelines when measuring resting BP (only 17.1% did, k = 7) or ambulatory BP (only 22.2% did, k = 6). The studies assessing ambulatory BP rarely (only 22.2% did, k = 6) disclosed whether a familiarization session was performed prior to the start of experiments, or a calibration check was performed (only 33.3% did, k = 9). In addition, only 31.3% (k = 20) of the 64 studies assessing resting and/or ambulatory BP asked participants to abstain from physical activity, alcohol, and caffeine prior to experiments.

# **PEH** / Part 3: Intervention Characteristics

The reporting rate for each of the items in the PEH $\sqrt{\text{list Part 3}}$  is listed in **Table 3**. Over half of the studies (53.1%, *k* = 34) reported



the time of day of the exercise and control sessions, with most of the sessions occurring in the morning between 7:00 am and 12:00 pm (42.2%, k = 27). There were 99 exercise arms in the included studies. The majority of exercises were performed in a laboratory setting (k = 44, 88.0%), two studies (4.0%) performed exercises in aquatic setting, and others were in workplace (k = 1, 2.0%), thermal bath (k = 1, 2.0%), and a combination of laboratory and outdoors (k = 1, 2.0%). There were 25 studies (39.1%) that reported the temperature that the participants exercised in with the lowest temperature range being 15-22°C in Casonatto et al. (2011), and the highest temperature range being  $\leq$  36.0°C in Matzer et al. (2017). The exercise sessions on average lasted  $41.0 \pm 22.3$  min at moderate (82.8%, k = 82) and vigorous (17.2%, k = 17) intensity measured by various methods such as peak oxygen uptake, maximal oxygen uptake, and heart rate maximum (see **Table 3** for a complete list of intensity methods). Most of the studies were performed on a cycle ergometer (61.6%, k = 61) or treadmill (32.3%, k = 32). Among the 61 control arms, control

sessions on average lasted 48.3  $\pm$  58.6 min with seated rest being the most common (93.2%, k = 55) (see more details in **Table 3**).

## **Evaluations of Studies Included**

For the determination of the overall risk of bias using the Revised Cochrane Risk-of-Bias Tool for Randomized Trial (Higgins et al., 2011), eight studies (12.9%) were of low risk, 39 studies (62.9%) had some concerns, and 17 studies (24.2%) were of high risk. In the *Domain of Bias Arising from the Randomization Process*, 17.2% (k = 11) of the studies were of low risk, 75% (k = 48) had some concerns, and 7.8% (k = 5) were of high risk. In the *Domain of Bias Arising from the Deviations from Intended Interventions*, 64.1% (k = 41) of the studies were of low risk, 21.9% (k = 14) had some scored some concern, and 14.1% (k = 9) were of high risk. In the *Domain of Bias* (k = 60) were of low risk, 6.2% of the studies (k = 4) had some concerns, and no studies were of high risk. In the *Domain of Bias in Measurement of The Outcome*,



85.5% of the studies (k = 55) were of low risk, 14.5% (k = 9) had some concerns, and no studies were of high risk. In the *Domain of Bias in Selection of The Reported Result*, 96.8% of the studies (k = 62) were of low risk, 3.2% (k = 2) of the studies had some concerns, and no studies were high risk. Please see **Supplementary Material C** for the Risk of Bias scores of qualifying studies.

On the Downs and Black checklist, studies scored averaged 55.6  $\pm$  10 (37.9–79.3%). Of these, 31.3% (k = 20) exhibited low methodological quality, most of the studies (68.8%, k = 44) exhibited moderate methodological quality (k = 44), and no study scored high methodological quality. Meanwhile the average PEH $\sqrt{\text{list}}$  study score was 53.9  $\pm$  13.3%. Among the 64 studies, two reached a high checklist study score (81.0  $\pm$  0.02%), 36 reached a moderate checklist study score  $(62.1 \pm 0.08\%)$ , and 26 had low study scores  $(41.2 \pm 0.06\%)$ . Please see Supplementary Material C for the studies respective  $PEH_{1}$  ist study score. Based on the Pearson correlation analysis, there was a positive relationship between the Downs and Black checklist score and the PEH vist study score with a Pearson correlation coefficient of 0.325 (p = 0.009). Please see Supplementary Material C for the Downs and Black scores of qualifying studies.

#### DISCUSSION

The clinical utility of PEH as an antihypertensive lifestyle therapy needs to be better understood partially due to the variations in PEH study designs (MacDonald, 2002; Pescatello et al., 2015a; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018; de Brito et al., 2019; Fecchio et al., 2020). We developed a 38-item evaluation instrument, the PEH /list, based upon our laboratory (Downs and Black, 1998; Higgins et al., 2011; Ash et al., 2013; Johnson et al., 2014; Hacke et al., 2018; de Brito et al., 2019) and others' (Hacke et al., 2018; de Brito et al., 2019) experience of performing PEH studies adhering to the contemporary methodological study quality standards of the Cochrane risk of bias tool (Higgins et al., 2011) and Downs and Black checklist for methodological quality (Downs and Black, 1998). We then performed a high-quality systematic review adhering to contemporary standards (Moher et al., 2009) to evaluate qualifying PEH studies with the PEH $\sqrt{$ list that examined the BP response to acute aerobic exercise.

The average PEH $\sqrt{\text{list}}$  study score was 53.94  $\pm$  13.3%. Two studies reached a high checklist study score (81.0  $\pm$  0.02%), 36 reached a moderate checklist study score (62.1  $\pm$  0.08%), and 26 reached a low checklist study scored (41.2  $\pm$  0.06%). Of the three sections of PEH $\sqrt{\text{list}}$ , Part 3-Intervention Characteristics

(**Table 3**) had the highest reporting rate of 67.5%, followed by Part 1-Sample Characteristics at 63.6% (**Table 1**), and Part 2-Study Characteristics at 51.1%. Therefore, Part 2-Study Characteristics (e.g., following professional protocols for the measurement of BP, participant instruction abstaining from caffeine, alcohol, and physical activity) had the most room for improvement.

The average reporting rates of all PEH<sub>1</sub>/list items were  $61.8 \pm 31.7\%$ . However, we acknowledge for various reasons it may not be feasible to integrate all the items on the PEH,/list into the study protocol. For example, having the same investigator take all BP measurements could be challenging for studies with larger sample sizes. If the accessors are well-trained and follow the same protocol the potential bias for methodological bias would be reduced. Therefore, after careful deliberations, we have identified 13 core items that are fundamental and practical to be controlled for within studies. The PEH<sub>2</sub>/list core items had a reporting rate from 20.3 to 100% with an average rate of 59.2 + 27.9%. These reporting rates are present in Figure 2. The five core items (n = 13) that were reported  $\sim < 50\%$  of the time relevant to a given study were: (1) 20% followed standard protocols for measuring BP, such as the American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association guidelines, to ensure the accuracy of BP measurements (Flack and Adekola, 2020); (2) 22% provided an ambulatory BP familiarization session which should be integrated to avoid an alerting reaction to initially wearing the monitor (Thomas et al., 2006; Ash et al., 2013); (3) 25% reported performing a sample size estimation based on the primary BP outcome suggesting many of the qualifying studies may have been underpowered (Guadagnoli and Velicer, 1988); (4) 31% of the studies reported having their participants abstain from caffeine, alcohol, and physical activity that are common PEH confounders (Downs and Black, 1998; Whelton et al., 2018); and (5) 52% of the studies reported they controlled for baseline/pre-exercise BP in their statistical analyses (Eicher et al., 2010). Clearly, the lack of disclosure of these five PEH /list core items and the others shown in Figure 2 indicate a need for improvement in the rigor of PEH studies.

There are some limitations to the current study. First, our review only involved aerobic exercise PEH studies (Johnson et al., 2014; Pescatello et al., 2015a). However, the items within PEH $\sqrt{}$ list are not applicable to only aerobic exercise but to other types of exercise as well. Second, our evaluation of PEH aerobic exercise studies was based on what was reported and may not completely reflect the rigor of the study protocols due to the journal word limitations and the feasibility of implementing certain procedures due to funding limitations, among other reasons. We acknowledge the PEH $\sqrt{}$ list has not been validated; however, the PEH $\sqrt{}$ list and Downs and Black checklist scores had a positive correlation coefficient of 0.325 (p = 0.009), indicating the PEH $\sqrt{}$ list can be used as a methodological study quality evaluation tool specifically designed for PEH studies.

Despite these limitations, our study has several strengths. To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to systematically review the aerobic exercise PEH study methodology. We systematically searched six different databases following PRISMA guidelines. The development of the PEH $\sqrt{}$ list is based on our (Pescatello et al., 1991, 2004, 2007, 2016; Keese et al., 2011; Ash et al., 2013; Headley et al., 2017; Cordeiro et al., 2018; Cilhoroz et al., 2019; Zaleski et al., 2019; Babcock et al., 2020; Farinatti et al., 2021) and others (Hacke et al., 2018; de Brito et al., 2019) long history of performing well-controlled PEH studies (Guadagnoli and Velicer, 1988; Pescatello et al., 1991, 2003, 2004, 2015a, 2017, 2019; Thomas et al., 2006; Moher et al., 2009; Casonatto et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2014; Matzer et al., 2017) as well as the methodological study quality standards of the Cochrane risk of bias tool (Higgins et al., 2011) and Downs and Black checklist for methodological quality (Downs and Black, 1998). The PEH $\sqrt{list}$  is comprehensive addressing essential study design considerations. Accordingly, investigators even with no prior experience can use our checklist as a template to design their PEH studies.

In conclusion, founded upon a high-quality, contemporary systematic review, we have stringently evaluated aerobic exercise PEH studies with the PEH $\sqrt{$ list and identified fundamental study design considerations that need improvement. Future researchers should consider using our PEH $\sqrt{$ list, or at minimum the core items, in conjunction with methodological study quality standards when designing and implementing PEH studies as well as reporting their results.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CD participated in the design of the study, data extraction, and interpretation of details, performed the statistical analysis, and drafted and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. YW participated in the design of the study, data extraction, and interpretation of details and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. LP participated in the design of the study and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content and final approval of the version to be published. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

Center for Health, Intervention, and Prevention, University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT, United States, provided funding for this study.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2022. 851950/full#supplementary-material

## REFERENCES

- Ash, G., Taylor, B., Thompson, P., MacDonald, H., Lamberti, L., Chen, M., et al. (2017). The antihypertensive effects of aerobic versus isometric handgrip resistance exercise. *J. Hypertens.* 35, 291–299. doi: 10.1097/HJH. 000000000001176
- Ash, G. I., Walker, T. J., Olson, K. M., Stratton, J. H., Gómez, A. L., Kraemer, W. J., et al. (2013). Reproducibility of ambulatory blood pressure changes from the initial values on two different days. *Clinics* 68, 1509–1515. doi: 10.6061/clinics/ 2013(12)06
- Babcock, M. C., Robinson, A. T., Watso, J. C., Migdal, K. U., Martens, C. R., Edwards, D. G., et al. (2020). Salt loading blunts central and peripheral postexercise hypotension. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 52, 935–943. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.000000000002187
- Casonatto, J., Tinucci, T., Dourado, A. C., and Polito, M. (2011). Cardiovascular and autonomic responses after exercise sessions with different intensities and durations. *Clinics* 66, 453–458. doi: 10.1590/s1807-59322011000300016
- Chobanian, A. V., Bakris, G. L., Black, H. R., Cushman, W. C., Green, L. A., Izzo, J. L., et al. (2003). The seventh report of the joint national committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure: the jnc 7 report. JAMA 289, 2560–2572. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.19.2560
- Cilhoroz, B. T., Schifano, E. D., Panza, G. A., Ash, G. I., Corso, L., Chen, M., et al. (2019). FURIN variant associations with postexercise hypotension are intensity and race dependent. *Physiol. Rep.* 7:e13952. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13952
- Cordeiro, R., Monteiro, W., Cunha, F., Pescatello, L. S., and Farinatti, P. (2018). Influence of acute concurrent exercise performed in public fitness facilities on ambulatory blood pressure among older adults in rio de janeiro city. J. Strength Condition. Res. 32, 2962–2970. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000002734
- de Brito, L. C., Fecchio, R. Y., Peçanha, T., Lima, A., Halliwill, J., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2019). Recommendations in post-exercise hypotension: concerns, best practices and interpretation. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 40, 487–497. doi: 10.1055/a-0938-4415
- Downs, S. H., and Black, N. (1998). The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and nonrandomised studies of health care interventions. *J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health* 52, 377–384. doi: 10.1136/jech.52.6.377
- Eicher, J. D., Maresh, C. M., Tsongalis, G. J., Thompson, P. D., and Pescatello, L. S. (2010). The additive blood pressure lowering effects of exercise intensity on post-exercise hypotension. *Am. Heart J.* 160, 513–520. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010. 06.005
- Farinatti, P., Polito, M. D., Massaferri, R., Monteiro, W. D., Vasconcelos, D., Johnson, B. T., et al. (2021). Postexercise hypotension due to resistance exercise is not mediated by autonomic control: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Auton. Neurosci.* 234:102825. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2021.1 02825
- Fecchio, R. Y., de Brito, L. C., Pecanha, T., and Forjaz, C. L. M. (2020). Post-exercise hypotension and its hemodynamic determinants depend on the calculation approach. J. Hum. Hypertens. 34, 719–726. doi: 10.1038/s41371-020-0297-5
- Fitzgerald, W. (1981). Labile hypertension and jogging: new diagnostic tool or spurious discovery? Br. Med. J. 282, 542–544. doi: 10.1136/bmj.282.6263.542
- Flack, J. M., and Adekola, B. (2020). Blood pressure and the new ACC/AHA hypertension guidelines. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 30, 160–164. doi: 10.1016/ j.tcm.2019.05.003
- Guadagnoli, E., and Velicer, W. F. (1988). Relation of sample size to the stability of component patterns. *Psychol. Bull.* 103, 265–275. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.103. 2.265
- Hacke, C., Nunan, D., and Weisser, B. (2018). Do exercise trials for hypertension adequately report interventions? A reporting quality Study. Int. J. Sports Med. 39, 902–908. doi: 10.1055/a-0649-1040
- Hanssen, H., Boardman, H., Deiseroth, A., Moholdt, T., Simonenko, M., Kränkel, N., et al. (2021). Personalized exercise prescription in the prevention and treatment of arterial hypertension: a Consensus Document from the European Association of Preventive Cardiology (EAPC) and the ESC council on hypertension. *Eur. J. Prevent. Cardiol.* [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1093/ eurjpc/zwaa141
- Headley, S., Germain, M., Wood, R., Joubert, J., Milch, C., Evans, E., et al. (2017). Blood pressure response to acute and chronic exercise in chronic kidney disease. *Nephrology* 22, 72–78. doi: 10.1111/nep.12730

- Higgins, J. P. T., Altman, D. G., Gøtzsche, P. C., Jüni, P., Moher, D., Oxman, A. D., et al. (2011). The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ* 343:d5928.
- Johnson, B. T., MacDonald, H. V., Bruneau, M. L. Jr., Goldsby, T. U., Brown, J. C., Huedo-Medina, T. B., et al. (2014). Methodological quality of meta-analyses on the blood pressure response to exercise: a review. J. Hypertens. 32, 706–723. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000000097
- Keese, F., Farinatti, P., Pescatello, L., and Monteiro, W. (2011). A comparison of the immediate effects of resistance, aerobic, and concurrent exercise on postexercise hypotension. J. Strength Condition. Res. 25, 1429–1436. doi: 10. 1519/JSC.0b013e3181d6d968
- Kenney, M. J., and Seals, D. R. (1993). Postexercise hypotension. Key features, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *Hypertension* 22, 653–664. doi: 10.1161/ 01.hyp.22.5.653
- MacDonald, J. R. (2002). Potential causes, mechanisms, and implications of post exercise hypotension. J. Hum. Hypertens. 16, 225–236. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh. 1001377
- Matzer, F., Nagele, E., Lerch, N., Vajda, C., and Fazekas, C. C. (2017). Combining walking and relaxation for stress reduction-A randomized cross-over trial in healthy adults. *Stress Health* 34:266. doi: 10.1002/smi.2781
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., and Prisma Group (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med.* 6:e1000097.
- Nelson, S., Whitsel, L., Khavjou, O., Phelps, D., and Leib, A. (2016). *Projections of Cardiovascular Disease Prevalence and Costs*. North Carolina: RTI International.
- Pescatello, L., Guidry, M., Blanchard, B., Kerr, A., Taylor, A., Johnson, A., et al. (2004). Exercise intensity alters postexercise hypotension. J. Hypertens. 22, 1881–1888. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200410000-00009
- Pescatello, L. S., Bairos, L., VanHeest, J. L., Maresh, C. M., Rodriguez, N. R., Moyna, N. M., et al. (2003). Postexercise hypotension differs between white and black women. *Am. Heart J.* 145, 364–370. doi: 10.1067/mhj.2003.107
- Pescatello, L. S., Blanchard, B. E., Tsongalis, G. J., Maresh, C. M., O'Connell, A., and Thompson, P. D. (2007). The alpha-adducin Gly460Trp polymorphism and the antihypertensive effects of exercise among men with high blood pressure. *Clin. Sci.* 113, 251–258. doi: 10.1042/CS20060345
- Pescatello, L. S., Buchner, D. M., Jakicic, J. M., Powell, K. E., Kraus, W. E., Bloodgood, B., et al. (2019). Physical activity to prevent and treat hypertension: a systematic review. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 1314–1323.
- Pescatello, L. S., Fargo, A. E., Leach, C. N., and Scherzer, H. H. (1991). Short-term effect of dynamic exercise on arterial blood pressure. *Circulation* 83, 1557–1561. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.83.5.1557
- Pescatello, L. S., MacDonald, H. V., Ash, G. I., Lamberti, L. M., Farquhar, W. B., Arena, R., et al. (2015a). Assessing the existing professional exercise recommendations for hypertension: a review and recommendations for future research priorities. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 90, 801–812. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015. 04.008
- Pescatello, L. S., MacDonald, H. V., Lamberti, L., and Johnson, B. T. (2015b). Exercise for hypertension: a prescription update integrating existing recommendations with emerging research. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 17, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s11906-015-0600-y
- Pescatello, L. S., Schifano, E. D., Ash, G. I., Panza, G. A., Corso, L. M. L., Chen, M., et al. (2017). Deep-targeted sequencing of endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene exons uncovers exercise intensity and ethnicity-dependent associations with post-exercise hypotension. *Physiol. Rep.* 5:e13510. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13510
- Pescatello, L. S., Schifano, E. D., Ash, G. I., Panza, G. A., Lamberti, L., Chen, M., et al. (2016). Deep-targeted exon sequencing reveals renal polymorphisms associate with postexercise hypotension among African Americans. *Physiol. Rep.* 4:e12992. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12992
- Thomas, G. P., Daichi, S., and Haas, D. (2006). Ambulatory blood-pressure monitoring. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 354, 2368–2374.
- US Department of Health and Human Services (2018). 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Virani, S. S., Alonso, A., Aparicio, H. J., Benjamin, E. J., Bittencourt, M. S., Callaway, C. W., et al. (2021). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2021 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 143:e254–e743. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000950

- Wegmann, M., Hecksteden, A., Poppendieck, W., Steffen, A., Kraushaar, J., Morsch, A., et al. (2018). Postexercise hypotension as a predictor for long-term training-induced blood pressure reduction: a large-scale randomized controlled trial. *Clin. J. Sport Med.* 28, 509–515. doi: 10.1097/JSM.000000000000475
- Whelton, P. K., Carey, R. M., Aronow, W. S., Casey, D. E., Collins, K. J., Dennison Himmelfarb, C., et al. (2018). 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: a report of the american college of cardiology/american heart association task force on clinical practice guidelines. *J. Am. College Cardiol.* 71, e127–e248.
- Wilder, J. (1965). Pitfalls in the methodology of the law of initial value. Am. J. Psychother. 19, 577–584. doi: 10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.1965.19.4.577
- Zaleski, A. L., Taylor, B. A., Park, C. L., Santos, L. P., Panza, G., Kramarz, M., et al. (2019). Using the immediate blood pressure benefits of exercise to improve exercise adherence among adults with hypertension: a randomized clinical trial. *J. Hypertens.* 37, 1877–1888. doi: 10.1097/HJH.000000000002115

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Day, Wu and Pescatello. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





**@** 

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

**Contact us:** frontiersin.org/about/contact

**Frontiers** 

**FOLLOW US** @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your